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Chairman’s Statement
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to present
the annual report of Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited (the
“"Company” or "Zhengye International”, together with its subsidiaries,
“our Group” or the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the
“Period” or the "Reporting Period”).

Business Review

In 2022, the world economy was affected by unexpected factors such as
repeated delays in the epidemic situation and escalation of geopolitical
conflicts, and the upward pressure on the economy gradually increased.
The Ukraine crisis caused the CPl of developed countries to continue to
rise sharply, financial market turmoil intensified, and energy prices such
as natural gas rose. The growth rate of the world economy has declined
significantly. However, facing the complex and severe domestic and foreign
situations, China’s economy has been moving forward under pressure. By
strengthening macro policy adjustments and implementing new combined
tax and fee support policies, it has overcome multiple impacts such as the
impact of the epidemic and made steady progress, showing an overall
increase in volume and strong development trend.

During the reporting period, affected by factors such as the COVID-19,
consumption was sluggish, and the market demand for packaging paper
declined. Due to the imbalance between supply and demand in the market,
the sales price of packaging paper dropped sharply. At the same time, due
to the impact of the Russia-Ukraine War, energy costs rose significantly.
The marginal efficiency of the paper manufacturing sector has dropped
significantly compared with previous years.

For the 12 months ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded
a total turnover of approximately RMB3,013,957,000, representing a
decrease of 15.29% year-on-year (12 months ended 31 December 2021:
RMB3,558,009,000). The Group's gross profit was RMB341,730,000
and gross profit margin was approximately 11.34%, representing a
decrease of 7.69 percentage points year-on-year. Profit and total
comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to RMB47,167,000, representing a significant decrease of 70.67% year-on-
year. Basic earnings per share was approximately RMB? cents. The Board
has recommended the payment of a final dividend of RMB1.42 cents per
share.

Prospects and Acknowledgement

In 2023, various short-term problems and long-term factors in the operation
of the world economy will still be intertwined and superimposed. While
short-term factors with uncertainties continue to emerge, some deep-
seated contradictions and structural problems are also increasingly
apparent, with more adverse effects on global economic growth and
greater pressure on the world economic recovery.
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Looking forward to 2023, although the world economy is still facing a
complex and volatile situation, China’s positive factors for stable growth
and stable prices have increased significantly. After the epidemic slows
down, it will usher in a "post-epidemic dividend period”. By intensifying
the regulation of macro policies, strengthening the coordination of various
policies, exploring the potential of people’s consumption, helping to
restore the consumption scene, and encouraging private investment, it will
gather to form a synergy to promote high-quality development, and the
China’s economy that is able to withstand the pressure will move steadily
forward.

The paper packaging industry is closely related to the national economy.
In 2023, China's infrastructure investment and manufacturing industry
will strongly support economic recovery under the guidance of policies.
Although overseas demand has weakened due to global turbulence,
the macro economy continues to recover, especially after a number of
stimulus and subsidy policies in the consumer sector, the prosperity of the
paper and packaging industry is expected to show an upward trend at the
bottom, a significant improvement over last year.

Zhengye International believes that crisis and opportunity coexist in the
“post-epidemic era”. We will face the current situation of weak industry
demand and prominent contradiction between supply and demand,
strive to improve our comprehensive strength, strengthen the digital and
intelligent transformation of enterprises, actively seek changes, take the
initiative to make breakthroughs, and strengthen papermaking research
and development of new products and new materials, improve the
technical content of products, and continue to deepen the integration of
papermaking and packaging upstream and downstream industry chains.
We believed that driven by the rapid development of express delivery,
3C, food and beverage and other packaging downstream industries, new
packaging formats can be discovered , improve professional packaging
service capabilities, and create greater benefits for shareholders in the
future!

Zhengye International will continue to work closely with our customers
and grow together in fulfilling our social responsibility for environmental
protection. | hereby express my sincere gratitude to the Company's
customers, suppliers, shareholders and entire staff for their continued
support.

Hu Zheng
Chairman

Hong Kong, China
31 March 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Business Review

For the year 2022 (refers to the twelve months ended 31 December 2022,
the same below), the Group’s principal business was the provision of
ancillary paper packaging products to domestic and foreign manufacturers
of household appliances, fast-moving consumer goods, electronic products
and cosmetics, and the provision of comprehensive services including
design, printing, logistics and other customer services to provide customers
with integrated packaging solutions. In addition, in order to enhance the
competitiveness of the Group's paper packaging products, the Group
has also extended its operations to the back-end of the industrial chain
by utilising recycled waste paper as raw materials for the production of
corrugated paper, liner paper and other paper products, which are used as
materials for the Group’s paper packaging products and for external sales
of products.

We are committed to becoming one of the world’s leading eco-friendly
packaging enterprises.

Our products mainly include craft cartons, color printing cartons,
honeycomb paper-based products, color box packaging, corrugated paper
and liner paper.

Consisting currently of 10 wholly-owned subsidiaries and 2 non-wholly-
owned subsidiaries in different regions of China, our Group provides
services with high quality to customers.

The Group's paper packaging products have been established for
many years in a number of segmented market such as home appliance
packaging, fast-moving consumer goods packaging and electronic
products packaging, and have gained the trust of various renowned
brands both on the domestic and overseas and have established a stable
relationship with a group of customers for over a decade. The Group has
expanded its operations to the production and sale of color box packaging
products and has gradually expanded its packaging products into the
markets of cosmetics, household products, food and pharmaceuticals.

Our corrugated medium paper and containerboard products have won the
recognition of customers for their consistent quality and innovative design
in the segmented market. The Group actively researches and develops low-
weight and high-strength corrugated paper to meet customer needs with
more cost-effective products.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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In 2022, the COVID-19 pandemic continued to disrupt the recovery of the
global economy. The ongoing tension in geopolitics, as well as inflationary
pressures, resulted in a slowdown in the year-on-year growth rate of
domestic exports, consumption, investment and other demands, and a
sharp drop in orders, delivering a bigger blow to the packaging industry.

During the Year, the new production facility for exquisite color box
packaging in our factory in Zhongshan officially started trial production
in July 2022. The packaging business of the Group will further expand
into the exquisite color box packaging business. With the addition of
the exquisite color box packaging business, products variety has been
enriched. Product development has been oriented towards mid-to-high
end in order to further realize the profit growth of the Group. Meanwhile,
during the Year, the Group also completed the acquisition of all property
assets of Zheng Ye Leasing at a consideration of RMB186 million. The
acquisition will enhance the packaging business’ asset portfolio by properly
allocating available resources to improve profitability and enhance long-
term potential for capital appreciation.

In 2022, under the double influence of recurrent domestic pandemic
and shrinking orders from downstream customers, our packaging sector
achieved a total operating revenue of RMB732,708,000 during the period,
representing a decrease of 20.75% as compared to RMB924,606,000 in
the corresponding period last year, and a decrease of 24.72% in profit as
compared to last year.

Regarding our paper production segment, affected by the Russo-Ukrainian
war, upstream energy prices rose significantly. In addition, the consumer
end was affected by the pandemic which led to sluggish consumption.
As a result of the imbalance between supply and demand, paper prices
decreased, resulting in a year-on-year decrease in the production and
sales of products in the paper production segment of 8.48%. Meanwhile,
product prices also decreased by 5.35% year-on-year. In 2022, the
operating revenue of our paper production segment for the period was
RMB2,281,249,000, representing a significant decrease of 13.37% as
compared to the corresponding period last year.

Products Review

Our paper-based packaging products are mainly made of liner paper
and corrugated paper and include craft cartons, color printing cartons,
honeycomb paper-based products and color box packaging products. The
sales revenue of our paper-based packaging products was RMB732,708,000
in 2022, decreasing by 20.75% as compared with RMB924,606,000 in 2021
and accounting for approximately 24.31% of the Group's sales. The gross
margin of paper-based packaging products in 2022 was approximately
21.50%.
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Craft cartons

Our craft cartons are mostly used in the packaging of home appliances,
fast-moving consumer goods, electronic products. The Group continues to
ensure high-quality product supply and after-sales service to gain the trust
of our clients, who remained supportive of our services and maintained a
long-term and stable cooperative relationship with us.

Color printing cartons

The Group also provides quality color printing cartons for the packaging
of home appliances, fast-moving consumer goods, electronic products
and other products in order to meet clients’ requirements for packaging
different products. During the Year, the Group added new color printing
machinery for the active and continuous expansion of its color printing
carton business in the future. In 2022, the revenue for color printing cartons
was RMB91,559,000.

Honeycomb paper-based products

Honeycomb paper-based products produced by the Group mainly serve
as a replacement for plastic cushioning materials and foam cushioning
products used for protecting the original various types of cardboard boxes.
They are lightweight, smooth-surfaced, non-deformable, environmentally-
friendly and energy-saving materials with outstanding cushioning
performance and are widely used in various industries for cushioning.
Honeycomb paper-based products currently produced by the Group are
primarily used along with our craft cartons and color printing cartons.

Color box packaging

The color box packaging products produced by the Group use paper as the
main raw material. After printing, surface treatment, die-cutting, bonding,
molding and assembly, they are made into packaging for containing,
protecting, explaining and promoting products. Such products are mainly
used in cosmetics, daily chemical products, food, pharmaceuticals, etc.
The Group provides integrated color box packaging solutions based on
customer needs and product features.

Packaging paper

The Group produces 47G-140G high-strength corrugated paper and
liner paper products. While some of these are used as raw materials for
our paper-based packaging products, they are mostly sold to cardboard
manufacturers and carton packaging manufacturers in the Pearl River
Delta region of Guangdong. Customers of the Group's paper-making
business segment spread across Guangdong, Jiangxi, Fujian, Chaoshan,
and other regions; the total number of which is currently over 389. Our
47 g corrugated paper products launched this year swiftly entered the
market, increasing the variety of our paper products and establishing
a solid foundation for business expansion. The sales revenue of paper
products during the period was RMB2,281,249,000. Due to falling selling
prices and rising costs of raw and auxiliary materials, energy and so on, the
profit margin is sharply reduced, and the gross margin dropping to 8.08%.
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2022 2021
—E-CF T —F
Percentage Gross Percentage Gross
of total profit of total profit
Turnover revenue margin Turnover revenue margin
1R 1HHER
EEE Bk ERE EEH B EME
RMB’000 % % RMB’000 % %
AR¥TF T % % ARBTT % %
Packaging paper (2E 3
AA grade AAZR 1,787,161 59.30 2,455,576 69.02
C grade C# 126 0.00 1,013 0.03
Craft paper R 493,962 16.39 176,814 4.97
Subtotal N 2,281,249 75.69 8.08 2,633,403 74.02 19.10
Paper-based packaging HEBEER
products
Craft cartons HRENARAE 572,383 18.99 629,385 17.69
Honeycomb paper-based BEAH D
products 66,257 2.20 149,526 4.20
Color printing box F VARG 91,559 3.04 145,695 4.09
Color box packaging TEAK 2,509 0.08 - -
Subtotal N 732,708 24.31 21.50 924,606 25.98 18.82
TOTAL et 3,013,957 100.00 11.34 3,558,009 100.00 19.03
Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited 10 Annual Report 2022
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Turnover by customer for paper-based packaging products BHREEREEREFOM

2022 2021
—E-CF T

Percentage Percentage

of total of total

Turnover revenue Turnover revenue

{4 IR

£ 32 AZL = ] EkiN:d

RMB’000 % RMB’000 %

AR®T % ARETT %

Home appliance packaging REBE 537,242 73.32 650,435 70.35

FMCG Packaging REmBE 131,273 17.92 202,599 21.91

Other Al 64,193 8.76 71,572 7.74

TOTAL E 732,708 100.0 924,606 100.00
Capacity and Capacity Utilisation Rate ErRREREAR

The Group provides one-stop service solution to its customers covering %.7%@}5}%{ —Uh R ARIE F R B EEA DY - BRAE

from recycling of waste paper, manufacturing of packaging paper, CRBERESNEE WERE —BLIRG - o

production of paper-based packaging products to packaging services, T@%.iﬁg/\ﬁﬁﬁmﬂ“ °
making full use of our vertically integrated industrial chain.

Annual Report 2022 1 Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
—EC_FFR EXERBFEEARAT



Management Discussion and Analysis

A A BT

The main production base of packaging paper is located in Zhongshan city
and Jiangxi province. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
had 8 packaging paper production lines with a total designed annual
capacity of 900,000 tons, making the Group one of the leading packaging
paper producers in Guangdong region. The Group always attached
emphasis on improvement of production efficiency and optimization of
plant management. During the Year, the Group adopted the performance
indicator approach to manage the corrugated medium paper production
lines, continuously improving production volume and capacity utilisation
rate.

BEANIZEEEMUNTILUTRIAE  BE_Z

TCFETZA=ZTRLEFE  AEERREE\GREEAL
FEAR - MERRETFAERLIEI00,0001 - BERMEELNE
RELERZ— - EE-BERRALERXLBLHBE

EBNTIE  WER - SEEBRR TRERUERERER
BEAEER RS TEEBUANERERXE -

2022 2021
B8 —E-—F
Planned Actual Effective Planned Actual Effective
operation  operation rate  operation  operation rate
FFEIEST  BRET BRE  FHEETT BEREDS BRx
(hours) (hours) (%) (hours) (hours) (%)
(/NBF) (/NBF) (%) (/B (/1NEF) (%)
Zhongshan Yong Fa AL ok EE
No. 1 paper machine 1 SRS AR 8,760 7,978 91.07 8,760 7,971 90.99
No. 2 paper machine 2 SRS 8,760 7,718 88.11 8,760 6,444 73.56
No. 3 paper machine 3 SRS 8,760 7,677 87.64 8,760 8,011 91.45
No. 5 paper machine 5 SR iE AR 8,760 7,454 85.09 8,760 7,915 90.35
Hung Hing & B
No. 1 paper machine 1 SRS AR 8,081 7,687 95.12 8,521 8,117 95.26
No. 2 paper machine 2 SRS AR 8,430 7,838 92.98 8,357 7,779 93.08
No. 3 paper machine 3 SR AR 7,840 7,407 94.48 8,511 8,068 94.79
Zhengyi IFE
No. 1 paper machine 1 SRIEARHEL 8,565 7,557 88.23 8,760 6,993 79.83

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 5
production lines (including 3 corrugated cartons production lines
and 2 honeycomb paper-based products production lines) which are
mainly located in three cities including Zhongshan, Zhuhai and Wuhan.
The Group's planned annual capacity for corrugated cartons reached
191,617,000 square meters; whereas that yearly planned capacity for
honeycomb paper-based products was 11,008,000 square meters. The
Group's comprehensive production deployment enables it to generate
synergies in terms of production costs, industrial chain integration, and
customer service, which in turn enhanced the overall operational efficiency.

BE-_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILLFE  AEEHXHES
BREER(BEMGEFMAEEERR2EEEREME
ER) FEENTIEHHRFAIL  RERKEL=E
W o NEEFIS BB T EIERLIE 191,617,000 75
K EERERFETEIERE1,008,000F 5K o EEE
EMEEMR  FEETELEERE  EXHES  UEE
FIRF L& e AEE W RIBUE - ERIEEIE NS L RIBE
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2022 202
—§-C “E--F
Yearly Capacity Yearly Capacity
Numbers of Design Planned Actual  utilization Design Planned Actual utlization
equipment Capacity Capacity Capacity rate Capacity Capacity Capacity rate
B RitEE  FHEE  BBER ERGREZ RitER  FEEEE ERER  EakRE
'000sqm.  '000sqm. ‘000 sq.m. (%) 000 sg.m. 000 sq.m. 000 sg.m. (%)
TRk SRV SRV (%) FEAx ERWV FEhx (%)
1. Paper plate process - BRIF
Zhongshan il
No. 1 cormugated cartons production e 15 EHAEES 1 38,880 14,601 197 54.63 38,880 14,601 1254 878
New No. 2 corrugated cartons production H2 R AL ER
line 1 184,140 78,174 61,353 78.48 184,140 78,174 71,235 91.12
No. 9 cormugated cartons productionling* 95 FLI AR EELR 1 NATER  NATER  NATER  NATER 90,39% 8,190 6,004 733
Zhuhai g
No. 11 corrugated cartons production ine 115 B £ 1 150,660 98,842 80,899 81.85 150,660 98,842 93293 94.39
2. Printing process = ORIR
Watermark printers TKENEDIHE
Zhongshan il 11 NATER 60,878 49,829 8185 NATER 60878 54,487 895
Zhuhi i 0 NATER 101,964 71,539 046 NATER 101,964 82,283 80.70
Colormark printers FEDERI
Zhongshan il 4 N/ATER 29,723 14,053 428 NATER 16,858 15,037 89.20
Color box printers el
Zhongshan il 2 NATER 32,091 672 209 NIAMER O NANER NAMER NIARER
3. Production of honeycomb packaging = - 4 EREELER
products
Zhongshan all]
No. 7 honeycomb paper-based product  7HEBEARELER
production line 1 4312 4,312 1,730 40.12 4312 4312 1,91 3226
No. 8 honeycomb paper-based product ~ BREBEAREER
production line 1 NARER  NATER  NATER  NATER 355 3525 2549 R
No. 10 honeycomb paper-based product 108 B EA R R E RS
production lingt 1 NATER  NATER  NATER  NATER 6,6% 1116 405 %29
Wuhan RE
No. 14 honeycomb paper-based product 145 EREGEER
production line 1 6,696 6,696 3,396 50.72 6,6% 6,6% 4817 793
TOTAL cartons packaging products ~ 3f  AFEEER
corrugated cartons production NRSREER
lines 3 373,680 191,617 150,229 78.40 50295 11132 189,373 89.69
water mark printers TKENENRIB A NATER 162,842 121,368 7453 NIARER 168,666 142,466 8447
color mark printers HENEDRI 4 NATER 29,723 14,053 4.8 NATER 16,858 15,037 892
color box printers YRl 2 N/ARER 32,09 672 2.09 N/ANER N/ANER N/ANEFR N/AER
honeycomb paper-based product EEHET
honeycomb paper-based product BESED
production lines EES 2 11,008 11,008 5,126 46,57 2129 15,649 9162 58.55
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No. 5 production line merged with No. 11 production line after optimization.

>

No. 9 production lines merged with No. 1 production line after optimization.
& No. 8 honeycomb paper product production line and No. 10 honeycomb paper
product production line were optimized and merged into No. 7 honeycomb paper

product production line.

Prospects

In 2023, the influence of geopolitics will continue, and global inflation
will remain high. However, with the relaxation of pandemic prevention
and control in China, the scientific optimization of pandemic prevention
measures, and the full liberalization of economic activities, China will
prioritize the recovery and expansion of consumption to boost the
confidence in economic growth. After the pandemic, China’s economy is
expected to return to the medium-to-long-term growth path and develop
in the direction of high value-added and high-quality. The Shenzhen-Hong
Kong port will resume normal personnel exchanges between the mainland
and Hong Kong in a phased and orderly manner, which will further
promote the economic recovery of the Greater Bay Area. At the same time,
the consumer goods market will be extensively upgraded. The mid-to-
high-end service consumer goods market will bring new opportunities and
development to the Group's business.

In 2023, the Group will continue to strengthen the upstream and
downstream integration of the packaging and paper production industry
chain and create core competitive products that can continue to create
value for our customers.

With the gradual deepening of the layout of new products and new
businesses in exquisite color box packaging, the market share of color box
packaging will be further expanded, and the profit margin of our packaging
business will be increased at the same time. The traditional packaging
business will gradually recover with a steady rate. We will vigorously
promote the automated production system, comprehensively upgrade the
smart factory, comprehensively improve production efficiency, optimize
the process, and reduce enterprise management costs in order to maintain
profitability for the Group. In addition, the implementation of the “Plastic
Restriction Order” in Mainland China and the increase in alternative
demand caused by the plastic ban order have been a favorable news for
the paper packaging industry.

Regarding our paper production business, in 2023, with the government'’s
further emphasis on “steady growth”, the demand from consumer end
is expected to improve, but the introduction of new policies that reduce
tariffs on certain finished papers and pulp to zero have led to reduced price
of paper products and intensification of market competition. In response to
this market change, the Group will continue to strengthen the optimization
of internal business structure, continue to implement energy-saving
and consumption-reducing measures, continue to explore new product
development and innovation, actively respond, actively deploy upstream,
improve its own strength while achieving corporate sustainability.

# ISSRAEERDBIEHAVIREELR -

B RAEERDBICHATREELR -

& SRBHAMREER  0RBBEARREERDELHATR
BB ER -

Jﬁ%

—TE=F EBURRERE  2IREBRESTT - B
BEEREMAIIEEE - PIEREERE2EL  ©BEE2
ERF - PEERENMBESBRBEREUE - K
BOE—FIRIE - ZIGRE - PRILES EREIHAKE
BRZE MaSENsRERRER - ARBOFRSER
BFIEAMBEEEABERTIR  #E—TRENERL
/H?gi EREEmMIZERAR  FemiRkiEEEnm

Hia R B E RSB MR -

—ECCF EENEEENR R MEREEE TN
MES ITEFEREASFAEBENZLREENE

o
oA °

BEEBIH  BEREVRIEENEM - MEBHIEM
RRBELZRA - XEEENMSNERE—FEX - R
EMBEEBHFEEX - @GR REBBELRER
B WANHTEMCEERS  2ZEARESMIR
EHIRSEENE  BRE  BECEEERA - IR
FEERTN - 5 PEAMERIRES I RELESSIH
MERBIER  SHERBETERNIEHEE

i%%ﬁﬁﬁ —E - CHFREERRYHRER E A
OHBRBRBRNE - ARAH - RAR - REER
ﬁ%$%5PE§qDB%¥iWT&% CMEMKABMEER - BFNLE

B R B EE ) A AR AR AR AV B S T PR E T ROFTECR -
XEGREMERTIT > MHHFME - RELUTISE
1t SEGEEMRANMEBERNE(L - FHEHETERE
RFEEIE  EMEMMERAF T EAERR - BEE
B ERBESEINRE  BROXNAFEER -
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The Group also pays close attention to investment projects with notable
prospects. The Group will achieve a steady development on the basis
of maintaining a reasonable capital structure and strive to create higher
returns for shareholders.

Financial Review

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the revenue of the Group was
approximately RMB3,013,957,000 (2021: RMB3,558,009,000), representing
a decrease of approximately RMB544,052,000 or 15.29% as compared
with the same period of last year. The sales volume in the paper-making
sector decreased by approximately 8.48% compared with last year, and the
sales unit price decreased by approximately 5.35%, while the sales volume
and sales unit price of the packaging sector decreased by approximately
19.81% and 1.18% respectively. The Group's gross profit margin in 2022
was 11.34% (2021: approximately 19.03%), a decrease of 7.69 percentage
points as compared with the same period of last year.

The Group's cost of sales decreased from RMB2,881,037,000 in 2021 to
RMB2,672,227,000 in 2022, representing a decrease of 7.25%.

Packaging paper
The cost of sales of packaging paper were RMB2,097,018,000 in 2022 (2021:
RMB2,130,398,000), representing a decrease of 1.57%.

Paper-based packaging products
The cost of sales of paper-based packaging products were RMB575,209,000
in 2022 (2021: RMB750,639,000), representing a decrease of 23.37%.

For the Year, the gross profit recorded RMB341,730,000, representing
a decrease of 49.52% as compared with RMB676,972,000 in Year 2021.
The average gross profit margin decreased from 19.03% in Year 2021
to 11.34% for the Year, primarily due to the decreased market demand
for paper-based packaging product as a result of sluggish consumption
under the influence of the COVID-19 pandemic and other factors, leading
to the decrease in sales price of packaging paper under the imbalance
between supply and demand. Meanwhile, affected by the Russo-Ukrainian
war, energy costs rose significantly. The marginal efficiency of the paper
manufacturing sector of the Group dropped significantly compared with
previous years.

Packaging paper

For the Year, the gross profit from packaging paper was RMB184,231,000
in 2022 (2021: RMB503,005,000), representing a decrease of 63.37%. The
overall gross profit margin for 2022 was 8.08% (2021: 19.10%), decreased by
11.02 percentage points.

R - EETEE LA RENR S REATE - ERE
ABERBHOER LBSYRE - BHAREAREED
% -

B 75 B

HE-_ZT -+ -_A=+—BItEE  KEBEH
WA ANRBE3013,957,000c( —E-—F : AR
3,558,009,0007T) & X F R 4 A R# 544,052,000
JLE15.29% « HPEMARMERHEREREF THRLY
8.48% - HHEEB T E45.35% @ MBERRHNBEEHS
NS EE BRI TEL19.81%R%1.18% - —E-—FE4&
EEFEN3MB(ZT_—F 1 £919.03%) * REFFH
TBE7.6ME T 2 -

AEBNEEXNABR T - —FE AR2,881,037,000
T TNBRE_Z - —FF ANR#2672,227,0007C * ik 1&
7.25% o

BEEK

BEM-_T - _FEHEKET B ARE2097,018,0007T
(ZZE——%F : AR¥2,130,398,0007T) * J>1.57% o
EROEER
MEPEREER_T__FEHERLABARE
575,209,000t (= =—4F : AR¥750,639,0007T) © T
F%23.37% °

NEE 2 EFAAREE341,730,0007T » B-TE-—FF
B B A R #5676,972,00070 8 249.52% » FHEFIE
ZEZ—FEMI19.03% N E §$¢F§*9’911 34% FER

ARXFEREERRZE  HERY  BERATSHEX
ETkR Emiﬁf\m%@IZT“ ﬂi&i%f’ﬁ%TM' B

B ARNBRENSREEBSEEE  fERRAKE LR - &
SEBERIRIBER B R REF AR T -

’@éé‘ﬂi

— - —

—_=

f—i : /\Eﬁﬁsoaoos,oooﬁ) » TPE63.37% ©
EEBEENKA08%(ZFE=——4 :19.10%) ' FHL
1M1.02B D8 -
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Paper-based packaging products

For the Year, the gross profit from paper-based packaging products was
RMB157,499,000 (2021: RMB173,967,000), representing a decrease of
9.47%. The overall gross profit margin for 2022 was 21.50% (2021: 18.82%),
increased by 2.68 percentage points.

Other income, other gains and losses mainly included income from
interest of RMB3,731,000 (2021: RMB4,573,000), government subsidies of
RMB125,881,000 (2021: RMB41,603,000) and net amount of exchange losses
of RMB3,526,000 (2021: net amount of exchange loss RMB2,670,000).

The distribution and selling expenses of the Group decreased by
approximately 6.56% from RMB98,569,000 for the Year 2021 to
RMB92,103,000 for the Year. During the Year, the distribution and selling
expenses mainly included salaries of salesmen, transportation costs and
business promotion expenses. The decrease in distribution and selling
expenses was attributable to the substantial decrease in the Group's sales
during the year.

Administrative expenses of the Group decreased by approximately
22.48% from RMB169,821,000 for the Year 2021 to RMB131,637,000 for the
Year. The administrative and other expenses mainly included salaries of
management, staff welfare, rent and depreciation.

Finance costs of the Group decreased by approximately 5.14% from
RMB62,831,000 for the Year 2021 to RMB59,600,000 for the Year. It was
mainly due to the decrease in the Group's bank loan amount and the
decrease in the Group's interest rate on bank loans during the year.

Research and development expenses of the Group decreased from
RMB131,116,000 (about 3.69% of sales revenue) in the Year 2021 to
RMB116,388,000 (about 3.86% of sales revenue) for the Year.

During the Year, the Group's profit and total comprehensive income was
RMB68,604,000. The profit and total comprehensive income for the year
attributable to owners of the Company was RMB47,167,000, representing a
decrease of 70.67% as compared with RMB160,841,000 in 2021.

HABEER
MEPEEM_T - ﬁ%%IJJ%AEMwMWOOOE
(ZF=— ¢ ARB173,967,0000T) * B9.47% o —F
T OEEEREBENERAE2150%( - F - —1F 1 18.82%)
HhN2.68H \Eﬁ

HMWRA - EREREETEREMNERAARE
3,731,0007c( =& =—4F : AR¥4,573,0007T) * BUT#
8h A R#125,881,000t (= = —4F : AR#41,603,000

T0) R IE WS EFEE AR 3,526,000 (— S ——F : [E
HE51EF 58 A R#E2,670,0007T) ©

ARBEDHEERHEERAB T —FEMNARE
985690007{:T|3%§f$ff¢ﬁm}\ﬁ%92103000
C FRIBHIR6.56% - RAFENAN » DiHRHEERER
E}\;Ié EHRARKGHERSER - DHNHER
ATRREZARASEFAHEAE NEME -

AREETHRALH-T - —FEMNARE169,821,0007T
TREZZEZ_FEMARE131,637,0007T ' FIELA
2248%  (THAXTEREEAEIS ®wANER A
S RITEESER -

AEERMEKAB T —FEHNARY62,831,0007T
THREZZZFEHNARM59,600,0007T * FFiE4L
5.14% ' EXEZRAEBEFTANRITEESERIFITERTF
B EHFHTRE -

AEENMESITHR-_T-—FEMNARE131,116,000
TTUEHEEWMALZ6I%) TREZZEZZFEMNARE
116,388,0007T (14 S5 U A 4I3.86%) °

REA - AEERM R EEKEETEHAR68,604,000
T ATEBABREFEENRE2ERESARE
47,167,0007T * M-ZE = —FE AR¥160,841,0007T * T
F£70.67% °
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Dividend Policy

The declaration, form, frequency and amount of any dividend payout of the
Company must be in accordance with relevant laws, rules and regulations
and subject to the Bye-laws of the Company. Subject to compliance with
applicable laws, rules, regulations and the Bye-laws, in deciding whether
to propose any dividend payout, the Board will take into account, among
other things, the financial results, the earnings and distributable reserves,
the operations and liquidity requirements, the debt ratio and possible
impact of credit facilities, and the current and future development plans of
the Company.

Dividends

The Board has recommended, subject to the approval of the Shareholders
at the Annual General Meeting (the "AGM"), the payment of a final
dividend of RMB1.42 cents (equivalent to HKD1.6 cents) per Share for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: a final dividend of RMB9.00
cents per Share) to those Shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Wednesday, 28 June 2023.
The recommended final dividend, if approved at the AGM on Friday, 23
June 2023, will be paid in Hong Kong dollars. The RMB to Hong Kong
dollar exchange rate for the final dividend calculated using the opening
indicative counter buying telegraphic transfer rate for off-shore RMB of The
Hong Kong Association of Banks announced on 31 March 2023. The final
dividend is expected to be paid on or around Wednesday, 12 July 2023.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure
In 2022, the Group's main sources of funding were cash generated from
operating activities and bank loans.

IR S BUR

RABMERIBREER - BRI EZRRZRRAR R

AIFIEERRSIRNNEIR - PR - AR R EH - RIFE

AR - RA - OERRARAR - OREREBIRBIKAR

B E2elEE(ETER) AARNMBES - Wa
ADRFE  CERRBESTFFR  BELEREER

[ERIBEEE MR B TR MR R ERATE) o

8=\
é%A BAR T =F AT NB(ZH=)EIIR
Tﬂxﬁ%ﬂﬁtﬁﬁﬂxﬁx)ﬁﬁai_; ToFt A=t

HIEFERRBRBFIRARE1429 @ BEREREE
16 ZF=—%F : REWEBRARKED)  EARK
RN ZZE-=FR A +=H(EPRR) BT EERRE

FRE(RRBERE]) LHUE - FAMEE - ERRE
FRE LEIE BRI ARPREBIAEE AT - REIPK
BHARK BEEBREREBRTAGN T _=F=

A=1+—BamzAm2ERENEFARKEEBAE
FE - REBRERR —ZE_=Ft A+ - R(EH=)A
RIARRIKE

/]lb@]ﬁ% jE&ﬁ/ﬁ&ﬁzgmﬂ
RIE__FEAKENESRRFBER/QEREAESE
WIRE RBITER

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T AREET T

Net assets BEFHE 1,402,556 1,381,952
Bank balances and cash IRITEBR IR S 279,840 229,581
Total borrowings ER Lt 1,054,185 1,191,454
Equity attributable to the owners of the Company KA EEE AELER 1,113,689 1,111,522
Current ratios mEh LR 1.08 1.19
Net gearing ratio* FEEAMLE 63.78% 78.23%

* The net gearing ratio is calculated as net borrowings divided by equity attributable

to the owners of the Company, in which the net borrowings are calculated as total

bank and other borrowings less pledge deposits and bank balances and cash.

* FEERBIERTRETRERARRBEE AR EER
F o APEFUFEIRRTT REME AR AT EIRRTER
NARTTHEBEIREE -
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a net cash inflow of RMB50,259,000.

The IFRS Interpretation Committee (IFRIC) meeting in December 2020
has made an agenda decision on the impact of the application of financial
reporting standard in cash flows. It clarified how to present the liabilities
for the payment of goods or services received and the settlement-related
cash flow generated by the financing arrangement of the supplier under
the consolidated statement of financial position and the consolidated
statement of cash flows. The direct settlement of trade-related payables
by the relevant financier constitutes a non-cash transaction. Subsequent
settlement between the entity and the financier shall be regarded as
repayment of borrowings and reported under the financing activities item
in the consolidated statement of cash flows. The agenda decision also
includes content that in the context of supplier financing arrangements,
the accounting policies related to the presentation of the consolidated
statement of cash flows have been reassessed. When the bills discount
arrangement does not meet the conditions for de-recognition of
receivables, it will be presented in cash inflow from financing activities in
the consolidated statement of cash flows.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the net cash from operating
activities would have been increased by approximately RMB324,627,000
(2021: RMB376,286,000) and the net cash from financing activities would
have been decreased by RMB324,627,000 (2021: RMB376,286,000), if the
Group has not applied the accounting policies.

RIEBEZ_F+-A=+—H  ANEFBELEF
#50,259,0007T °

ERAAR

B EREEAREZEERN S _TF T _ANESR
HENRSREBMBREENRAOFEELRIDRE -
EREB T MAESHFHBERRRMNE HRERERTT
B MREBINEDIREN B EARHEERELHES
MEERRRSRE - HHERE T EREEREZARN
ENFIRBAER SRS - BREBRERENNEERE
REERBF  AEAHRERERNBETHATIIR -
ZHERENMEAD - HEFRERHNESRT - &
FHE T EAHRSRERIIMAMNSHECK - EREM
BEZHFITE R ERERUGRH G - ERSREBRE
BREEHRERAIR

WAEEWEEAZESTER Bz T-_—F+=
A=+ HLEENEEEEMERSGEMHARE
324,627,000 (= ZE=—%F : AR#¥376,286,0007T) ' &
BEEBHMERSFHDMD AREE324,627,0007T( ==
——% : AR#376,286,0007T) °
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The following table is prepared by the Management showing what the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2022
and 2021 would have been if the Group has not applied the accounting

MIEE%%%%T% BTN AEETRERZESHK
ﬁi—f__gﬁ—7— FT_A=+—HILHFE
ﬁ:\ i/uu%?ﬁmlﬁ/ﬂ

policies.

2022 2021
—E-F T4
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES R E S
Profit before tax R B A& A 76,867 237,316
Adjustments for: BA T SIBIEH AR
Finance costs LA AR 59,600 62,831
Interest income FEUTA (3,731) (4,573)
Impairment losses (reversed) recognised on trade BrER(8E0)E 5 M E A UG IE
and other receivables SREE 18 (2,146) 1,288
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M - BERREBINE 109,278 96,105
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 15,370 20,331
Amortisation of intangible assets ERE R 2,313 602
Impairment loss recognised on property, plantand ~ EWER¥E - WE K& ERERIE
equipment - 22,229
Net loss on disposals of property, plant and HEME - WERREEEBFE
equipment 817 1,377
Exchange gain on borrowings fﬁ R A IE B e (1,928) (930)
Government grants amortised from SABRFE A B8 85 ) IS 60 B
deferred income (12,110) (4,488)
Operating cash flows before movements in working & EEAREBFIL LR SRE
capital 244,330 432,088
Increase in inventories FEEM (12,441) (54,869)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 & E A R UL ER IR N (55,772) (371,482)
Increase in borrowings relating to discounted bills ~ BEIE B IR FEUEIR 2 (535 N
receivables 291,020 92,585
Decrease in contract assets BHEERD 6,173 3,078
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 R E AR RRIE G AN 18,808 101,833
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities BHEECHRD)EMN (867) 4,442
Decrease in amounts due to directors FERESRIER D (197) (64)
Cash generated from operations IREHIETSIR S 491,054 207,611
Income tax paid EATPTIEH (17,665) (26,309)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEKMBESTFE 473,389 181,302
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2022 2021
—EC-CHF T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBT T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXEHK
Interest received BUFE 3,731 5,556
Proceeds on disposals of property, plant and HEWE - RFE REESHIE
equipment 18,758 26,289
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEME - BFE R&E (152,328) (206,22¢6)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and  BEE¥E% « BEREE S
equipment (31,037) (29,499)
Purchases of intangible assets HBEELEE (1,604) (562)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of a subsidiary B ARIR &L 558 (94,448) -
Consideration paid for acquisition of a subsidiary U EEP B A BRI (E (5,940) (12,130)
Placement of pledged bank deposits FABEIBRITER (149,609) (200,339)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits B BRI TR 177,961 214,372
Receipt of government grant relating to non-current  UREUE BA3E 7 B) & B 2 B i AL
assets 794 5,105
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXBFAREER (233,722) (197,434)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES LSS
Interest paid B (59,350) (62,033)
Dividend paid ERE (45,000) (15,000)
Dividend paid to a non-controlling interest EAT IR R AR R AR 2 (3,000) (900)
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BBIRIT R EAMER (813,018) (852,547)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEEEaE (10,543) (15,391)
New bank and other borrowings raised FEIRTT R EABIE K 741,503 1,006,217
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING RMEXE (TR MEREEHE
ACTIVITIES (189,408) 60,346
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRRESEYEGMNFHE
EQUIVALENTS 50,259 44,214
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R—B—HNWRERRASEZEY
AT 1 JANUARY 229,581 185,367
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RT-ZA=+—HWRERRE
AT 31 DECEMBER ZEY 279,840 229,581
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As at 31 December 2022, the inventories of the Group increased by
2.27% to RMB228,353,000 as compared to the inventories balance of
RMB223,283,000 as at 31 December 2021. During the Year, the inventory
turnover day was approximately 30 days (2021: 25 days), remaining at a
normal level.

As at 31 December 2022, the trade receivables not backed by bills
amounted to RMB423,150,000 (as at 31 December 2021: RMB585,425,000).
The Group generally granted credit period of 30 to 120 days to our paper-
based packaging products customers and credit period of 30 to 75 days to
our wrapping paper customers. The trade receivables turnover days was
approximately 61 days (2021: 56 days).

As at 31 December 2022, the trade receivables backed by bills receivables
amounted to RMB324,100,000 (31 December 2021: RMB465,399,000).

As at 31 December 2022, the trade payables amounted to RMB173,872,000
(as at 31 December 2021: RMB114,341,000). The Group managed to obtain
a credit period of 30 to 120 days from the majority of its suppliers. The
trade payables turnover days was extended to 19 days (2021: 16 days).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's bank and other borrowings
balance amounted to RMB1,054,185,000 (as at 31 December 2021:
RMB1,191,454,000).

As at 31 December 2022, the gross gearing ratio was approximately 35.33%
(as at 31 December 2021: 39.27%), which was calculated on the basis of the
total amount of bank and other borrowings as a percentage of the total
assets. The net gearing ratio was 63.78%, which was calculated on the basis
of the amount of bank and other borrowings less pledged bank deposits
and cash and bank balances as a percentage of the shareholders’ equity (as
at 31 December 2021: 78.23%).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group pledged certain assets with carrying
value of RMB1,155,148,000 as collateral for the Group's borrowings (as at
31 December 2021: RMB940,077,000).

RZZBEZZF+-A=+—H AEENTFELFA227%
= AR¥228,353,0007T * Ik — T —F+=—A=+—
BEE&5EEA ARE223,283,0007T - RAEE » 78
[AEREAIB0KR(ZFTZ—F : 25K)  BIERKE -

ﬁ T _F+_A=+—8 BEZEARENESER
SRIEAARYE423,150,000(R=_E=—F+=-_A=1+—
E-Aﬁﬁwauammw AEBRBEREMEFPE
%ﬂ?wiiu@ﬁﬁﬁ%% Iﬁ@%%%ﬁ&%wi
ZE75RNEAY - ESREGBENAEXHEN6IR(Z
Z—%F 1 56K) e

RZBEZ—_F+_A=+—8 UEBALENESE
U kI8 A AR #324,100,000 (- —F+-A=+—
B : AR#465,399,0007T) °

RZBE-_—F+-_A=+—H0 ZEHRNZELBAR
Mmemmﬂ_**—¢+ H +—8: AR
114,341,0007¢ ) ° K SHEBRAEEE TN TF3I0K
Z120RNEAE - EHEMNFENAERXBELERZ19K
(:%:—E:%i)

R-ZBE-_—_F+_A=+—8 AEBRITERLREAM
e AR B1,054,18500 T (R E - —%F+— A
=+—H : ARM1,191,454,0007T) °

R-ZTE-_—_F+-A=+—8 REEEBEBHLEHA
B.3BR(MR=ZF=Z—F+=A= + E 39.27%) + W TH
RIRTERREMERSEOBREEATOLLTE - 34
EARLERERE6ISH(R_E-_—F+=-A=+—8":
78.23%) UL THIRIRITIER R E A B RS ER D EART
BRERE RIBITESE  ERRETEDLETE

WZBZZF+ZRA=+—H  AEEERETRAEA
R#1,155,148 0007t (M =T -—F+-_A=1+—H: A
R¥940,077,00070) WEE  (EAREERBEMERR -
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group's capital commitments (including the
engaged and authorized capital commitments) were RMB36,367,000 (as at
31 December 2021: RMB212,752,000). All the capital commitments were
related to purchase of properties, plants and equipment.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no significant contingent liabilities
or litigation or arbitration of material importance.

The Group collects most of its revenue and incurs most of the expenditures
in RMB. Although the Group undertakes certain transactions denominated
in foreign currencies, mainly the currency of United States and the currency
of Hong Kong, the exposures to exchange rate fluctuations is minimal.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. The
Board, however, will monitor foreign exchange rate closely and consider
entering into foreign currency hedging arrangement should the need arise.

Human Resource Management

The Group had 2,484 employees as at 31 December 2022 (as at 31
December 2021: 2,812 employees), in which approximately 472 were
engineers and technical staff or employees with higher education
backgrounds. The staff costs amounted to RMB281,497,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (for the year ended 31 December 2021:
RMB323,577,000). The table below shows the number of employees of the

RZZB-—F+-A=+—H  AEEELEE(BIEE
AR RN B A EE) B ARE36,367,0007T (RZF
Z—F+ZA=+—8: AR®212,752,0007T) - FTBEE
RAEAWEME - BE KR -

W2 ZF+-RA=+—H AEEAUESRLBFEE
HEAFFRATAPEL ©

REBARBHBRAREENTHAARBHE - REEHE
TETUONEENR S - FERERTREBT - HAXE
¥5)§§bﬂﬁﬁ$’*1ﬁ INES B IR R AR SIS ST RIBOR o SR
EZSREMEBEEINERXRENEREBLHEITING
HEZRE -

ADERERE

RZTE_—F+_A=+—8 AEEEM2484ZET
(R=ZZ=——F+=-A=+—H:28126%87T) » £+472
ZHEIEMERINAESAESSHERSENES - HE
TECCF+ A=t HUIFEMNBEETIRAEARE
281,497,000t(HBE-_ZE-—F+-_A=+—HItFE:
AR®323,577,00000) c TR#BIKR=_Z=_=F+=A

Group by function as at 31 December 2022: =T AREEIEBEESNESHE
Percentage
of total
Number of number of
employees employees
HEESEH
Function RgE EE#E WAL
Management and Administration BIERITIR 384 15.46%
Sales and Marketing SHE K& iH 128 5.15%

Research and Development in Technology e R T2

and Engineering 811 12.60%
Production and Quality Control B RE S 1,659 66.79%
Total Bat 2,484 100.00%
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The Group offers remuneration packages determined by reference to the
employees’ experience, qualification and overall market situation, while
the bonus is related to the financial performance of the Group and the
individual performance. The Group also undertakes to provide proper
trainings and sustainable professional development opportunities for the
employees if needed.

The Company has adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) with a primary purpose of motivating our employees and
other eligible persons entitled under the Share Award Scheme to further
contribute to the Group and to reward them for their contribution to the
Group.

Major Risks and Uncertainties

In order to achieve stable business operations, the management of the
Company pays close attention to the risk factors that the company may
face. Based on the key risk indicators, after evaluation and analysis, the risks
faced by the Company mainly include:

Due to macroeconomic policy adjustments, certain impacts on the
upstream and downstream customers of the Group will indirectly
affect the sales and profits of packaging and papermaking
enterprises (including the Group). Due to the tightening of the
environmental protection policy, the cost of the paper packaging
industry will increase and there will be certain operational risks.

Since the costs of raw material account for a relatively high
proportion of production costs, fluctuations in raw material prices
have a certain impact on profits.

The Group's packaging business has a low concentration. The
enterprises with certain scale and strength in the industry are mainly
expanding their production capacity and increasing their market
share. The market competition is fierce. The papermaking business
of the Group faces leading enterprises in the industry to compete in
the same region and the competition is fierce.

Due to the inability to meet the product quality standards in the
industry, the mass quality problems caused by customers’ demand
cannot be met, which resulting in losses from batch waste or

AEENFHGFED2EEMNE TNEBRIEL REED
WU TE © TEAT AN SR B e 75 3648 I (BRI R 3R e - A%
B TMRE G IRIEFE BENBRARSFRICEE HEI K%
FESXERKE -

ARREERAR D ZREET S ([RGB ) - T2EW
BB REET BB E T REMAERAL 27T E
BAKENER - MR FBENERE TR -

BARRRTREN

%Tfﬁ%ﬁ%mﬁs' AAEREEEWEA ALY
RN EREE « KERMREREE - CBTHERNS

m AAREGORREEOHE

R ZERRRE  SEEL  THEFPEL—E
TR eHETE \qufﬂl}iti&m%(ﬁ%zli‘il)éﬁ

SHENAE - ARNERRRBEBE - SERER
RITERRAEN  B—ERLLER

HRERKAEEERANRELERS
ERHRBENBELE—ENTE -

ESI AR

AEBBREBETFERE - TEAEE—ERR
MENNERGUE—FEAERE  BINTS6EE
EREBKLZER  MEHRFHR - AREERE
BEETEANEREEERERABRT - BFH
3 o

AR TREEITEANERREESE  TEREE
FHEIERHIEEEME  EEtENERIE
5 - ERIERK -

inventories.
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Corporate Governance Structure
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SMER R BT
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The directors of the Company (the "Directors”) are pleased to present the

corporate governance report in the annual report of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (the "Year").

The Company has consistently adopted the Corporate Governance
Code (the "Code”) promulgated by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Stock Exchange”) as guidelines to reinforce our corporate
governance principles. This report describes how the Company has applied
the principles during the year.

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the Code
as stated in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) in force throughout the year
ended 31 December 2022.

ARAEE((EE)MANEERAFANBE_T_—
TA=+T—"HLEFE(FFE S FRDHENDEE
ARE o

RRABRRFRNBRIRRETERERZMBER AR ([BEX
FrDEmOEEEETAI(TSFAD) - (FREERMALXE
JARRIEIES| - AREFHARNABERZZRAMTR »

AARRHE_ZT-__F+_A=1+—HLFECETE
B prES LRI EmRR ) K+ Atz <R
FAABIRITTAIGRS -
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Board of Directors

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company has a balance of
skill and experience and a balanced composition of Executive and Non-
executive Directors, the overall management of the Company’s business
was vested in the Board. The Board has delegated the day-to-day
management of the Company’s business to the executive management
team, and focuses its attention on matters affecting the Company’s overall
strategic policies, finances and shareholders. As at 31 December 2022, the
Board comprised eight members, consisting of four Executive Directors
namely, Mr. Hu Zheng (Chairman), Mr. Hu Hancheng (Co-Chairman), Mr.
Hu Hanchao and Mr. Hu Jianpeng, one Non-Executive Director namely,
Ms. Hu Jianwen and three Independent Non-executive Directors namely,
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John, Mr. Liew Fui Kiang and Mr. Shin Yick Fabian.
The Directors are well-versed in respective areas such as knowledge and
technical know-how of paper-making and packaging industries, accounting
and finance and business management. The Board as a whole has achieved
an appropriate balance of skills and experience. The profiles of all directors
and the relationship among members of the Board (including financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationships, if any) are set
out on pages 43 to 46.

Each Independent Non-executive Director who is subject to retirement by
rotation will be appointed by a separate resolution in the Company’s annual
general meeting. The Company has received from each Independent Non-
executive Director an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

As Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John has served on the Board for more than nine
years, the Board is of the view that a director’s independence should
not be defined by his/her tenure on the Board. The Board assesses a
director’s independence on a case-by-case basis with reference to the
director’s business acumen, experience in related industries, professional
qualification, international business exposure and the nature of the
businesses of the Company in addition to tenure. A director who has
over time gained in-depth insight into the Company’s operations and its
markets are well-positioned to offer his/her perspective and advice for
discussion at the Board and that he/she can bring valuable contribution
to the Company with comprehensive understanding of the operations of
the Company. The Board is satisfied that Mr. Chung is a person of integrity
and stature, independent in character and judgment. He is independent
of management and free from any business or other relationships or
circumstances which could materially interfere with the exercise of his
independent judgment.

Exg
ARRESE((EFEDRERAZAZERNER B
WITERLIFMITESZZAA BB AIE - ARBIER
WEREEHEFEERRE - EFRCRKTHEEEFE
AEEARRBEER  KMETEEAARINERE
B MBERREE - R —F+=-RA=+—H &
ZEemN\EKEBANX - BRURMITESNBIETE(E
FR) RBREEBEEFER) RIS LERBEE
S —HIFRTERIRRE LT N =R B IFITE
EMEREREE  FBBEERADRE - EFHERR
BETEMAHMERLE St 2B RXEEESSHE
BERNBHZRE EFSRREARSTHZEER
BEIRER - TEESENEENLESZERENBEER(BR
% X215 RBREMBEBARSIEBEEER(NE))NFEAL3
EAEFHIE -

RARRZRFBEFRE L SUARKERIIBIIEH
TEEHNEDRERZE - ARRER EMRAZEI3
ATE B R SRR B P TE SN F R B R

=

RRARVEMIFNTEEFBLLCEZESNNF - EFE
RE - EEBIUETEXEEHMRS - EFG/LES
BB BEBEHIN  T2EEBEREKRE N - K8
BT &SR  EEERRERRY  ARADREBE
B URHEEREUY - EERANKRZBHALQR]EE
KW RARE - Lo B ARG D BRI
HREFES Lilw - EABESHARRZERNEE
REARRARIELEEER - EF S EHREBAEZIEM
& AREIBS 2 R R A - (REBILNEIRE » hE
B EMERRAER HMBEIEN I EERTREL
B 6 2 (ETER
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The Board has expressed the view in its circular for 2023 annual general
meeting that each Independent Non-executive Director who is eligible
for re-election has met the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and is independent in accordance with the terms of
the guidelines. In accordance with the CG Code, the Company has to
include its own recommendation in the circular to explain why a particular
candidate should be re-elected. As their relevant credentials have been
included in the circular for the shareholders’ information, the Company
opines that it is more important for the shareholders themselves to make
their own independent decision on whether to approve a particular
re-election or not.

Six board meetings were held during the financial year. All the Directors
actively participated in each meeting in person, via telephone or
videoconferencing. They received reports on the activities of the operating
divisions and which required the Board approval. Board approval also be
obtained through voting at the Board meetings.

Regular Board meetings in a particular year are usually scheduled
towards the end of the immediately preceding year to give all Directors
adequate time to plan their schedules to attend the meetings. The dates
of the 2022 regular Board meetings, of which 14 days notice was given,
were determined according to the requirement of the Bye-laws and any
amendments to this schedule were notified to all the Directors at least 14
days before the meeting. The Board papers including supporting analysis
and related background information are normally sent to the Directors
at least three days before Board meetings. Suitable arrangements were
in place to allow the Directors to include items in the agenda for regular
Board meetings.

If a Director had a conflict of interest in a transaction or proposal to be
considered by the Board and which the Board has considered to be
material, the individual Director would declare his interest and was required
to abstain from voting. The matter would then be considered at a Board
meeting attended by independent Directors who had no material interest
in the transaction.

The Company has put in place a mechanism to ensure that directors obtain
independent views. The Board endeavours to ensure the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors and at least one-
third of whose members are independent non-executive Directors (or the
higher minimum number as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors
of the Company from time to time under the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing

EFeN T =FERRBFRGZBRUARE  BE
BEEZBUIENTERENTA LMARAEIN3MG B
15l WARBZIESIEXBBILAL - RIBEEEARST
8 ARARFRBEABERNEFE RS2 REELRZ
o HREEETES 2 EREED 7SR K A A AR
R28  KARRIR/HBIRBTELRAT REIEERE
FHEEEIRBE -

ARBARFARBITOREFETEEH - MAEFHEER
T EREHIRANEGELHEEE o I EERER
DEEBAAREEEHENRE  EFT TR LURE
THARMERREER -

BFARCEFT S EMEROAEN —FFRBEIARET
BHl - BREFEAMERLTHLEER - ARRERE
MUET —F-_—_FEFSCHERNBTAM AR T
TIRBA - A BN ESYERD TORABANSE
Z BRI NHERBEESNMEESESER  —R
REZEERBRAINELZRERESE - ARFEEBRE
R RESREBNFEAMAANETEEHNERZR
A o

AR ESERFREETERERNERETESERR
BEANFGEER  AIZRESTARAENG - BTEKR
R AREERYERBEZRFIEANRCBVEENE

S dritomin
=R aran ©

AABDRIUERESZISBLBRAORS - EFSHN
BRZERI =ZBBIIFAMTEERETRI=DZ—K
BRBIUFATERXEEMARIMERARES L
MRAM(CERTRA DEERARARREFTETHHATEN
ERAHETR) -

Rules”).
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In addition to complying with the requirements of the Listing Rules on the
composition of certain Board committees, the Company also appoints
independent non-executive Directors to other Board committees to ensure
independent views as far as possible.

The Nomination Committee is empowered to assess the independence of
all Independent Non-executive Directors on an annual basis in accordance
with the independence criteria set out in the Listing Rules to ensure that
they continue to exercise independent judgement.

Independent non-executive Directors (like other Directors) have the right
to seek further information and documents from management on matters
to be discussed at Board meetings. They may also seek assistance from the
Company’s Company Secretary and, if necessary, independent professional
advice at the Company's expense.

The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the
aforementioned mechanisms on an annual basis.

The Chairman promotes a culture of openness and actively encourages
Directors with different views to voice their opinion and be fully engaged
in the Board's affairs so as to contribute to the Board's functions. The
chairman also debates facilitating the effective contribution of non-
executive directors in particular and ensuring constructive relations
between executive and non-executive directors.

A healthy corporate culture across the Group is vital for the Group to
achieve its vision and mission towards sustainable growth. It is the Board's
role to foster a corporate culture with integrity to guide the behaviours of
its employees, and ensure that the Company’s vision, values and business
strategies are aligned to it.

1. Integrity, simple
The Group strives to maintain high standards of business ethics and
corporate governance across all our activities and operations. The
Directors, management and staff are all required to act lawfully,
ethically and responsibly.

2.  Treasure talents, invest talents
Talent is the core competitiveness. The Group continues to invest in
human capital, improve the value of human capital, activate the value
creation of human resource management, and eliminate competition.

BES(EMRADEETEFEZERAMAREIN - &
ARANEAEREBUGFATEETNARLMBEEEERR
€ DARBREUSE LR

RELZEGERER(EMARADMAEEL LR - 7
BB EITE R 2B - MRESERFEIELE
v 2l

BUIEMTES(HEMER— ) ARRESSER L
REEATEESKE—PERREXXMY - BEIRAIAARR
FIZ ATIMESIHE  RINEZEE  AISRBUEEE
R BRAGHRAQERE -

EFTgHRALEBINERANERIEETEFIE -

TEREMBASE - WHEREEIS TR RRNERRELE
o NREE2EEEENER - UEEESMNREFD
R - REBEF(FRIRFNTES ) HEFTSFLBERE
Bl WHERATEFEIFNTES ZMEFERIENEE
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BENCECHERAEENESEEBEHEE - &
FENKEEMEFEDN - AFER] - BUMEREEXUE
WHERAATINER - BERREBRRKERPELRE
— o

1. EEHRF  HEER
AEBBONERMABE LD REBHRERIRE
MERERREXRER -EF BEEERBIHA
UE%E  fRERIAEENTAITE -

2. EfRAT -REAT
AT RGOHFN - ARBERHEANERRE @ 12
FANEREE  BEANEREENEERE

B -

Annual Report 2022 27
e

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXERBFEEARAT



Corporate Governance Report

BRI

Details of the attendance of Directors at these Board meetings and

at the meetings of the five Board committees (the Audit Committee,

the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Risk

Management Committee and the Budget Management Committee) and

the annual general meeting (the "AGM") for the Reporting Period are set

out in the following table:

TREAHEPHEETHFEFTEERRAEAEEREE

(BZZEE -

HHEZRE  REEBRE® -

ABERBELZE

ELEHEREZESG) MERBFAE ([RREFAE])

EZEFE

Meetings Attended/Meetings Held

HEES/ BIEERY
Risk Budget
Board Audit  Remuneration Nomination ~ Management ~ Management
Name of directors Meeting Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee AGM
B HH fe EREE REEE &
£33 Ezg Z58¢& Z88 %88 Z58% Z58¢% BEXE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Hu Zheng HEEE b6 NATER 33 33 i 11 1/1
Mr. Hu Hancheng HEREE 6l N/ATER N/ATEE N/ATEF N/ATEF 171 1/1
Mr. Hu Hanchao s o6 NATER  NATER N/ATER NATER n ld
Mr. Hu Jianpeng il e 55 N/ATEF N/ATEF N/ATEF 171 171 1/1
(appointed on 8 February 2022) (MZE_ZF
ZRNBZf)
Non-Executive Directors FUTES
Mr. Chen Riyue BRAA%E
(resigned on 22 July 2022) (R=F==F
tAZ+ZRE) 202 NARER  NATER NATER NATER N/ATER 1l
Ms. Hu Jianwen il 3
(appointed on 22 July 2022) (R=ZzzF
tA-+=RE
Zf) 33 NARBR  NATER NATER NATER N/ATER N/ATER
Independent Non-Executive Directors ~ BYFHTES
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John EERLE 6/6 22 33 3/3 1n N/ANER 17
Mr. Liew Fui Kiang i 6/6 22 33 3/3 1n N/ANER 17
Mr. Shin Yick Fabian EHRE 6/6 22 33 33 1N N/ANER 17

With the support of the Executive Directors and the Company Secretary,

the Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed

on issues arising at Board meetings and receive adequate and reliable

information on a timely basis.

ERTEERARNERD T  TEBNEREESSH
LAREEROEENTEANER  WERESEANA

FHER -
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In addition to regular Board meetings, the Chairman met with the
Independent Non-executive Directors without the presence of other

BREFEEHERI  TREBIIIFATEEN T _—
FHoAGYEIMEMERNBER TRITEH -R_F

Directors in December 2022. Attendance record in 2022 is as follows: T oFeHZHRERINT

Attendance

HERE

Chairman EE
Mr. Hu Zheng HAIE A& 11
Independent Non-executive Directors BYEHTES
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John BRI e 11
Mr. Liew Fui Kiang BlEH L 11
Mr. Shin Yick Fabian S E 11
All Directors had access to the services of the company secretary who REIWETHEFNEETSNEANRESTE  2REEY

regularly updated the Board on governance and regulatory matters. Any
Director, if consider necessary in discharging their responsibility, might take
independent professional advice (through the Chairman) at the Company'’s
expense. The availability of professional advice extended to the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee, the
Risk Management Committee and the Budget Management Committee.

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees, together
with any supporting documents, were available to all Directors. Draft and
final versions of the minutes were sent to all Directors for their comment
and record respectively.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which
sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in
order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

ABEARNE - ANEFTUERRBETRELZNENR
TEREFER)SKBVERER BRBARAXN »
EZLZES  FMHEZES REZET REREEZEE
LEHERZBENASRKEXER -

E=gNEFR R LRERTMA XY
THEES - IIREMAESREER  MREERHE
tERCER 2 -

EEERES TR
AARERMEFERESTTLECR(RBE]) - FIHM
PERRRFEFESTIL - UWRABEFEOARE -
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In setting up the composition of the Board, the Company considers the
diversity of the Board at different levels, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service, and any other factors
that the Board considers relevant and applicable from time to time.
The Company attaches great importance to ensuring a balanced mix of
skills and experience among the Board members to provide different
perspectives and perspectives, insights and questions to enable the Board
to effectively discharge its duties, formulate good practices on the core
business and strategies of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
and align with the succession planning and development of the Board.
In order for the Board to be effective, the Company may set additional
measurable targets/specific diversity targets and review them from time to
time to ensure that such targets are appropriate and feasible.

In terms of gender diversity, the Board currently comprises 1 female
Directors, representing 12.5% of the Board.

In hiring and selecting candidates for appointment to the Board, the
appointment will be based on the Company’s nomination policy and
from a diverse perspective, including but not limited to consideration of
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

After considering the Company’s corporate strategy and business
operations, the final decision will be based on the merits and other
objective criteria of the candidate, and the contribution he or she will bring
to the Board.

The Board recognised the benefits of diversity in the Board in enhancing
the Board effectiveness and corporate governance. The Nomination
Committee will give consideration to a number of factors as set out in
the Policy when identifying suitable qualified candidates to become
members of the Board, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, industry
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Board will consider
well balanced and of a diverse mix which is appropriate for the business
operation and development of the Company. The Company will also take
into account its own business model and specific needs from time to time
to determine the optimal composition of the Board. The Company will
review the Policy on a regular basis to ensure its continuous effectiveness.
The Board and the Nomination Committee review from time to time the
Board Diversity Policy, monitor its implementation to ensure its continued
effectiveness including conducting a review of the composition of the
Board at least once a year, taking into account the benefits of all relevant
diversity dimensions, and compliance with regulatory requirements and
good corporate governance practices and the Nomination Committee
makes recommendation on any revision as may be required to the Board
for approval.
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As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee considered that
the Board had achieved gender diversity and possessed skill and expertise
and a diverse mix appropriate for the business of the Company and will
review the composition and diversity of the Board on a regular basis to
ensure its continued effectiveness.

Employee Diversity

Employees are our most important asset. Our future depends on our
team'’s dedication and ability to provide quality products and services to
our customers. As an equal opportunity employer, we strive to ensure the
concepts of diversity and inclusion are incorporated into our recruitment
and talent development processes. We recruit talents regardless of race,
colour, nationality, religion, gender, sexual orientation, age, marital
status, pregnancy, disability, medical condition, political affiliation, family
responsibilities or any other characteristics protected by law.

As at 31 December 2022, in terms of gender diversity, female represent
21% of the senior management. At workforce levels, female present 22%.
For details of gender diversity at workforce levels, please refer to the
2022 Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Report. The Board is
satisfied that the Company has achieved gender diversity in its workforce
and possessed skill and expertise and a diverse mix appropriate for the
business of the Company and will review the composition and diversity of
the employees on a regular basis to ensure its continued effectiveness.

Board Committees

The Board has established five committees, namely the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Risk
Management Committee and the Budget Management Committee,
throughout the year ended 31 December 2022. During the year, these
committees adhered to their principles, procedures and arrangements set
out below. The respective committee secretary or designated person took
full minutes of the meetings of these committees and the work of these
committees was reported to the Board regularly.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEQO")

Under the Code provision C.2.1 in force, the roles of chairman and CEO
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and CEO should be
clearly established and set out in writing.

During the year, Mr. Hu Zheng was the Chairman, Ms. Chen Wei was the
CEO of the Company for purpose of maintaining and a more balanced
basis for judgments and decisions. The Board considered that, under the
leadership of Mr. Hu Zheng, as the Chairman of the Company, takes up
the role of leadership for the Board and ensures that the Board works
effectively and discharges its responsibility properly. He also ensure that
the Board acts in the best interests of the Company and the Group.
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Ms. Chen Wei, as CEO of the Company, was delegated with the authority
and responsibility to operate the Group's business and day-to-day
operation, and implemented the Group's strategy in achieving the business
objectives with the assistance of the Executive Directors and the senior
management.

Responsibilities of and Delegation by the Board
The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, overseas
the Group's strategic decisions and monitors business and performance.

The management, consisting of Executive Directors along with the senior
executives, is delegated with responsibilities for implementing the strategy
and direction as adopted by the Board from time to time, and conducting
the day-to-day operations of the Group. Executive Directors and the senior
executives meet regularly to review the performance of the businesses of
the Group as a whole, co-ordinate overall resources and make financial
and operational decisions. The Board also gives clear directions as to
their powers of management including circumstances where management
should report back, and will review the delegation arrangements on a
periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the
Group.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests of the
Company and its Shareholders at all times.

Non-executive Directors

Each of Independent Non-executive Directors and Non-executive Director
was appointed with specific terms. Each of Independent Non-executive
Directors had signed a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of 1 year commencing from 1 January 2022, and the Non-executive
Director had signed a letter of appointment with the Company for a term
of 1 year commencing from 22 July 2022. They are all subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meetings of the Company
in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”).

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, the Company
confirms that all Directors have complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2022.
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Directors and Officers Liability Insurance

Liability insurance for Directors and senior management of the Company
was arranged by the Company with appropriate coverage for certain legal
liabilities which may arise in the course of performing their duties.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board has adopted the terms of reference on corporate governance
functions on 23 March 2012. The terms of reference of the Board in respect
of corporate governance function are summarized as follows:

(@)  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

() to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices to
ensure compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

(e)  to review the Company’s compliance with the code provisions set
out in the Code and Corporate Governance Report contained in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules and its disclosure requirements in
the Corporate Governance Report.

The work performed by the Board on corporate governance functions
during the year ended 31 December 2022 included developing and
reviewing the Company’s policies on corporate governance and making
relevant recommendations.

Continuous Professional Development

Under C.1.4 of the Code in relation to Directors’ training, the Directors
have provided their records of continuous professional development
during the year 2022.

The Directors’ knowledge and skills are continuously developed and
refreshed by, inter alia, the following means during the year 2022:

o Reading news/journal/magazine/other reading materials as regards
legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the
Directors in the discharge of their duties; and

o All Directors have completed continuous professional development
training by attending the ESG and Anti-corruption Training jointly
organized by Roma Group, Stevenson, Wong & Co., AllBright Law
Offices.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee for the purposes
of making recommendations to the Board on the Company'’s remuneration
policy and structure for directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee presently comprises one Executive Director,
namely Mr. Hu Zheng and three Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John, Mr. Liew Fui Kiang and Mr. Shin Yick
Fabian. The chairman of the Committee is Mr. Shin Yick Fabian. The
Remuneration Committee held three meetings during the year and details
of attendance are shown in the table on page 28 of this annual report. The
work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31
December 2022 included the following matters:

o make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of
Non-executive and Executive Directors for the years ended 31
December 2022. The Remuneration Committee has considered
factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the directors, employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-
based remuneration;

o review and approve remuneration and performance-based
remuneration scheme of Executive Directors from time to time by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board
from time to time; and

o ensure that no Director or any of respective associates is involved in
deciding their respective remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model that it will review
the proposals made by the management on the remuneration of executive
Directors and senior management, and make recommendations to the
Board. The Board will have final authority to approve the recommendations
made by the Remuneration Committee.

The Company'’s share option scheme (the “Option Scheme”) has lapsed. As
at 31 December 2022, the Company did not adopt any new share option
scheme.

The Company has also adopted a share award scheme (the “Award
Scheme”) whereby the Board may at its discretion grant shares to such
eligible participants to award the shares of the Company. The principal
terms of the Award Scheme are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 23 April 2019. The purposes of the Option Scheme and
Award Scheme are to enable the Company to grant options or award
shares to selected eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee (both English and
Chinese versions) are posted on the websites of the Company and Hong
Kong Exchange and Clearing Limited (HKEX).
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Nomination Committee

According to the Bye-laws, the Directors shall have power from time to
time and at any time to appoint any person as a director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. A director appointed by
the Board is subject to re-election by shareholders at the next following
general meeting of the Company. The nomination of a director should be
taken into consideration of the candidate’s skills and experience which are
appropriate for the needs of the Company'’s business.

The Company has established a Nomination Committee for the purpose of
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee presently comprises four Directors, including
Mr. Hu Zheng, an Executive Director, and three Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John, Mr. Liew Fui Kiang
and Mr. Shin Yick Fabian. The Committee is chaired by Mr. Hu Zheng.

The Board delegates the responsibility of appointing and re-electing
Directors to the Nomination Committee and they are responsible for
considering the suitability of a candidate, and approving and terminating
the appointment of a Director. Reviews of the plans for orderly succession
for appointment to the Board and its structure, size and composition are
done on a regular basis by the Nomination Committee. They are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and external consultants
may be engaged, if necessary, to access a wider range of potential
candidate(s). The Nomination Committee reviews the Director Nomination
Policy and the Board Diversity Policy of the Company periodically and
make recommendation on any proposed revisions to the Board.

In evaluating whether an appointee is suitable to act as a director of the
company, the committee will review the professional knowledge, industrial
experience and personal skills of the appointee, personal ethics and
integrity of the appointee as well as how the individual contributes to
diversity of the Board.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee (both English and
Chinese versions) are posted on the websites of the Company and HKEXx.

According the Bye-laws, at each AGM of the Company, one-third of the
Directors shall retire from office by rotation and every Director shall be
subject to retirement at least once every three years. Director(s) newly
appointed by the Board shall hold office until the next following general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at the
meeting.

The Board considers that it is the responsibility of the existing Directors to
give an induction on the information of the Group to the newly appointed
Director and present a manual on the duties and responsibilities as a
director of a listed company to enable the newly appointed Director to
have a proper understanding of the business.
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Four Executive Directors, namely, Mr. Hu Zheng, Mr. Hu Hancheng, Mr.
Hu Hanchao and Mr. Hu Jianpeng had entered into a service contract with
the Company for a period of three years, Mr. Hu Zheng, Mr. Hu Hancheng,
Mr. Hu Hanchao's service contracts commence from 1 January 2021, Mr.
Hu Jianpeng's service contract commences from 8 February 2022, unless
terminated in accordance with the terms of the service contract. Each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors had signed a letter of appointment
with the Company for a term of one year commencing from 1 January 2022
and is renewable upon its expiration and may be terminated in accordance
with the terms of the letter of appointment. The non-executive Director,
Ms. Hu Jianwen had signed a letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of one year commencing 22 July 2022 and is renewable upon
its expiration and may be terminated in accordance with the terms of the
letter of appointment. During the financial year ended 31 December 2022,
there was three meetings held by the Nomination Committee. Details of
attendance are shown in the table on page 28.

The work of the Nomination Committee during the year ended 31
December 2022 included the following matters:

o to make recommendation to the Board on renewal of services
contracts of Non-executive Director and Independent non-executive
Directors;

. to review the structure, size, diversity profile and skills matrix of the
Board and the needs of the Board, and make recommendations on
any proposed changes, where applicable;

o to assess the independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors; and

° to make recommendation to the Board on the re-election of
Directors at the 2022 annual general meeting.

Auditors’ Remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the fees charged by the Company'’s
auditors in respect of audit amounted to approximately RMB1,965,000.
There is no remuneration paid to the Auditor in respect of non-audit
services.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee for the purposes of
reviewing and providing supervision over the Company'’s financial reporting
process and internal controls.

The Audit Committee presently comprises three Independent Non-
executive Directors of the Company, namely Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John,
Mr. Liew Fui Kiang and Mr. Shin Yick Fabian and is chaired by Mr. Chung
Kwok Mo John.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year and details of
attendance are shown in the table on page 28. The work of the Audit
Committee during the year ended 31 December 2022 included of the
following matters:

o provide recommendation to the Board on the reappointment
of external auditors, and approve the audit fee and terms of
engagement of the external auditors;

o review and monitor external auditors’ independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
applicable standard, and discuss with external auditors before
audit commences, the nature and scope of the audit and reporting

obligations;

o monitor integrity of financial statements, interim report and annual
report, and review significant financial reporting judgments contained
in them;

o review financial controls, internal controls and risk management
systems;

o discuss with management regarding the system of internal controls

and ensure that management has discharged its duty to have an
effective internal control system including adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of accounting and financial
reporting function, and their training programmes and budget;

. ensure co-ordination between internal and external auditors, and to
ensure that internal audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Company, and to review and monitor
the effectiveness of internal audit function;

o review financial and accounting policies and practices; and

o review external auditors’ management letter, any material queries
raised by auditors to management in respect of accounting records,
financial accounts or systems of control and management'’s response.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee (both English and Chinese
versions) are posted on the websites of the Company and HKEx.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for Accounts
The Directors acknowledge the responsibilities for preparing the accounts
of the Company. The external auditors’ statement about their reporting
responsibilities is set out on pages 66 to 67.

ERZEENAFEANRTTMAGH  SRLEFBD
FBENKBHAR - BERZEENEE_FT__F+=
A=+ HALFENTHERBITEAE:

o BINEIEBEINEBMEEMEESREMES Rt
HESNERIZBIED RO BN & K2 B PR A6

o WERNEERN REFIISBRBENELERE
B - U RZBURFOE R « WERIMNBZEENE
ZHBTERIGATIA S A iR B TR IS R 80 A
KBEBEBEREL

o  EEMBHR THRERFERSHNTEMN A
EHETAHEBYERRABNERER

o EHISERE  AEEERERER RS

o  HEBEMNWRAREZERLS  TREEEECET
BERUBRHONMERRS  BREEF RIBHR
SHHER  HERENEEREREERRE &
HAERIRJRERARBEERE R |

o TERWEPEINBZBENS TIESRIHRF - RN
MELYEEARRABERWERENR - YBA
BERAL - Wi R ERAERE RN AR

o  RIUMBREFBREER : Rk

. R BN Z BN 4R T E IR E MCER BB K
) RBE LSRR - MR E B RRA
ERERINEMNERRFANRERBEHNEE -

ERZEENBERE (X RPN EEHRARR K
B P E ©

EERZHMBRENER
BEZNTFEARUANRRENTET - INMZEEIRERE
FAHBERETRNEREIINFECOE6TE °

Annual Report 2022 37
e

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXERBFEEARAT



Corporate Governance Report
e SRR o

Going Concern

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Internal Controls

The Board has kept the Company’s system of internal controls under review
to ensure its effectiveness and convened meetings regularly to discuss
financial, operational and risk management control.

Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee was set up on 18 December 2015 and
currently comprises ten members, including two executive Directors,
namely Mr. Hu Zheng and Mr. Hu Jianpeng, three Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John, Mr. Liew Fui Kiang
and Mr. Shin Yick Fabian, and five senior management, namely, Ms. Chen
Wei, Ms. Cai Yan, Mr. Ye Ningfei, Ms. Zhang Zheng and Mr. Liang Nianlin.
The chairman of the Committee is Mr. Liew Fui Kiang.

The Risk Management Committee is established to, without limitation, assist
the Board to evaluate and determine the nature and extent of the risks the
Board is willing to take in achieving the Group's strategic objectives, ensure
that the Group establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems, and assist the Board to oversee
the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management system
carried out by the management on an ongoing basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Risk Management Committee
held one meeting and discussed and reviewed areas including but not
limited to the key risks faced by the Group, risk management policy and
practice annually.

Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and
extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the strategic objectives
of the Group and ensuring that the Group establishes and maintains
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.

The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group's risk management and
internal controls system and for reviewing its effectiveness.
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RNEBZ BB ERERFEHR  HEREEFERTZ
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The Group’s methodology for its risk assessment comprises three core
stages including Risk Identification, Risk Assessment, and Risk Management
that are shown below:

Risk Identification &% B &l k&

Department/Functional Heads/Corporate Legal Entities identify risks in the operations they are responsible for as well as
risks they believe are relevant to the Group as a whole. The Group has adopted a set of internal control measures to address
various potential operational, financial and legal risk identified in relation to the operation, including but not limited to
procurement management, inventory management, information disclosure control, IT management and other various

financial control and monitor procedures. All the identified risks are consolidated into a risk inventory.
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Risks in the Risk Inventory are evaluated by a range of senior individuals. The group analyzes its possibility, severity and
countermeasures to prioritize risk events, and confirm and identify whether the risk is a major risk.
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Department/Functional Heads/Corporate Legal Entities keep ongoing communication, monitoring and review.

BIREEER  SHFIABEASEHEMER  HEBRE  BERY

The Group's risk management framework sets out the process of
identification, evaluation and management of the principal risks affecting
the business. The Group has adopted a set of internal control measures
to address various potential operational, financial and legal risk identified
in relation to the operation, including but not limited to procurement
management, inventory management, information disclosure control, IT
management and other various financial control and monitor procedures.

The Board is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's
risk management and internal control systems through regular meetings
with the management. In addition, the Audit Committee with professional
advices and opinions from the external internal control consultant of the
Company is responsible for ensuring the sufficiency and effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems through
regular inspection and monitoring. The compliance officer is responsible
for reviewing the compliance policies and procedures of the Group
annually. The compliance officer will also be responsible for updating the
compliance policies and procedures of the Group to ensure that they are
up to date in accordance with the applicable regulatory requirements. The
Group's risk management and internal control systems will be reviewed
annually for the past financial year.
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The Group has in place an anti-bribery and anti-corruption policy to
safeguard against any corruption within the Group. The policy explains
potential bribery and corruption conduct and the Group's anti-bribery
and anti-corruption measures. The Group makes its internal reporting
channel open and available for its employees to report any bribery and
corruption acts, and its employees can also make anonymous reports to
the compliance officer. The Group's compliance officer is reporting for
investigating the reported incidents and taking appropriate measures in
response to the relevant incidents, if any. To strengthen internal control
of the Group in relation to anti-bribery and anti-corruption, the Group has
also started to provide trainings of anti-bribery and anti-corruption to all its
employees every year.

The risk management framework, coupled with the internal controls,
ensures that the risk associated with different divisions of the Group are
effectively controlled and in line with the Group's appetite. However,
the Group's risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objective, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal
control system for the year ended 31 December 2022 and considered the
internal control system effective and adequate and no significant areas of
concern which might affect shareholders were identified.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

With respect to the handling and dissemination of inside information,
the Group has adopted various procedures and measures on disclosure
of inside information with an aim to ensure that the insiders abide by
the confidentiality requirements and that inside information is to be
disseminated to the public in equal and timely manner in accordance with
the applicable laws and regulations. Such procedures include, among
others, notification of regular blackout period and securities dealing
restrictions to the Directors and employees, dissemination of information
to specified persons on a need to-know basis and use of identify projects.
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Budget Management Committee

The Budget Management Committee was set up on 1 September 2018 and
presently comprises four executive Directors of the Company, namely Mr.
Hu Hanchao, Mr. Hu Zheng, Mr. Hu Hancheng and Mr. Hu Jianpeng and is
chaired by Mr. Hu Hanchao.

The responsibilities of the Budget Management Committee is established
to, without limitation, assist the Board to monitor and review the
effectiveness of the Group’s annual business plan and financial, to review the
implementation of the Group's budget in existing or potential investment
projects and make recommendations, and also give the recommendations
to the Board on the capital expenditures.

Company Secretary

Ms. Jiang Ying has been appointed by the Company as the company
secretary since 31 March 2023, her biographical details are set out in the
section headed “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management” in this
annual report. Ms. Jiang has complied with the requirement under Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules during the year. She worked and communicated closely
with Ms. Chen Wei, a chief executive officer of the Company.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with its
shareholders, and in particular through annual general meetings or
other general meetings to communicate with the shareholders and
encourage their participation. The board has established a shareholders’
communication policy. The policy is subject to review on a regular basis
to ensure its effectiveness. The Chairman of the Board will make himself
available at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on Friday,
23 June 2023 to answer any questions from shareholders.

Shareholders can measure the application of corporate governance
principles against the quantifiable objectives of the Company’s diversity
policy and the Company’s corporate governance report.

The Group's official website http://www.zhengye-cn.com contains an
‘Investor Relations’ section which offers timely access to the Company'’s
press releases, financial reports and announcements.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective investor
communication policy and to update investors with relevant information of
the Group in a timely manner.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Right to Convene Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’ Meetings
Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company and Bermuda Companies Act,
in addition to regular Board meetings, the Directors of the Company,
on the requisition of shareholders of the Company holding not less than
one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company, can convene a special
general meeting to address specific issues of the Company within 21 days
from the date of deposit of written notice to the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong. The same requirement and procedure
also applies to any proposal to be tabled at shareholders’ meetings for
adoption.

Right to Put Forward Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders’ enquiries can be directed to the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong. The address is set out in the “CORPORATE
INFORMATION" section of this annual report for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

Constitutional Documents
There are no significant changes in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year.
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Directors

Mr. Hu Zheng (#81E), aged 60, he is the Chairman and executive Director
and one of the founders. Furthermore, Mr. Hu Zheng is the chairman of
the nomination committee and members of the remuneration committee,
risk management committee and budget management committee. Mr. Hu
Zheng is responsible for overseeing the overall corporate management,
operation and development planning and had over 30 years of experience
in the paper-making and packaging industries. Prior to founding our
Group, Mr. Hu Zheng worked as a technician and as an assistant engineer
at a then state-owned paper factory since 1983 then he was a director of a
PRC paper and packaging products manufacturing factory, responsible for
the management of daily operation and strategic planning from 1990 to
2003. In October 1981, Mr. Hu Zheng graduated from Guangdong Foshan
Vocational College (BRI B & H1287) (formerly known as Guangdong
Foshan Region Agricultural Mechanical College (&R A @8 1LHb & 2 A
{ELEE1R)) and completed a Master of Business Administration at the Macau
University of Science and Technology in August 2001. Mr. Hu Zheng is
the brother of Mr. Hu Hancheng (an executive Director and a substantial
shareholder of the Company (the “Shareholder”) through his interests in
Golden Century Assets Limited) and Mr. Hu Hanchao (an executive Director
and a substantial Shareholder of the Company through his interests in
Leading Innovation Worldwide Corporation).

Mr. Hu Hancheng (#/%£7%8), aged 63, has been appointed an executive Director
since 4 March 2011. He is also the Co-Chairman of the Company, and also
a member of budget management committee. He is responsible for the
comprehensive operation management of the Group. He joined the Group
in 2003 and has been the legal representative of Zheng Ye Packaging
(Zhongshan) Company Limited, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, between December 2007 and January 2017. Mr. Hu Hancheng
is in charge of the management and operation of the packaging business
division of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Hu Hancheng was
the general manager of a PRC packaging products manufacturing factory
from 1997 to 2003 responsible for the overall operational management
of the business. Mr. Hu Hancheng is currently the vice president of
Zhongshan Association of Packaging Industry. In January 1995, Mr.
Hu Hancheng completed an economic management program at the
Guangdong Polytechnic College (& & Ti2Mk % F T 203) formerly known
as Guangdong Province Adult Technology University (& B & i A BHE K
2). Mr. Hu Hancheng is the brother of Mr. Hanchao (an executive Director
and a substantial Shareholder of the Company) and Mr. Hu Zheng (an
executive Director and a controlling Shareholder of the Company through
his interests in Gorgeous Rich Development Limited).

Biogra hical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Hu Hanchao (#/%85), aged 65, an executive Director of the Company,
he is also the chairman of budget management committee. He joined our
Group in 2003 and he was appointed as a Director in September 2010 then
was designated as an executive Director in March 2011 and appointed
as Vice Chairman in November 2012. Mr. Hu Hanchao is responsible for
the daily operations management of the Group and supervised the daily
comprehensive operation management in corrugated medium paper
division. He has been involved in corporate management for more than 28
years. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Hu Hanchao was the deputy general
manager at Zhongshan City Zhong Fa Equipment Rental Company Limited
from 2000 to 2003 responsible for the overall operational management
of the business and before that he was the assistant manager of Xinhua
Bookshop from 1985 to 1994. In August 1985, Mr. Hu Hanchao graduated
from Zhongshan Municipal Communist Party Cadre School (F 1L i1 # &0 £
). Mr. Hu Hanchao is the brother of Mr. Hu Zheng (an executive Director
and a controlling Shareholder of the Company) and Mr. Hu Hancheng (an
executive Director and a substantial Shareholder of the Company).

Mr. Hu Jianpeng (FA#EM5), aged 36, joined the Group in 2014. He is an
executive Director of the Company. He held the post of the Group's
general manager in procurement between 2014 and 2017, was responsible
for the supply chain management and procurement strategy formulation in
the Group. In 2018, Mr. Hu Jianpeng served as the chief operating officer
of the Group and responsible for the overall operation and management
in sales, raw materials and procurement of the Group. Mr. Hu Jianpeng
obtained double Master degrees in finance and marketing awarded by the
University of Sydney in 2013. Mr. Hu Jianpeng is a son of Mr. Hu Zheng (an
executive Director and a controlling Shareholder of the Company). Also,
Mr. Hu Jianpeng is a nephew of Mr. Hu Hanchao (an Executive Director
and a substantial Shareholder of the Company) and Mr. Hu Hancheng (an
Executive Director and a substantial Shareholder of the Company).
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Ms. Hu Jianwen (88#252), aged 41, joined our Group on 22 July 2022, from 2003
to 2008, she worked as an accountant at the Finance Office of Guangdong
Light Industry Technician College (/& 3 & # T % £ Ab £ [T ). From 2008 to
till date, Ms. Hu acted as a full-time teacher of accounting at the Service
Department of Guangdong Light Industry Technician College. Ms. Hu
obtained an undergraduate degree from Zhengzhou University in 2003 and
possesses the Accounting Practitioner Qualification Certificate and an Assistant
Accountant Qualification Certificate. Ms. Hu is the niece of Mr. Hu Zheng, an
executive Director and the controlling shareholder of the Company, and the
niece of Mr. Hu Hanchao, an executive Director and a substantial shareholder
of the Company, and Mr. Hu Hancheng, an executive Director and a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John ((E1 ), aged 54, joined the Company on 4 March
2011 as an independent non-executive Director. He is also the Chairman
of audit committee and members of remuneration committee, nomination
committee and risk management committee of the Company. Mr. Chung
graduated from Macquarie University, Australia in 1992 with a Bachelor of
Economics degree, then became a member of CPA Australia in 1995 and
that of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 1996. Mr.
Chung has over 20 years of experience in auditing, financial management
and corporate finance. Mr. Chung was an auditor in an international
accounting firm from 1992 to 1999. From 2000, Mr. Chung had held several
senior management positions, including chief financial officer, executive
director and independent non-executive director, in a number of listed
companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Chung is presently a vice president of
Yongsheng Advanced Materials Company Limited (a listed company on
the Stock Exchange; stock code: 3608). Mr. Chung is also an independent
non-executive Director of BYD Electronic (International) Company Limited (a
listed company on the Stock Exchange; stock code: 285), YTO International
Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited (a listed company on the
Stock Exchange; stock code: 6123), B & S International Holdings Ltd. (a
listed company on the Stock Exchange; stock code: 1705) and Tokyo Chuo
Auction Holdings Limited (a listed company on the Stock Exchange; stock
code: 1939) since June 2013, December 2017, February and September
2018 respectively.
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Mr. Liew Fui Kiang (8]1£#%), aged 56, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since May 2019. He is a fellow of
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors, a solicitor of England and Wales, and
a solicitor of Hong Kong. Mr. Liew obtained a Bachelor of Laws (Tetley &
Lupton scholar) from the University of Leeds in the United Kingdom and
a Master of Business Administration from the Hull University Business
School in the United Kingdom. Mr. Liew is currently an independent non-
executive Director of Shandong Gold Mining Co., Ltd. (stock code: 1787
and Shanghai Stock Exchange stock code: 600547), China Apex Group
Limited (stock code: 2011), Zhongchang International Holdings Group
Limited (stock code: 859) and Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited (stock code:
6622) respectively. Mr. Liew currently serves as an independent member
of the board of supervisors for Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of
China, Limited (stock code: 2318 and Shanghai Stock Exchange stock code:
601318), a Fortune Global 500 corporation. Mr. Liew was the chairman of
the board of directors and executive director of Balk 1798 Group Limited
(formerly known as PacRay International Holdings Limited) (stock code:
1010) from 2017 to 2019. He was a non-executive director of Amber Hill
Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 33) in December 2019. Mr. Liew
previously served as an independent director of Baoshan Iron & Steel
Company Limited* (2 [Li#l$# % 15 AR 2 7], Shanghai Stock Exchange stock
code: 600019), a Fortune Global 500 corporation.

Mr. Shin Yick Fabian (%), aged 54, joined the Company on 31 May 2019
as an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Shin graduated from the
University of Birmingham in England with a bachelor’s degree in commerce.
After graduation, he worked in the audit department of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu. He had also worked in a listed company in Hong Kong as group
financial controller and company secretary. He is a fellow member of Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, The Chartered Governance Institute and the Hong
Kong Institute of Company Secretaries. Mr. Shin is also an independent
non-executive Directors of Lisi Group Holdings Limited (a listed company
on the Stock Exchange; stock code: 526), Newton Resources Ltd (a listed
company on the Stock Exchange; stock code: 1231) since January 2013,
August 2015 respectively. He was an independent non-executive Director
of China Tianrui Automotive Interiors Co., Ltd (a listed company on the
Stock Exchange; stock code: 6162) from December 2018 to September
2020. Mr. Shin is a non-executive Director of Pak Tak International Limited
(a listed company on the Stock Exchange; stock code: 2668) since February
2017 and resigned on 3 February 2023.

*  For identification purpose only
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Senior Management

Ms. Chen Wei (BR/), aged 47, joined our Group in 2007. Ms. Chen is the
Chief Executive Officer of the Group and responsible for the management
operations in finance, human resources, legal, internal audit, information
systems and Hong Kong head quarter of the Group comprehensively.
Ms. Chen has over 15 years of experience in financial management and
tax services. She served as financial supervisor in several papermaking
enterprises and group companies during the period from 1995 to 2001
and was in charge of accounting and financial management matters.
Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Chen served as account manager and tax
consultant in Zhongshan large-scale tax agent from 2005 to 2007. Ms. Chen
completed the accounting course of Jinan University in December 2005
and obtained an undergraduate diploma. Thereafter, she was awarded the
Master of Business Administration degree from the University of Wales in
April 2011, and obtained the title of senior accountant awarded by Human
Resources Bureau of Guangdong Province (Z®R A AZ%EE) in December
2008. In September 2009, Ms. Chen obtained professional qualification as
a senior international finance manager awarded by International Financial
Management Association. She is the member of International Financial
Management Association.

Mr. Hu Jianjun (#Bf2%), aged 38, joined the Group in 2010. Mr. Hu Jianjun
is the Chief Operating Officer of the Group and is responsible for the
operations, strategic planning in sales and raw paper procurement in
packaging division and maintain customers relationships. Mr. Hu Jianjun
obtained the undergraduate programme in design awarded by the
Wuchang Shouyi University (formerly known as Huazhong University of
Science and Technology (Wuchang campus)) in 2008. Mr. Hu Jianjun
is a son of Mr. Hu Hancheng (an executive Director and a substantial
Shareholder of the Company). Also, Mr. Hu Jianjun is a nephew of Mr.
Hu Hanchao (an executive Director and a substantial Shareholder of the
Company) and Mr. Hu Zheng (an executive Director and a controlling
Shareholder of the Company).

Mr. Tan Xijian (& #5 f2), aged 38, joined the Group in 2014. Mr. Tan is the
operational vice president of the Group and is responsible for the sales and
raw materials operation management. Mr. Tan was the general manager
in raw materials from 2014 to 2017 and was responsible for the formulation
of raw materials management and procurement strategies of the Group.
Prior to joining the Group, he had five years of project planning. Mr. Tan
obtained a degree in Business Administration from Guangdong University
of Technology in 2016. Mr. Tan Xijian is a son-in-law of Mr. Hu Hanchao (an
executive Director and a substantial Shareholder of the Company). Also,
Mr. Tan is a niece-in-law of Mr. Hu Hancheng (an executive Director and a
substantial Shareholder of the Company) and Mr. Hu Zheng (an executive
Director and a controlling Shareholder of the Company).
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Mr. Liu Haibo ( 2| /8 & ), aged 52, joined our Group in 2018. Mr. Liu is
the vice president of the Group, and is mainly responsible for daily
management of paper producing business segment of the Group and
in charge of paper sales and raw material management. Mr. Liu has over
27 years of experience in paper products sales and participated in the
marketing of paper products in various paper products enterprises. He
graduated tertiary level in international trade and marketing at Shandong
TV University and awarded the title of assistant economist.

Mr. Fu Guofa (f#B)%), aged 50, joined the Group in 2017. Mr. Fu is the vice
president of the Group, and is mainly responsible for daily management
of Zhongshan Rengo Hung Hing Paper Manufacturing Company Limited.
Mr. Fu has over 25 years of experience in the technical, production and
management skills in paper industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Fu
worked as deputy general manager in one of the subsidiaries of Nine
Dragons Paper (Holdings) Limited from 2010 to 2016 and was responsible
for the overall production management. Mr. Fu obtained an undergraduate
qualification majoring in pulp paper craft from Nanjing Forestry University
in 1997.

Mr. Zeng Chunlai (& %& 7K), aged 48, joined the Group in 1999. Mr. Zeng
currently serves as the managing vice president of the Group, and is
responsible for the management of daily operations of the Group's
packaging business as well as the marketing department. Mr. Zeng's
previous positions in the Group include director of quality control, director
of business, director of sales, deputy general manager of sales, and deputy
general manager of operations, during which he led the establishment
of the Company’s quality control system and enhanced the Company's
sales management system, sales costing and customer management
system. He has been involved in the development of a customer base
with various industry brands and has over 20 years of solid marketing
management experience. In 2017, Mr. Zeng was awarded the Group's
“Excellent Manager”. Mr. Zeng graduated from the School of Mechanical
and Electrical Engineering of Hunan University in 1996, majoring in applied
electronics.
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Mr. Zhu Dejun ((R1EE), aged 48, joined the Group in 2009. Mr. Zhu currently
serves as the vice president of the Group, and is responsible for the
management of the Group’s packaging business division (base and
packaging technology centre) of the packaging business. Mr. Zhu has
over 20 years of experience in sales and production management in the
packaging industry. Mr. Zhu's previous positions in the Group include
base director of operations, base deputy manager of sales, base director
of production, and base general manager. From 1999 to 2007, he served
as sales director of a Group company, and was responsible for base
sales management. In 2019, Mr. Zhu was awarded the Group’s “Excellent
Manager”. Mr. Zhu graduated from Hubei Xiangfan Normal College in
1993.

Company Secretary

Ms. Jiang Ying (/T # ), was appointed as the Company Secretary and
Authorized Representative of the Company on 31 March 2023. Ms. Jiang is
the Company Secretary and Finance Manager of the Company. Ms. Jiang
has around 10 years of experience in the corporate secretarial field. Ms.
Jiang is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and
an associate of both the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and
the Chartered Governance Institute. Ms. Jiang holds a master’s degree of
Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance from City University
of Hong Kong and a master’s degree of New Media from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong.
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The Directors are pleased to present to the shareholders their report
together with audited consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (together the "Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2022.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
of the Group are manufacturing and sale of paper, paperboard and paper-
based packaging products. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are
set out in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the
state of the Company’s and the Group's affairs as at that date are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 68 to 181 of this annual
report.

The Directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend of RMB1.42
cents (equivalent to HKD1.60 cents) per share to the shareholders on
the register of members on 28 June 2023, amounting to approximately
RMB7,100,000 and the retention of the profit for the year approximately
RMB40,067,000. The dividend will be payable in HKD. The exchange rate
will be based on the opening indicative counter exchange rate (Buying TT
for RMB) as on 31 March 2023 (the date of audited annual results’ board
meeting of the Company) disclosed by The Hong Kong Association of
Banks.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
for the financial year under review are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Share Capital
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company are set out in
note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

Distributable Reserves

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2022, calculated
in accordance with the provision of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981,
amounted to RMB5,007,000.

Five-year Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the latest five financial years is set out on page 182 of this annual report.

Reserves
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity respectively.
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Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed Securities of
the Company

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities shares during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no pre-emptive under the Company Bye-laws, or the laws in
Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

Tax Relief and Exemption
The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding the Company’s securities.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the Reporting Period.

Directors
The Directors of the Company during the year ended and up to the date of
this report were:

Mr. HU Zheng (Chairman)

Mr. HU Hancheng (Co-Chairman) (Mr. HU Jianjun as his alternate)
Mr. HU Hanchao (Mr. TAN Xijian as his alternate)

Mr. HU Jianpeng (appointed on 8 February 2022)

Mr. CHEN Riyue (resigned on 22 July 2022)
Ms. HU Jianwen (appointed on 22 July 2022)

Mr. CHUNG Kwok Mo John
Mr. LIEW Fui Kiang
Mr. SHIN Yick Fabian

The Company confirms that it has received from each of its independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of their independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), and it still considers that the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

Pursuant to Bye-Law 108 and Bye-Law 112 of the Company'’s Bye-Laws, Mr.
Hu Hanchao, Mr. Hu Jianpeng (“Mr. Hu"), Mr. Liew Fui Kiang (“Mr. Liew")
and Mr. Shin Yick Fabian (“Mr. Shin") shall retire from office by rotation
at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves was for re-
election as Directors at the AGM.
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Directors and Senior Management
The biographical details of Directors and Senior Management are set and
on pages 43 to 49 of this annual report.

Directors’ Service Contracts

The executive Directors namely, Mr. Hu Zheng, Mr. Hu Hancheng, Mr.
Hu Hanchao have renewed their service contracts with the Company for
a term of three years commencing from 1 January 2021. Mr. Hu Jianpeng
has entered into service contract with company for a term of three years
commencing from 8 February 2022. Both are subject to termination by
either party giving not less than three months’ written notice to the other.

The non-executive Director, Ms. Hu Jianwen have been appointed for a
term of one year commencing 22 July 2022. Both are subject to termination
by either party giving not less than one month’s written notice to the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors namely, Mr. Chung
Kwok Mo John, Mr. Liew Fui Kiang and Mr. Shin Yick Fabian have been
appointed for a term of one year commencing from 1 January 2022. Both
are subject to termination by either party giving not less than three months’
written notice to the other.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service
contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Permitted Indemnity Provision
As at the date of this report, all Directors of the Company were covered
under the liability insurance purchased by the Company for its Directors.

Emolument Policy

The emolument policies of the Directors and other employees are
formulated based on individual experience, qualification and over market
situation and are reviewed regularly, while the bonus is related to the
financial performance of the Group and the individual performance. The
Directors’ remunerations are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management (excluding
Directors) by band for the year ended 31 December 2022 was set out
below:
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Number of

individual

Remuneration band (RMB) FEMAA R (A R¥T) A
0-500,000 0-500,000 18
500,001-1,000,000 500,001-1,000,000 12
1,000,001 1,000,001 0

Details of the Directors’ emolument and emoluments of the five highest
paid individuals in the Group are set at the notes 13 and 14 to consolidated
financial statements.
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Director’s Interest in Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in the section headed “"Continuing Connected
Transactions” in this report and note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements, no Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year under review.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests in the Securities of the Company or its Associated
Corporations” and “Share Award Scheme”, at no time during the year
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their respective
spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or
was the Company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in the
Securities of the Company or Its Associated
Corporations

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executive(s) of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"))
as recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed issuers contained in the Listing Rules were as follows:

Name of Directors Name of Group member/
and Chief Executive associated corporation

Capacity/

Nature of interest
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Approximate
percentage
of shareholding

Number and class of
securities (Note 1)

Bk
TETHAEHE AKEREQNE HEEIEERE B EmtE BEHE RER (M) REMOBI
Mr. Hu Zheng The Company Interest of controlled 191,250,000 ordinary shares of 38.25%
corporation (Note 2) HKDO0.10 each
EAIESTAE ARA] Rt AEES (HEE2) 191,250,000 BB EE
01078 TL Y 3B A
Gorgeous Rich Development Beneficial owner 1 ordinary share of USD1.00 100%
Limited (“Gorgeous Rich") BEmBEAA 1 BREI{E1.003% 7T ) & i Ax
Mr. Hu Hancheng The Company Interest of controlled 93,750,000 ordinary shares of 18.75%
corporation (Note 3) HKDO.10 each
HERRSE A /NG| LA E R (FTRE3)  93,750,0000% & ik &
01078 To ) 3B A
Golden Century Assets Limited Beneficial owner 1 ordinary share of USD1.00 100%
("Golden Century") EnEEA 1 BEEE1.00FE T T B
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Name of Directors

Name of Group member/

and Chief Executive associated corporation

Capacity/

Nature of interest

Number and class of
securities (Note 1)

Approximate
percentage
of shareholding

BEER
TBARABKS ARERELT HHEMZE 56 WHEE B 8E REA () BREBOESL
Mr. Hu Hanchao The Company Interest of controlled 75,000,000 ordinary shares of 15%
corporation (Note 4) HKDO0.10 each
HREREE ZN/NG| Syl EEER (f5E4) 75,000,000 IR EAREE
01078 TTHY E iR AR
Leading Innovation Worldwide Beneficial owner 1 ordinary share of USD1.00 100%
Corporation (“Leading EmBEAA 1 AR EE1.003E T A I AR
Innovation”)
Ms. Hu Jianwen The Company Beneficial owner (Note 5) 15,000,000 ordinary shares of 3%
HKDO.10 each
FiltES Z/NC] BB A(HIEES) 15,000,000 & &A% E{E
01078 TTHY & iR
Fortune View Services Limited Interest of spouse 1 ordinary share of USD1.00 100%
("Fortune View") fid B 1 BEEE1.00FE T T B
Ms. Chen Wei The Company Beneficial owner 818,000 ordinary shares of 0.16%
HKDO.10 each
BRENZ L PN/N EmBEAA 818,000 fx & IXTE1E0.108 7THY
AR
Notes: B &E
1. All the interests stated above represent long positions. The percentage shown was 1. FFERERERER c MITBS L ABBESKEZTHA
the number of shares the relevant directors or chief executive was interested in BHERRANBRNEE  MEZZE-_—F+-A=+—HE%
expressed as a percentage of the number of issued shares as at 31 December 2022. TROEBEBDHERT °
These shares were held by Gorgeous Rich, which was wholly owned by Mr. Hu 2. Gorgeous Rich# A2 E M5 - MHALES-E2 & %A Gorgeous
Zheng. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Hu Zheng was deemed to be interested in the Rich « IRIEEH R EIE G0 - #A 1E 5t £ # 4% B 7 Gorgeous
shares held by Gorgeous Rich. RichFTRI B RN TR s o
These shares were held by Golden Century, which was wholly owned by Mr. Hu 3. Golden Century i B Z St - MBEREEZEHESR
Hancheng. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Hu Hancheng was deemed to be interested in Golden Century ° RIEE# LHIEGD] - AR ERR AR
the shares held by Golden Century. Golden CenturyFfT#78 8RR 15 6 1z o
These shares were held by Leading Innovation, which was wholly owned by Mr. Hu 4. Leading Innovation# B ZE M - MARPELELEER
Hanchao. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Hu Hanchao was deemed to be interested in the Leading Innovation ° iR¥EFE % K ERE (0] - AHERR L EAR
shares held by Leading Innovation. P Leading InnovationFTiE A B AR5 HE B 145 ©
These shares were held by Fortune View, which was wholly owned by Ms. Hu 5. Fortune View# B #2500 - MiAEERZ L2 & % B Fortune
Jianwen. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Hu Jianwen was deemed to be interested in the View o IRIEFEF KA EIRD] - A L T 147 S5 Fortune
shares held by Fortune View. ViewPT B MR D HER s ©
Save as disclosed above, no other interest or short position in the shares,  BREA_EPATHLPTIRERSN - ANA BB AN A RIS B EE

underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated ~ Z&{H * HERARGH RES - WARRERARRIERMF °
corporations were recorded in the register required to be kept by the

Company under Section 352 of the SFO.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in the Securities of

the Company

executive(s) of the Company, the following parties (other than directors
or chief executive(s) of the Company) were recorded in the register kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company, as being directly or indirectly interested or deemed to be

NTEE T

As at 31 December 2022, so far as are known to any directors or chief HRIZZT==

interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company.

FERRAA QTR SFHER

Number and class of shares
held in the Company

FH-A=t—B sEAEEFRARFEE
TTHRABRA  TIHALCGFESRARREERITHAR)
ARIEE S R E GRDIE 336G EN AR R FE SR
A - EREMREMNE AR B E R A REREEIRE
RERRATDBITIRANS%IA e -

Approximate
shareholding

Name of Shareholder Capacity/ Nature of interest percentage (Note 1) percentage
AR BRROHE R IRAEREA
REREH B HEmitE FHI(MEE) Bk
Gorgeous Rich (Note 2) Beneficial owner 191,250,000 ordinary shares of 38.25%
HKDO.10 each
Gorgeous Rich([ff52) BEmlEAA 191,250,000/% & AR E{E
010 TTEY & iBAX
Ms. Li Lifen (Note 2) Interest of spouse 191,250,000 ordinary shares of 38.25%
HKDO.10 each
FReS L (f2) iy das 191,250,000/% & AR H &
0108 TTEY EiBAX
Golden Century (Note 3) Beneficial owner 93,750,000 ordinary shares of 18.75%
HKDO.10 each
Golden Century(Ff7£3) BEmEAA 93,750,0008% i3 FEI{E
0.107%8 Ty E ik
Ms. Li Siyuan (Note 3) Interest of spouse 93,750,000 ordinary shares of 18.75%
HKDO.10 each
B (ME3) BB 93,750,000/% A% &
0.107% T8y E Ak
Leading Innovation (Note 4) Beneficial owner 75,000,000 ordinary shares of 15.00%
HKDO.10 each
Leading Innovation(F15£4) EmEA A 75,000,000/% &A% B
0.107% T8y & ik
Ms. He Lijuan (Note 4) Interest of spouse 75,000,000 ordinary shares of 15.00%
HKDO.10 each
Al 2 £ (MiaE4) Aot 75,000,000 & A E &
0.10/8 LY & A
RAYS Capital Partners Limited (Note 5) Investment manager/Beneficial owner/ 47,542,000 ordinary shares of 9.50%

RAYS Capital Partners Limited (Fff5E5)

Interest of controlled corporation
WEEE BB A/ ZREERE
R

HKDO.10 each
47,542,000/ F X EE
0.1078 LAY & AR
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Number and class of shares
held in the Company

Approximate
shareholding

Name of Shareholder Capacity/ Nature of interest percentage (Note 1) percentage
A ARRGBE R IRAEREA
REREHE 51 HmitE (A=) R
Mr. Ruan David Ching-chi (Note 6) Interest of controlled corporation 47,542,000 ordinary shares of 9.50%
HKDO.10 each
Ruan David Ching-chi &4 (FfizE6) R EE R 47,542,0000% X B
01078 TL Y 3B
Asian Equity Special Opportunities Beneficial owner 46,516,000 ordinary shares of 9.30%

Portfolio Master Fund Limited (Note 5)

Asian

=5

Equity Special Opportunities Xt TSN

Portfolio Master Fund Limited (Mf5E5)

Notes:

All the interests stated above represent long positions. The percentage shown was
the number of shares in the Company that the relevant director of chief executive
was interested in expressed as a percentage of the number of issued shares in the
Company as at 31 December 2022.

Gorgeous Rich is wholly-owned by Mr. Hu Zheng. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Hu
Zheng was deemed to be interested in the shares held by Gorgeous Rich. Ms. Li
Lifen is the spouse of Mr. Hu Zheng. Under the SFO, Ms. Li Lifen was taken to be

interested in the same number of shares in which Mr. Hu Zheng was interested.

Golden Century is wholly-owned by Mr. Hu Hancheng. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Hu
Hancheng was deemed to be interested in the shares held by Golden Century. Ms.
Li Si Yuan is the spouse of Mr. Hu Hancheng. Under the SFO, Ms. Li Si Yuan was
taken to be interested in the same number of shares in which Mr. Hu Hancheng was

Leading Innovation is wholly-owned by Mr. Hu Hanchao. By virtue of the SFO, Mr.
Hu Hanchao was deemed to be interested in the shares held by Leading Innovation.
Ms. He Lijuan is the spouse of Mr. Hu Hanchao. Under the SFO, Ms. He Lijuan was
taken to be interested in the same number of shares in which Mr. Hu Hanchao was

Asian Equity Special Opportunities Portfolio Master Fund Limited (“Asian Equity”)
is wholly-owned by RAYS Capital Partners Limited. Therefore, RAYS Capital Partners
Limited is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Asian Equity.

2.
3.

interested.
4.

interested.
5.
6.

The shares in RAYS Capital Partners Limited is held by Ruan David Ching-chi.
Therefore, he is deemed interested in all the Shares held by RAYS Capital Partners
Limited.

Save as disclosed above, no other interest or short position in the shares or

underlying shares in the Company were recorded in the Register.

i

HKDO0.10 each
46,516,000/ F L EIE
0.10/8 TR L AL

biiFrEESSRTE - BB D AREREES BN A
DERNEE  WME—E-_—F+-A=+—BARBEHT
BHBE B LER

HAIE 54 2 B Gorgeous Rich ° IRIEFEH LIS &M - $H1E
FEMAR B Gorgeous RichFTiF B MM A ER - TBH
T RAELENRS - RIEEHFRASED - TBE LT
EENEEEARARNERSE RO P EA#ER -

EIR A2 E A Golden Century  IRIZESH RS K]
HHZFR ST AR B Golden CenturyFTi B MR DB -
FREZLTAPERSEORS - REZFRBERN - =R
BT WEERIEIR S ARG AR B RNPRERE

25
m °

HRZEBAL A 2 B A Leading Innovation ° HRIEFEFH R HIE IF
Bl - B2 ST £ AR AR Leading Innovation BT A K I 0
B o MBI R T RIPER L ENER - BIFFHRAEK
Bl - BB L T4 B 1ER tERR St A R A i BRI 2B AR 1D
HEEERER o

Asian Equity Special Opportunities Portfolio Master Fund
Limited ([ Asian Equity |) FARAYS Capital Partners Limited &
EHA - Bt - RAYS Capital Partners Limited?® &% Asian
Equity PSR 1O 2 BP i &5 -

Ruan David Ching-chist£#5%8 RAYS Capital Partners Limited
f&f o B - HEER B ARAYS Capital Partners Limited T
FI DR 2 BB o

B Dl RERSD - B E A D R S B AT AAREEE B R AR -
HEAR O RERBNERIREENZELMA
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Share Award Scheme

The Company has adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) with a primary purpose of motivating our employees and
other eligible persons entitled under the Share Award Scheme to further
contribute to the Group and to reward them for their contribution to the
Group.

On 26 June 2019, the Board of Directors resolved to grant a total of
4,214,000 shares of the Company to 101 Selected Participants, who are
employees and independent of the Company pursuant to the Share Award
Scheme. Details of the grant to Selected Participants are as follows:

Number of Awarded Shares
RO E

Name of Participants

2RELHRD

IR 40 2 b=t &
ARREERAR D R8I ([ RGBT E ) - TREW
EEBIRG EEETEABE T REMAERAL - I’ E
UAREENER - RAREFBENERG T B -

RoZB—AERAZRA - EEERBIRIERG RN
ZE101 BB FL2REER B AR E)E 4,214,000 815

nup

Z2E2HEBRERENMBIYNARR - MIRELEERTF
=3/

Vesting Date
FEAS

4,214,000 Shares
4,214,0008% f% 1%

101 Selected Participants
101 2B E2EE

This Share Award Scheme was adopted on 23 April 2019 (the "Adoption
Date”). Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the Share Award Scheme
will remain in force for 10 years from the Adoption Date. As at the year
ended 31 December 2022, the remaining life of the Share Award Scheme is
approximately six years.

The 4,214,000 Awarded Shares to be granted to the Selected Participants
represent (i) approximately 0.84% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of the announcement on 26 June 2019;
and (ii) the value of HK$5,183,220, taking into account of the average
closing price of HK$1.23 per Share as stated in the daily quotation sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant.

The maximum number of shares which may be awarded to an employee
selected under the Scheme is 1 per cent.

Further details of the Scheme are set out in note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements.

On 26 June 2019
RZZE—NFARA=+<AH

ZETEN—E-NFHAZT=B(RABH DFRW - [5
FERTTRURRIERT - & RIBKD 2R =1 15 e BR o B BRE —
HER AHtE -BE-T-—F+-_A=+—HALF
B - AT IR R BN EF o

AEHEIEBRE 2 EE R HR4,214,0000% S2BI XD FHE F)
RRABRZZE—NEANAZ+NBASEBHZ B BITRD
EE40.84% ¢ (i) {B1ES,183,220/8 7T (i M E2ER T
HHEIRI A BB T8 3 HRERTHRZ Tk
TESKRRM1.2387T) -

el ER2E AT ERER FIR1% -
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Details of the interests of executive Directors, Chief Executive Officer five
top-paid employees (include Chief Executive Officer) (total) in the year 2022
and other grantees (total) in the Awarded Shares are set out below.

BREARRNTES TRERLE T _FESSH
Bife B (BIRTTRAEEL) (A 25) REMERA (S ) MEEER
BinmESFBEINMT -

Number of shares
RAHE
Shares
acquired
during
Number of Asat the year Vested Sold Lapsed Asat
Awarded  Vesting 1 January out of the during during during 31 December
Date of award Shares  period 2022 dividends the year the year the year 2022
ERfE
R0226  REMBE 120228
#REH #ERORE  £74 1R MR EAEF  EAME FREM AN
Executive Director N/A N/A - N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
HiTEs TER TER  TER TER TER TER TER TR TR
Chief Executive Officer
TR
Ms. Chen Wei 26 June 2019 152000 26 June 2019 152,000 - - - - 152,000
[ e ZE-NEAAZTRA ZE-NFAAZTRA
Five Top-paid Employees (include 26 June 2019 426000 26 June 2019 426,000 - - - - 426,000
Chief Executive Officer)
BERNRESEHHES ZB-nERRZTRA ZE-nERAZTRA
(BEMHER)
Other Selected Employees 26 June 2019 3788000 26 June 2019 3,636,000 = = 158,000 = 3,478,000
HARES ZE-NEAAZTRA ZE-NEAAZTRA

The Board may, from time to time and at its sole discretion, select any
eligible person to participate in the Share Award Scheme and determine
the number of Shares to be awarded and the terms and conditions of
the awards. Awards shall be satisfied by Shares acquired in the market at
the prevailing market price and no new Shares will be allotted and issued
under the Share Award Scheme. The trustee of the Share Award Scheme
(the “"Trustee”) shall hold the awarded shares on trust for the award
holders until the awarded Shares are vested in the relevant award holders
according to the Share Award Scheme rules. Upon vesting, the Trustee
shall either transfer the vested awarded Shares at no cost to such award
holders or sell the vested awarded Shares at the then prevailing market
price by way of market order and remit the net proceeds to the award
holders in accordance with the direction given by such award holders.

The Board will constantly review and determine at its absolute discretion
such number of Awarded Shares to be awarded to the selected persons
under the Share Award Plan with such vesting conditions as the Board may
deem appropriate.

B TRZE2ENEREERE S ERALLHE
P B2 EhET 8 M EE R IR T OB D B B A R ER B R IR
11 - RENS AR ER TER TS LB E RO BN M
TERIER ) SREDFT BIBC 3 MBI TERFARL - BfD 2RED
FEINERA(ZRREADEBAEESASEBHAARE
BRI - EERBRNRERN ERERNEETH
BREBEARL - REBE  IFEARRRZE RS
BARLOETR  HERBRZZBRNEEERTREE
BFEA  SRMELRERRITCMERKNECRE L
BB WA PGS RIRFRREN T REFB A -

=g/ TERS R ERIBETRERD ZREBIRE
FEURERARENARBBIRITHAEEALRENE
BB A -
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Equity-linked Agreements

Other than the Share Award Scheme of the Company as disclosed above,
no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares or that require the Company to enter into any agreements that
will or may result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the
Company during the year.

Material Acquisition, Disposal and Investment

The Group'’s indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, Zheng Ye Packaging
(Zhongshan) Company Limited (“Zheng Ye Packaging (Zhongshan)”),
entered into a sale and purchase agreement on 22 October 2021 to
acquire the entire equity interest in Zhongshan City Zheng Ye Leasing
Company Limited (“Zheng Ye Leasing”) at an aggregate consideration
of RMB186,000,000. The Completion took place on 10 February 2022,
following the Completion, Zheng Ye Leasing has become an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Connected Transactions

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements also constituted connected transactions
under the Listing Rules, and are required to be disclosed in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The following transactions between
certain connected parties (as defined in the Listing Rules) and the Company
have been entered into and/or are ongoing for which relevant disclosure
had been made by the Company in the announcement dated 1 January
2020.

Continuing Connected Transactions

Under the de minimis provision set forth in Rule 14A.33 of the Listing Rules
and is therefore exempt from reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions

The following transactions between member of our Group constitute
non-exempt continuing connected transaction of our Company under
Rule 14A.33 of the Listing Rules since the applicable percentage ratios
(other than the profits ratio) are greater than 5% on an annual basis and
with annual consideration being greater than HKD1,000,000.

R R 8175 5

B EX PR AN R AR 8 - N A RIS AL &
R SN E AR E AR R AR - e s
BYARRBETEN - SHREAR BRI LM A 5L
BRARRBETRO AW

BERKE - HERKRE
REEZHEZ2ENBRAR  EEBE(RL)ERAF
(TEEa#E(HhL) )R- BE-—F+A-+-HFTEZ
Wk BRI EEHRERR AR EERE]MEE
i - BAREBAARE186,000,0007 c R -Z - —F—
BTREZEEEHETRE  EEREEKABEAARINE
2 EWNBAA -

BHERXS

MEMERMENRENE THESRZRIE LR
TMERKEER S - BARE EHRAIE14AE TIAREE -
ETHES(EZR LTREARBDITLTIRS
K,/ SETRE R BARRRI N TR S EFFEET
BARRERZZE-_ZF - A - HOHRASAEL BB

o

HERERS
ETRAIE1AABENRIRR R AT - BT EE %
| - D RIBULARFRA

TERRFEBRERS

IRIR TR 14A 3306 - AEERK 8 AR 2R T
RS ERRE T AERE S L ECERILLEBIN S
5% B4 B A% [E = R1,000,0008 7T - EULER R ERS
BERERS -
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Zheng Ye Packaging (Zhongshan), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and Zheng Ye Leasing entered into three tenancy agreements
made between Zheng Ye Leasing as landlord and Zheng Ye Packaging
(Zhongshan) as tenant in respect of the letting of the premises as
summarized below:

o Date and subject matter of each tenancy agreement:

- Tenancy agreement dated 1 January 2020 (the “First Tenancy
Agreement”) in relation to the letting of premises located
at Dongcheng Road, Dongshen Town, Zhongshan City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC for use as our production site
with a total gross floor area of approximately 36,475 sq.m..

- Tenancy agreement dated 1 January 2020 (the “Second
Tenancy Agreement”) in relation to the letting of premises
located at No. 126 Dongcheng Road, Dongshen Town,
Zhongshan City, Guangdong Province, the PRC for use as our
production site with a total gross floor area of approximately
7,844 sgq.m..

- Tenancy agreement dated 1 January 2020 (the “Third Tenancy
Agreement”) in relation to the letting of premises located
at Nos. 119 and 126 Dongcheng Road, Dongshen Town,
Zhongshan City, Guangdong Province, the PRC for use as our

workshop and canteen respective site with total gross floor
areas of approximately 2,622 sq.m. and 304 sq.m. respectively.

o Monthly rental and management fee payable:

- The First Tenancy Agreement is in amount of RMB468,797.

- The Second Tenancy Agreement is in amount of RMB100,810.

- The Third Tenancy Agreement is in amount of RMB37,604.

- The monthly rent payable for the renewal term under each
of the renewed Tenancy Agreements will be the then market
rent provided that any upward adjustment to the monthly rent
will be subject to a cap of not more than 10% of the monthly
rent payable immediately prior to the expiration of the original
term.

o Rental deposit paid:
- The First Tenancy Agreement in amount of RMB300,000.

- The Second Tenancy Agreement in amount of RMB100,000.

- The Third Tenancy Agreement in amount of RMB50,000.

ARBZEMBAREXBE (P REXHERBEZ
EMEMIZ—HAE R - EXHESET  LXEXK
() REF - BREBERA T

s  FHEBBRHAMLEE :

- ZE-_ZF—A—B(F—-HrHAEHBZR])
NABERAMAPEERE R ILTRAE
RWRKBERYE  (EARMMEES - B2
SEMEELN B36,475F 7K -

- ZE-_ZF—A—B(F-rAEmB=ZR])
NABERAMAPEERE R ILTRAHE
B 1265802 - 1EARMIMAEEMSL -
BEERMAENA7,844F 5K o

- CE-TF--A(E=fERHE)
PO A5 B R o B 3 o LL T R P
R 1I9RI26H W% - 5B EARME
FMRER - @REEEAES HIKA2622
FHKRISTHK -
+  SARNESRERE:
- EHEEHHLTEAARES I -
~  E-HEEBREEAARKI0810T ¢
—  ESHHEBRSEAARK AT -
- EEEEBRAOEOSABNES - KE
BhEReHE  BEARLNERA - 1

AT BEEERRIAREm AR E A ENE
T10% R °

. ENHASZRE -
- FE-(hHEEmESEAARE300,0007T
— B HmhHEEHESFEAARE100,0007T

-  BE=(HHlEHESEAARKES0,0007T °
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During the year, the rental and management fee of the premises from
Zheng Ye Leasing amounted to VAT inclusive of RMB607,211 (2021:
RMB7,143,660).

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions of the Company and have confirmed
that these transactions have been entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms; and

(i) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The auditors of the Company have reported to the Directors that during
the financial year:

() the above continuing connected transactions have been approved
by the board of Directors;

(i) the above continuing connected transactions have been entered
into in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing such
transactions; and

(i) the respective cap amounts set out in the relevant agreements
referred to above have not been exceeded.

The Group'’s indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, Zheng Ye Packaging
(Zhongshan), entered into a sale and purchase agreement on 22 October
2021 to acquire the entire equity interest in Zheng Ye Leasing. The
Completion took place on 10 February 2022, following the Completion,
Zheng Ye Leasing has become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company.

Charitable Donations
During the Reporting Period, the Group made charitable donations of
RMB889,942.

Corporate Governance
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report of the annual report.

Mode Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules. All the Directors of the Company have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

FR - REEEEECRERENRNDERSREERR
AREES7 21T (Z T = —F : ARET7,143,6607T) ©

BT E ST BHARE LN ERE
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X5 WHER

() EAEBLERAEERBEDRIL

(i)  R—PAREEMKETL : R

(i) HERRFBRRBATAIEEFESABENRNGE
K RERESAZZHARMBZR]L -

ARRZHECNEFSER  NUWRFE

() LAFEREXZFOLEFTSUA

(i)  LuiRsiEREE
HEIAL - &

RZERBREZFTRZNIHZEIF

(i) EAEREHFES 8 LRI KRB

AEBZEZE2EMBAR  EXeK(PIUORZ
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Major Customers and Suppliers

In the year under review, 17.51% of the Group's revenue was attributable
to the Group's five largest customers and sales to the Group's largest
customer accounted for 4.10% of the Group's revenue for the year. 55.48%
of the Group's total purchases was attributable to the Group's five largest
supplier and purchases from the Group's largest supplier accounted for
21.18% of the Group is total purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates or shareholders, who to the
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital, had an interest in these major customers or suppliers.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

During the year, no Directors of the Company or their respective associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) were considered to have an interest in
a business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than those businesses
of which the Directors were authorised to represent the interests of the
Company and/or the Group.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float during the year and up to the date of this report under the
Listing Rules.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the AGM.

By order of the Board

Hu Zheng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023

IEEFRHAER
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B8 A% B A

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ZHENGYE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
EXBEBRZERER AR

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhengye
International Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 68
to 181, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key audit matter
RRETER

BRETEEGE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEEEBNPIIREBREENSE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables not backed by bank bills and contract assets

BROTRBAREANEZBRFARESHNEENRETE

We identified the impairment assessment of trade receivables
not backed by bank bills and contract assets as a key audit matter
due to the management’s judgment and estimates involved in the
determining provision for expected credit loss (“"ECL").
EERBRTRB/RENE SR N A HEEMRER @5
RERESEE  DAREERAGEEFE( BRUEEBE RGBS
NEREHE S Atat -

As disclosed in notes 4 and 39 to the consolidated financial
statements, the ECL on contract assets and trade receivables
not backed by bank bills is assessed individually for debtors and
contract assets with significant balances or credit-impaired and/
or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate groupings
based primarily on the debtors’ ageing profiles. The provision rates
applied in the provision matrix are estimated using the historical
observed default rates of the debtors and contract assets taking
into consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable,
supportable and available to the directors of the Company without
undue costs or effort, and are updated if considered to be required.
AR A TSR M A RIOAKE - A NEERBRITRERR
BB RSN S - BN AAREEGSEREERERNRT R
BREE  HHEEBFEGUEBFA R SERFEENEBAR
HREREE D AN B EREN SRR ETHE - BEBEMEA
BEE - DANABEEENERNENEEENX  FTRARRES
BATE NV ENKASE NI ERNSEARE(AELEBR
TR RIRIIE I B R 1T k5T ©

As disclosed in notes 21 & 23 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amount of trade receivables not
backed by bank bills and contract assets as at 31 December
2022, are RMB590,001,000 (net of allowance for credit losses of
RMB5,476,000) and RMB9,377,000 (net of allowance for credit losses
of nil), respectively.

MANAR S TSR M T2 R23FAHE RS F+=-A=+—
B BROTZBEAEENESRIKFERSHNEENREBED RIAA
R #590,001,0007T (F0FR 5 E B 1EE 5 AR #5,476,0007T) B A R #&
9,377,000t (MK EEBERREET) -

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of the
trade receivables not backed by bank bills and contract assets
included:
EERBRITEBREENE S RWFIENE K EERREE
FrETTIZ P B4

o Obtaining an understanding of the management process
in assessing the estimated provision for ECL for trade
receivables not backed by bank bills and contract assets;

. THREBEHNERTEBREENE ZRUFIERA L
BEMGRAEEEENAHEENERF

J Evaluating the reasonableness of the management'’s
determination of the estimated loss rates (with reference
to historical default rates, internal credit rating, and
publicly available forward-looking information);

. MEERELLERAROE ANEENR - AHRATE
ERATIE M ERARE M EEERR TSR

o Testing the accuracy of the ageing analysis of the trade
receivables not backed by bank bills on a sample basis to
the supporting documents;

o HMBEREXRXM  REERTREBREENEZEUGK
TR ERER DT HOZERE ML

o Checking the accuracy of the management’s calculation
of ECL for trade receivables not backed by bank bills and
contract assets under provision matrix;

s MEEREFRERTEBEREENEZRKFIERAGNE
ERRE AR IR EE R E AR

o Evaluating the historical accuracy of estimated provision
for ECL for trade receivables not backed by bank bills and
contract assets.

o  FIMABEHITERTEBER/ARENEZRKFIARANE
EEPT A ET B ZERE I -
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Other Information
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with
Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Hit &
BEARESAURMANAE - HOENEFRAME
AR BT EFAMERERESRULELNEBHE

==

EEHRAVBRRNERL TVREREMER - HFTHA
HZFHMERBER T AR EE SR
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B EERETEEEMENE D BEAMBHRRIES
EEHBETHTROBAFEEAEBREUTFES
RERELNIER - ERBEFEATHILE - HEFRR
GZEMERNFEERERRL - EEFTEREZFE - &
EH  BEHFWEEMRE
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor'’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We

REMRBERGS M BRRARENEME

EENEEEHRAMBHRREBES M EANKEEX
HRMEBNEAFRRARSAERE  YHABES
EERNRHBAHRE - EEERBARERREEOMG
[ EATERBE)REETNER - Rt 2RSS
BHMAN EETERARENATHEMEMALE
BYAREAEE - aBREZSKTORE - BETER
BRREBBHEAETHETER —EAERBAFE
R ABREEEIR - SARRERAL AT A ARFF S ERRR B » WA IETR
HASRRR R B B R [ AR AR ] RE R B e R B IKREAR A B 75
WRAELERERE - RIBBSEREREBERX °

ERIRIEE BB R FTETTET TIEN—&2 - RE
BIETESZERTEFHE YRS ERRREE - &

s

also: R

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the e A R A AR REF AR MRS B HRERT
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, EERFERRAAERR - ReT R TEZIZE T A JE
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, HZERRE - AERTEMEENEARE  ER
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to EEEROER - BREGEI e RBHE - HiE
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material BRER  EREMFSOZENEES 2 £ BitR
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting BEEE IR K HREF M S BB E AR sR PR L A B B i A R
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional REESIR SRR MB B E RS R PR A R R o
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit THREFEHEMOAEES - ARFHEENEIE
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the P BEEMIWIEE BRERIEFINERILER
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on BA e
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the o FHMEEE R A G BERN R KA R &5t
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures FTAER B EE R S IR o
made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going HESRARELCE ST ERNRSEHIEL &R -
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence IRBRFTERAETRE - e FEMEEIRNE
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events NEBAHBEATEEN - KMAEERE HE5E
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability WIBECERRNEXERGER - WESRAFTLE
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material APHEEN - BBV EEZEMRETIRBEERE
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s A BARA M MEPOEBEEE - WG ERET
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial B RIESEERRIIBERBER - EENEHRT
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our EREEZEA IS A B IEFTEVSHERTRE - A
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained i AREBBEHIERATEES EEETEFEL
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or & o
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Stephen C. L. Yuen.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

31 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Ao 18 g A CHCA 4 T 2 R

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_T-_—F+-A=-1+—HLEE

2022 2021
—EC-CHF T
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
BaaE AR®T T AREET T
Revenue A 5 3,013,957 3,558,009
Cost of sales SHEKA (2,672,227) (2,881,037)
Gross profit ES 341,730 676,972
Other income Ha A 7 138,337 50,715
Impairment losses under expected credit loss model, 1R IETEIHEE EIBEAGHRRE
net of reversal E518 - MkR#EE 8 2,146 (1,288)
Other gains and losses H bl es & E518 9 (4,343) (26,276)
Distribution and selling expenses DIENIHEE A (92,103) (98,569)
Administrative expenses TR (131,637) (169,821)
Finance costs BbE RS 10 (59,600) (62,831)
Other expenses H < (1,275) (470)
Research and development costs B (116,388) (131,116)
Profit before tax BRA AL A 11 76,867 237,316
Income tax expense PSRRI < 12 (8,263) (29,038)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year ~ F @A & 2 H IR 258 68,604 208,278
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year AT A (G F s | & 2 U E
attributable to: FEECR
Owners of the Company RABEER A 47,167 160,841
Non-controlling interests FEFEAR A 21,437 47,437
68,604 208,278
Earnings per share STieeEhl
Basic (RMB) HARARE) 16 0.09 0.32

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SR e AR LR
At 31 December 2022
RZEZ—F+=A=+—H

2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—4F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5E AR¥T T ARET T
Non-current Assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB R 17 1,370,453 1,132,113
Right-of-use assets ERERE 18 174,010 193,094
Intangible assets EREE 19 12,616 5,416
Deferred tax assets BT IEEE 31 335 11,223
Deposits for acquisition of property, plant and Ui - RE REERS
equipment 31,037 29,499
1,588,451 1,371,345
Current Assets REBEE
Inventories =& 20 228,353 223,283
Trade and other receivables B 5 Rk E AW IE 21 805,278 1,101,478
Contract assets GHEE 23 9,377 15,550
Tax recoverable A B IE 8,348 323
Pledged bank deposits BIIFRI T 24 64,016 92,368
Bank balances and cash SRITESRNIRE 24 279,840 229,581
1,395,212 1,662,583
Current Liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 K E M EN A 25 356,910 337,347
Consideration payables ENRE 26 5,809 5,818
Tax liabilities MIERE 2,219 11,521
Bank and other borrowings SRIT R EHAMfER 27 870,919 1,022,356
Lease liabilities HEAE 28 5,119 15,458
Contract liabilities ABHBEE 29 7,158 8,025
Amounts due to directors BN EEFZE 30 46,746 443
1,294,880 1,400,968
Net Current Assets REBEERE 100,332 261,615
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities BEABRABAS 1,688,783 1,632,960
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BB IR DL R

At 31 December 2022
KRB —F+=-R=+—H

2022 2021
—E-CHF T4
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000

f AR¥TT ARET T

Capital and Reserves BEAXK#HE
Share capital A& 32 41,655 41,655
Share premium and reserves NRA (B K R 1,072,034 1,069,867
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RNATER ANE(L R 1,113,689 1,111,522
Non-controlling interests el iy Fa 288,867 270,430
Total Equity ERmE 1,402,556 1,381,952

Non-current Liabilities FkRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIEEE 31 6,087 8,737
Consideration payables FERHRAE 26 - 5,681
Amounts due to directors EE0E 30 44,640 =
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EAME TR 27 183,266 169,098
Lease liabilities HEaE 28 25,915 29,857
Deferred income EIEYWA 34 26,319 37,635
286,227 251,008
1,688,783 1,632,960

The consolidated financial statements on pages 68 to 181 were approved ®EEE@W T - =F=F=+— B &ERIZETI3E68
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2023 and ~ Z181ERGAMEHE - WHA FTALTRARE !
are signed on its behalf by:

Hu Zheng Hu Hancheng
HHIE HHER
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF EF
Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited 70 Annual Report 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
AR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_T-_—F+-A=-1+—HLEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

F ARG AL

Non-
Share Share  Statutory Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve profits ~ Sub-total interests Total
RA  BRARE EERE  HttRE  8FER Mt FERER FRRER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARKETT ARETT
(note a) (note b)
(Ba)  (MiEEb)
At 1 January 2021 RZF=—F—f—H 41,655 92,968 134,911 (23,389) 719,536 965,681 223,893 1,189,574
Profit and total comprehensive ERENRE2AKRER
income for the year - - - - 160,841 160,841 47,437 208,278
Dividend paid (note 15) ERRRE (FiFH15) - - = - (15,000) (15,000) = (15,000)
Dividend paid to a non-controlling ~ EfTIEZERRRARS
interest - - - - - - (900) (900)
Transfer to statutory reserve ERELTHE - - 7,289 - (7,289) - - -
At31 December 2021 WoBo—F+-B=t-B 41655 9298 142200 (2339) 858088  1,111522 270430  1,381952
Profit and total comprehensive ERENRE2AKRER
income for the year - - - - 47,167 47,167 21,437 68,604
Dividend paid (note 15) BARE(HEE15) - - - - (45,000) (45,000) - (45,000)
Dividend paid to a non-controlling ~ EATIEZERRRAES
interest - - - - - - (3,000) (3,000)
Transfer to statutory reserve BRDLERE - - 3,282 - (3,282) - - -
At 31 December 2022 R-E-_—&#+-A=1+—H 41,655 92,968 145,482 (23,389) 856,973 1,113,689 288,867 1,402,556
Notes: Ft%E

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC"), the subsidiaries established in the PRC are required to provide
for the PRC statutory reserve, by way of appropriations from their respective
statutory net profit (based on the subsidiaries’ PRC statutory financial statements)
but before dividend distributions.

In accordance with the Articles of Association of certain subsidiaries established in
the PRC, those subsidiaries are required to transfer 10% of the profit after taxation

to the statutory reserve.

Certain subsidiaries’ appropriations to the funds are made at the discretion of the
subsidiaries’ board of directors. The board of directors of the subsidiaries shall
decide on the amounts to be appropriated based on the profitability of each

subsidiary each year.

(a)

R E ARAME([FEDAEERER - NP BRI
BARARKERSIE BN KRES B REEARN (ERZ
HYE R B & BURE M T53RR ) slh BURE R (B -

BRERHERZNE THERRMNAMSIZER  ZE5HER
RIRBRERRTUREAA10% TIEERHE

ETHEBARSESHEREZMBRARNETSWIBIEL -
EFX2ARBEFRMBARMNBNENRES TREMSNS
e

(o)  The amount mainly relates to reserve arising from group reorganisation carried (b)) ZELHEFBEAEBMR - ——FEFLARRROREBHE
out by the Group (as defined in note 1) in preparation for the public listing of the RMABRRR([BERA]) EiETEEEACERE L)
Company's shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock FREEAfREMHERE -

Exchange”) in 2011.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HEEHESRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_Z_—F+-_A=+—HLFE

2022 2021
—EC-CHF T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES R
Profit before tax BRBE A& A 76,867 237,316
Adjustments for: FRATSIEEL AR
Finance costs A& AR 59,600 62,831
Interest income FBUTA (3,731) (4,573)
Impairment losses (reversed) recognised on BEER(8E(0)E 5 & E AU IE
trade and other receivables REEE (2,146) 1,288
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M - BRE RERETE 109,278 96,105
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 15,370 20,331
Amortisation of intangible assets mR R 2,313 602
Impairment losses recognised on property, ERRYE - BFE REERE
plant and equipment [E18 - 22,229
Loss on disposals of property, plant and LEWE  BREREREEE -
equipment, net pik:c] 817 1,377
Exchange gain on borrowings fﬁ EE A BV RE K U e (1,928) (930)
Government grants amortised from deferred KB ST WA £ O TR B
income (12,110) (4,488)
Operating cash flows before movements in LEEREPHHLEHEERE
working capital 244,330 432,088
Increase in inventories FEEM (12,441) (54,869)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 Kk E AR GRIEE N (89,379) (655,183)
Decrease in contract assets BHEERD 6,173 3,078
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 N CH M S FRIBIE AN 18,808 101,833
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities ABHBEEMN (867) 4,442
Decrease in amounts due to directors FERNESRRIER D (197) (64)
Cash generated from (used in) operations KEEBFTS(FTE)IRE 166,427 (168,675)
Income tax paid BERFEHE (17,665) (26,309)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING REZXBHEBFIARESFEHE
ACTIVITIES 148,762 (194,984)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

A A2y EL
FEllEmER
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_Z_—_Ft-A=1+—HLFE

2022 2021
—EC-CHF T
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
gz AR¥T T ARET T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXTE
Interest received B UF S 3,731 5,556
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - RE RRESHIE
equipment 18,758 26,289
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEYE - BE &R (152,328) (206,22¢6)
Purchases of intangible assets HBEEFLEE (1,604) (562)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, BEYE - BERREMTZES
plant and equipment (31,037) (29,499)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of a subsidiary WEEKTE A RIIR & m L FE8 35 (94,448) -
Consideration paid for acquisition of a subsidiary U BEHT B A RIFTHR (B 26 (5,940) (12,130)
Placement of pledged bank deposits TFABEIBRITER (149,609) (200,339)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits B B AR ERI TR 177,961 214,372
Receipt of government grant relating to non-current  UKEUE BA3E 7 B) & EE 2 BRI i AL
assets 794 5,105
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXEKFTAESFEHE (233,722) (197,434)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEXEK
Interest paid EFE (59,350) (62,033)
Dividend paid B E (45,000) (15,000)
Dividend paid to a non-controlling interest BT IR A R AR B (3,000) (900)
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BBIRIT R EAER (813,018) (852,547)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEEEAE (10,543) (15,391)
New bank and other borrowings raised HiERIT M A e 1,066,130 1,382,503
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEXBFERLTE 135,219 436,632
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH REeRBEEEYEM
EQUIVALENTS FE 50,259 44,214
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ReERREZEEY
At 1 January n—HA—H 229,581 185,367
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERBRESEEY
At 31 December Rt+=-—A=+—H
represented by bank balances and cash BMRTTAE R IR & 279,840 229,581
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BB R T

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_T-_—F+-A=-1+—HLEE

General Information

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the corporate information section to
the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Mr. Hu
Zheng, Mr. Hu Hancheng, Mr. Hu Hanchao and Ms. Hu Jianwen,
who collectively own 75% of the Company’s shares in aggregate and
act in concert, are regarded as the controlling shareholders of the
Company.

The principal activities of its subsidiaries are mainly engaged in
manufacture and sale of paper, paperboard and paper-based
packaging products. The Company and its subsidiaries are
hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB"), the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the Company and its principal subsidiaries operate.

Application of Amendments to Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments

to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily

effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on or after 1

January 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial

statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Property, Plant and Equipment —

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 16

Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2018-2020

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group's financial positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
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Application of Amendments to Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRSs") (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to
the Conceptual Framework

The Group has applied the amendments to business combinations
for which the acquisition date was on or after 1 January 2022. The
amendments update a reference in HKFRS 3 Business Combinations
so that it refers to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework") instead
of Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements (replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2010 issued in October 2010), add a requirement that,
for transactions and events within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
Levies, an acquirer applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of
the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed
in a business combination and add an explicit statement that an
acquirer does not recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.

The application of the amendments in the current year has had no
impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 16 Property,
Plant and Equipment - Proceeds before Intended Use

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments specify that the costs of any item
that were produced while bringing an item of property, plant and
equipment to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management (such
as samples produced when testing whether the relevant property,
plant and equipment is functioning properly) and the proceeds from
selling such items should be recognised and measured in the profit
or loss in accordance with applicable standards. The cost of the items
are measured in accordance with HKAS 2 Inventories.

The application of the amendments in the current year has had
no significant impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance.
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2. Application of Amendments to Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRSs") (Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments

to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts'
October 2020 and
February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback®

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)'

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies'

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Definition of Accounting Estimates'
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction'

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
Group's consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Application of Amendments to Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong

Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current
or non-current, which:

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of
the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only if the entity
recognises the option separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the
end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the liability
within 12 months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the requirements introduced by the 2020 Amendments
have been modified by the 2022 Amendments. The 2022
Amendments specify that only covenants with which an entity is
required to comply with on or before the end of the reporting
period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting date. Covenants which are
required to comply with only after the reporting period do not affect
whether that right exists at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could become
repayable within twelve months after the reporting period, if the
entity classify liabilities arising from loan arrangements as non-
current when the entity’s right to defer settlement of those liabilities is
subject to the entity complying with covenants within twelve months
after the reporting period.
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2. Application of Amendments to Hong Kong FERAEEMBHREEN(EBUBERE
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") (Continued) XA BT ()
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as BB ENFIRUETR)BEBES EARR
Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong FRBURKEEREESH ZHEEET (==
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Z2F)([ZZ=SFETA ) REBSTERE
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants HUERT R M FRENFERBEBE(=B==F&
(the “2022 Amendments"”) (Continued) AAD (&)
The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of applying AR - —FEIANE S F B AN E
the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods beginning on or HMBHELEE —FE_MF— )E] EI_}ZZ@?:E*EJ?AE'Ji
after 1 January 2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with the 2020 EHREH - BT - —FEITER_Z-TFE
Amendments, are effective for annual reporting periods beginning AINEARZZE_NE—A—H 2 BFRRNEE
on or after 1 January 2024, with early application permitted. If an WA WASTIRAER - WERBE-S - —F{&
entity applies the 2020 amendments for an earlier period after the AIAREMENREHEERA S T FETA - 8
issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity should also apply the 2022 ZERBMENAARREER S - —FB5I4K -
Amendments for that period.
Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2022, BEAEEN-_Z_—_F+_A=+—HHKREE
the application of the 2020 and 2022 Amendments will not result in BE EBRZZ-_ZER-_ZT__FEILTES
reclassification of the Group's liabilities. AEBEBEEEFHHE -
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 EEETEAEIRETR) REBHBERELER
Disclosure of Accounting Policies vt L E PEACCHEN-HE &
HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant KIEET BB G ERE1RUIERNSTBEE
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”. BIRRAEIERGBRINER - E—HEE
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered BETHOR BRI B E B Rk A AT EL A B Ath & Y
together with other information included in an entity’s financial K AIAABESNSH —RUBHREEERRER
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that BZEVBRRELOATEETLE - AIEHEE:
the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on HERBEHBEAME -
the basis of those financial statements.
The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may BRABETINES - ERERS - B SHs&s
be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other IEE - BMESFEI TEKX - S BEER IR A
events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, BEAEE @ HWIFFMAERERR S « HhE{HFk
not all accounting policy information relating to material transactions, GERENSTTERREIBERNLE - EEEE
other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to BERBRIFSASTHBRER - A BEBEER T SRR
disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such information BARSFBORER
must not obscure material accounting policy information.
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the %15: M mEERNBEBNER2RB EAMEIEL A
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity Er([EBEAE ) IMELERT - Ml g ig[ Y
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy EERELR | EARGHBERE  WrIHEHE
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting B BENEHEEVBRASTBEN G - B
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and examples NEFIEESI KR -
are added to the Practice Statement.
The application of the amendments is not expected to have JERZEIERT BRI RS EN M BT RIR
significant impact on the financial position or performance of the EXEAXE Mg ERSEEESHR
Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group's significant HIREE - BRARSEIZZE (WA ) R AKER
accounting policies. The impacts of application, if any, will be REVERE B TS HRR PR -
disclosed in the Group's future consolidated financial statements.
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Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is reasonably expected
to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving the
consolidated financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis at the end of each reporting period, as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories, or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

3
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) BEREHEEE

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements UEoh - BB HREM S - AR E BARAA(ER

are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which BB ABBABEERERANENE 2B ARBE

the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the HERR/ SEMI S RE—  ZR=F  Fiw

significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, N

which are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets o FE—RBABIBE DB RN E‘|’i HEA R0 B2
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the TS AR B E 8BRS 2 WECREH
measurement date; %)

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included o FE_RBABBRIAE—RFAHREUINZ
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, MARE  MZEEE M EEEESNEE
either directly or indirectly; and FTEESFEEBER 2 BARE : &

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. o FE=RMABBRIEERABE 2 A EREH

ABUE -

The significant accounting policies are set out below. FESHBERENAT -

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial FEVBRERBEARARRRAR A REAWE A FZE

statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company il 2 (32 ISRk - R IEAR AT

and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee; o AEREHRRITEZEN

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its o ARENF A2 EREHRAE B R &R
involvement with the investee; and RiED R

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. . ERHENAZEH D -

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts WMEEERERNETR EM=18FRHEFR -85k £

and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of HIRES - AREEEHTHEASTHRREAR

the three elements of control listed above. FA I -
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specially, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group's equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration test, on a
transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified assessment
of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business.
The concentration test is met if substantially all of the fair value of
the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The gross assets under
assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents, deferred tax assets,
and goodwill resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities.
If the concentration test is met, the set of activities and assets is
determined not to be a business and no further assessment is
needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price first to investment properties which
are subsequently measured under cost model and financial assets/
financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining balance
of the purchase price is then allocated to the other identifiable assets
and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date
of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or
bargain purchase gain.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which includes
an input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs. The acquired processes
are considered substantive if they are critical to the ability to
continue producing outputs, including an organised workforce with
the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform the related
processes or they significantly contribute to the ability to continue
producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce or cannot
be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to
continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of business are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

For business combinations in which the acquisition date is on or
after 1 January 2022, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in the
Conceptual Framework except for transactions and events within the
scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, in which the Group applies
HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework
to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business combination.
Contingent assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised,
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively.

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS
16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition
date, except for leases for which (a) the lease term ends within
12 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is
of low-value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted
to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when
compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If,
after reassessment, the net of the acquisition date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair
value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that
do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how
the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability
is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

o the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation, that best
depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or
services.

EXRETBE®)

PEHIRERE RS IR - MiKAT & oI E h — A
AW A2 E 5 232 AR B R K0 B (T A0 E FE BB S R

7 .
-

o XEEBENR  ERRABKRNEEAEE
BRI LIS -

o AKERHOE  AEEBEOAETRARTS
EHINEE @ X

s AREENYEAEAEEARNEMRAZ
MEE  MASKEESREIRITENEE
E=F H e B A UERRIE o

BRI WARE PEUSEILE fn s RS2 HIHE RO 2
— AR o

BRNEERASENE D EENE M RBIEE
F R B E R (HARK A EGES) - ERE
ERMBREENFIRFMBE - R - BUK
RIEASBERBRRENEGTER - R BEFERE
BERERNARHSA -

BHNABEAKERE B TR KREKEGEEK
B MARTFERERIRBOEL -

HE-SORENANEERSNBBERFRAR
ELI

BEEEEABA  FFERANEAEETTRNER

BHEEERTEENERHRERASETE - B
RIEAEBHRETREBRNDEEMRAB H%E
AESEBEITZENEENERREA - URSFE
FRAEEEBHREMBHRIR - (MR
A ©

Annual Report 2022 85

ZECCFFR

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXERBFEEARAT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BB R T

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_Z__Ft_A=1t—HLFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) BEREHEE®E
Definition of a lease HENER
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to & QR REE M4 T & — R RIS A AT
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange BRIBERERN  AZEHNEBHENRZHE -
for consideration.
For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial MR ERERBTEMBRELRIE165% B sz &
application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business combinations, the A FERI KB EBEHEEANEGNMS - AR
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on REREBMBHREENF16RNERR LB
the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or BT B BEE B I (R THERE ) A% e R
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed BHEEXBEHEE - RIFSAMERRIEHEEZ D
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently REE - ZRIEESOED T BT -
changed.
The Group as a lessee AEBEREBA
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract HHESIZEE RIS
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more REEHEXRS AR —TBXLIEBEIIAESIEHE
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the AMEHAME  NEERBEHEEK S HEEE
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis BREIFEEKRSHNAEER  PRYKRERS
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the HE T FEHERFROVMENRERENEL
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components, including BRIETBER] SEHIERZ S D IE ©
contract for acquisition of ownership interests of a property which
includes both leasehold land and non-lease building components,
unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.
The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease REBERAEFTIETKIFAEX D BBEEKD D
components from lease component, and instead account for the F - MG HERD RMEMBEIFHER DG EE
lease component and any associated non-lease components as a —MHEK DR
single lease component.
Short-term leases FTHIHE
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption HREE B RMSG B R R12E A ARN BT &S
to leases of motor vehicles and properties that have a lease term EREERENTERYENEE  AEEERAR
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not HMHEHREHE o = HAHEENHEEFENEBANEZ
contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases are BERASEME RGEERARAX
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:
° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; and
° any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date, less any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient.
Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of
the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.
The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) BEREHEE®E
The Group as a lessee (Continued) TEBEBERRBAE)
Lease liabilities HEEE
At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and R ERE B E - ANEERZ AR HHEFIER
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments BERERLGTEHEAE - RAEHERIBRER
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease WA ER SRR AETE - AIASEEAHEER
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the 15 B BRE) I S BRI R E -
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable.
The lease payments include: HEFIERE -
° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less . (& E 30 (B 48 B 1 A9 [ FE A5 R IR A 1] g

any lease incentives receivable; and WHERE &
. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is o ERREEBRESTEBEEENERT
reasonably certain to exercise the option. ZEBERENTTEE -

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by R B A& - HE S ELRER R E REERIER
interest accretion and lease payments. o
The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding BEMMEY X ARITEREERNIGEY K&
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever the lease ERENGtEHEAEIMAREREEEEM
term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise FEFEE) - RILBERAT - HAHSEEEERFERR
of a purchase option, in which case the related lease liability is BRI B BB AT AL IR EBEIR LS RT M E (3K
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a MEREE °
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.
The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the REBRGEMBIRARAKEEREREIABEL
consolidated statement of financial position. |HE -
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modlifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use assets.

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has elected to apply the
practical expedient not to assess whether the change is a lease
modification if all of the following conditions are met:

o the change in lease payments results in revised consideration
for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the
consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

° any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and

o there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of
the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in
lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same way it
would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are
not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments
are accounted for as variable lease payments. The related lease
liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with
a corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in the
period in which the event occurs.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Sale and leaseback transactions

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers to assess whether sale and leaseback
transaction constitutes a sale by the Group.

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a transfer that does not satisfy the requirements as a sale, the
Group as a seller-lessee continues to recognise the assets and
accounts for the transfer proceeds as borrowings within the scope of
HKFRS 9.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general
borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that
the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivables as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under
“other income”.

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes/the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries) after deducting any amount already paid.

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax basis used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to
the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments
for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net deductible
temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for
the business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group
considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority will
accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be used by
individual group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined consistently with the
tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the
relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most likely
amount or the expected value.

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress as described below)
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Buildings and machinery in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by the management, including costs of testing whether the related
assets is functioning properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Sale proceeds of items that are produced while bringing
an item of property, plant and equipment to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management (such as samples produced when testing
whether the asset is functioning properly), and the related costs of
producing those items are recognised in the profit or loss. The cost
of those items are measured in accordance with the measurement
requirements of HKAS 2. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building elements,
the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition. To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-
use assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position. When
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold
land, the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of property,
plant and equipment (other than construction in progress) less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
activities (or from the development phase of an internal project)
is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

o the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale;

° the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
° the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

° how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

° the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset; and

o the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-
generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any).

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the assets, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset or a cash-generating unit for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-
generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a
group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the
group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or
the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) EREHEE®E
Bank balances and cash presented on the consolidated statement of ASMBRARZVARITAR LIRS B -
financial position include:
(@)  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits; (@) Re - BEFERSKEHER
and
(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally b) ReEEY BHREH(—RERHHA=E
with original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid RASAR) - BER A ER A NeERE B
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of BEEPEBRITIANSRDIRE - REEEY
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes TR ENEHIR S AEMRFE - MIERER
in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting B EARE -
short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or
other purposes.
Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to third party AEEFAXE=ZFaNRGNRITERTRRE
contractual restrictions are included as part of cash unless the B — &5 f‘Té‘HZ@%U%ﬁﬁﬂmﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
restrictions result in a bank balance no longer meeting the definition % - EPARTERNS IR BN ET247 5
of cash. Contractual restrictions affecting use of bank balances are B -
disclosed in note 24.
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable & TR AN B A B3R R E 2 HRIEESIR - 78
value. Cost of inventories are determined on a weighted average AR LAINIE T EETE - Al IR R ERIETEEMNM
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling sHEEREMA Eat T TR A K& AT S FTE AR
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and R KNEEMBENRARIEERGBLE LS
costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale BN DA R 7R S5 B K Th H 68 A R ARHE 2 FEIS B AR o
include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Shares granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share-based payments reserve). At the end of
each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number
of equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share-based payments reserve. For
shares that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the
shares granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities other than financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) EREHEEK®E
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the BERMNEEZAAENHAREASREESSHE
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of EHEE SR A A RS BEEF B WARFEREZ A
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant %o BREFERBEEFARRSKARE H (B
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts BNEBERMNENAEEMNERE R KX E
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and B RGN AREMBENITE)REMEERS
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective BB ENTERF B E AR (R TERE ) EmRER
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) WEYIERREFENFE -
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.
Financial assets TREE
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets TR EENSHREEE
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently SMEEEFTAEATE B E B AR AT
measured at amortised cost: g2
. the financial asset is held within a business model whose J SREENNRELIRERERSE N IHEK
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and BRAFE Rk
o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash . AHWGETERREERABERREELASS
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the BYNAERFEZRERE °
principal amount outstanding.
In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial BEoN - AT SHSREE R D & TR A - AEE A
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost as —Hﬁﬁﬁim?bﬁﬁ,\&ﬁﬁﬁﬁizﬁ.fl’iﬁ"]@F‘ﬁé%ﬁ’ﬂ/\&
measured at fair value through profit or loss if doing so eliminates or AREFFABRRTE ©
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
Amortised cost and interest income BESHACOR R A S A
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for ERREH AT EMN e REEMNN EIRARER
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest MEERER © 7T|J BIRAT 8 & s & ERAEERER
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the BRI ES RIEZERMEERERBRERR
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets B(RTX) - Eiﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ BENEREE 7
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For BUWATE T —EHREZ SR EE 2 B IHAR
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, JER BN Z AR - EHBEEERENSRTIA
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate ZEERBEMSREMTELREERE - AIFE
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting WA BEEEZEETNBHREEREBE REHHE
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument Fin¥ %2 sl E EREAERAEERENZEHER -
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances) and contract
assets which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for contract assets and
trade receivables. Trade receivables are categorised into receivables
fully backed by bank bills and not backed by bank bills. The ECL
on contract assets and trade receivables not backed by bank bills is
assessed individually for debtors and contract assets with significant
balances or credit-impaired and/or collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate groupings based primarily on the debtors’
ageing profiles. The ECL for debtors with trade receivables backed
by bank bills is assessed individually taking into consideration of
credit rating and reputation of the banks issuing the bills.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HIFE
3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) EREHEEK®E
Financial assets (Continued) eREEE)
Impairment of financial assets and contract assets subject to IR BB 53 2B R O R 7T R (B A TS Y %
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued) BEERSEERE(E)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) (i) ZEJ—L MrEaE L hn(4g)

In particular, the following information is taken into account BEgms WTNATHEEERBEGEAE

when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly: INATZE BEVE K}

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the J SRIT A 2 HNED (208 ) SN BD(E B AT AR
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal BE F TR E R
credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of J EERBREINI TSR EREERL - fl
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, WMERNZE EREACRELOEIER
the credit default swap prices for the debtor; EIE

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial . AT IBRI TGN FPEE - BB
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a BEAA RS SHERABREREERE
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its TEBEENRES
debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the o BHAREXEEE FNTAREEE
operating results of the debtor; 1t :

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the . BEFARER - BF - ARMRREE
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of HIREE AN B EEE AFRE
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the BIREBITER BT -
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the mee FulsE i 2 &R - B4 K s

Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly BiE30K - ASEEBEEERR SV iE

since initial recognition when contractual payments are more RUAREZIEN  BRIFAEEEEERAR

than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and BB R SIERHA

supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria AREETFHEZAERMEELREER

used to identify whether there has been a significant increase ?ﬁ%iﬁua’ﬂT%EEZYﬂ¥ L W E R RS qT

in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the R - LB RZIZER &S AT ARG
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit B HIREEL -

risk before the amount becomes past due.
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BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HIFE
3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) EREHEEK®E
Financial assets (Continued) EREEGE)
Impairment of financial assets and contract assets subject to WRIEZ BB TR A 2RI B Qe B 7T (B A 2
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued) B ,X R A KB B (1)
(i) Definition of default iy BHNTEE
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an AL EERREEMS @ SRR EE
event of default occurs when information developed internally S EVEIN BRI A RER AT KN e 8E
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is NEEEA @ BIEAER (T RAEERES
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without FRIERG) » AIAEBRADBEEENSE
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group). B o
Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has % T ER - B4 RS E s EI R 890
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due K NEBREDRAEBNEMN  BRIEAE
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information HAAERARESRERPABBENE
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more HEE AL o
appropriate.
(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (i) SHEEHREERME
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of @Eﬁﬁ%&%i—lﬁj@;lﬁ%ﬁiﬁ@é?m
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future (HEt R RIS REBEX T ENEL S
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that HERTAHREZERE - eREELEE
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data ERENBESIBEYNIA TSR EEY
about the following events: B
(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; (@) BITATERAFEREHEE
(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event; b) BRED  flanfExREEEME
() the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual (0 EBHRAZEFAREBRERATHREEE
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, Hgm el A 4 BEEMA FEXAERA
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the —MREEERES X
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or
(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter (d EBHABEEGHESREMIEE
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation. 48 o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HIFE
3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) EREHEEK®E
Financial assets (Continued) eREEE)
Impairment of financial assets and contract assets subject to IR BB 53 2B R O R 7T R (B A TS Y %
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued) BEERSEERE(E)
(iv)  Write-off policy (iv) SRR
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information EEEMBTREFH FEREY KRS R
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty EERICEREIRIE - fln - EHFHEE
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, MERNBEABERRF - (BB ZHEK
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or BB R HBRMRE (R TREEE
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of &) BIREEEZ S REEME - AEED
trade receivables, when the amounts are over two years past GIRBEEBEFESEMEN SR EERKRT
due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may ) - WHBERER N EREAEEZ - MiEE
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group's R ERIER - ER AR K ERIERIER
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where R o
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
(vy  Measurement and recognition of ECL (v) FrEXEREHEEESE
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of SAEEHGEEBEARAME  RREON
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if BRAIFEZBANBER TR ZIBREE)
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment EE AT TR P RO R B O PR R o B RO R AR AR
of the probability of default and loss given default is based B A BB R AR T E R B 1 BRI IR RS
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. HERERE - HAMEEBIBMNMEET R
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability- 1 & S 1 = N4 & 58 (LAAE BE 22 40 = b (B 78
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks &)  AEERBREIE - EABEBREML
of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses a practical SHEHEEEE Wi KRBT EEEERE
expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables using a &Tﬁﬂi?ﬁ+l§§$%;zﬁk$i§ﬁﬁﬁ—fﬂl 0
provision matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss AR IR ERHERE o
experience, adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual —RME  BHEEBERREANOMAER
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the NASEESHRERERASERIZHER
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, RrIR B - RERAEYRNREREZ
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial IEVZERE ©
recognition.
Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying f'JEqﬁU\?EéE\mﬂﬁfxﬁﬁﬁ?@ﬁ B
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit- REERENSREERRIN T:l_:ﬁt B5R
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on T MBWAR e BEE 2 BIHNATH -
amortised cost of the financial asset.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit AEEGAME SR T ALREREREENE
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying D ERERARERRNEE - HE S EKK
amount, with the exception of trade receivables, other 18 - HiEWGRIE RS HNEERIN - HA8
receivables and contract assets where the corresponding TR T EBR R ERESR -
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HIFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) BEREFHEEE
Financial assets (Continued) eMEEE)
Derecognition of financial assets FER R E
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual Mt BEWRR @ RE 2 & ENEERm - iR E
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the EEZoMEERDEEANEERE R ZBRBD
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership [E\b K O RER T 5 —HEE - AEE S SEGRER
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor @@EF HASEREERIRRBEERE LR
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and AED R KB R EEEFEEBEE - AlRE
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its lﬁ@wﬁﬁ’\ﬁﬁé’é e RS/ N & R RAE
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts HEE MAKSERECEGEERERZZBAR
it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks HoRBRER  AAEEEERRZSREELT
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group PO WERRIERERIKIREE -
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, Fé‘ﬁ@f‘?ﬁ@w%ﬁﬁﬁﬁi$u‘|‘iﬁ’]iVaﬂﬁ?ﬁ-r BEMR
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of EEED K RERREZ ZENIERER
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.
Financial liabilities and equity SRIEERERTA
Classification as debt or equity DI RETE S
Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified SEETERMETESRERTER  BAFILZ
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the SRLHMERCREBEIERTAZEERN AR
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a TRIBESER -
financial liability and an equity instrument.
Equity instruments #Em TA
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest Em T EAERNRMBEBEEZRANZERBEE
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity BRI 2 EREH) - AR 7?’%?5’] B L
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds B AT SR B B TR AR -
received, net of direct issue costs.
Financial liabilities THEE
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost e € B EERUBRMNEEREHK AT S
using the effective interest method or at FVTPL. SIRANEF AB R E ©
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BRAAEFABENEREE
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial MEemBERE BN BMELEIRER 2 XK
liability is contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business BOfF - WEFORARE - BIDEREAER
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies. Az o
Financial liabilities at amortised cost RN ENEREBE
Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, consideration TRAGB(EEES REMENTIE  BANRER
payables, amounts due to directors and bank and other borrowings 1B - ENEERIERRITREAGR) & UER
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective P FEIRE SHNARGT 2 -
interest method.
Derecognition of financial liabilities FER R B &
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, EHEEAEENSESHE  JTHERR - K
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. SEFeRREReRAE BRREAZCHE
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability EREEED N RENREZENEERIERE ‘:F‘EE
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised o
in profit or loss.
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Critical Accounting Judgement and Key Sources
of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company has made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Sale and leaseback transactions - seller-lessee

The Group has entered into sale and leaseback arrangements in
relation to machinery leases with financial institutions. The Group
applied the requirements of HKFRS 15 to assess whether sale and
leaseback transaction constitutes a sale by the Group. When the
Group enters into sale and leaseback agreements, the legal title
of the machinery is transferred to the financial institution, while the
machinery remain in the factories of the Group. The management
considered that the control of these machinery have not been
transferred to the financial institutions and these legal transfers do
not satisfy the requirements of HKFRS 15 to be accounted for as a
sale of the machinery. Thus, the Group as a seller-lessee continues
to recognise the assets and accounts for the transfer proceeds as
borrowings within the scope of HKFRS 9. During the year ended
31 December 2022, the Group has raised RMB67,600,000 (2021:
RMB91,792,000) borrowings in respect of such sale and leaseback
arrangements. The information about the sale and leaseback
transactions are disclosed in notes 18 and 27, respectively.

4.

Eﬂiﬁg%ﬁ%ﬁ?&ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁ AENEE
y) 58

RIERM MMM A LB S BERE - ARRE
FANEABRCEMREERNEERAGRE
BEFHZIBAE - AERERR - ZFAERAER
ROLENBELRMEMSIERENEREL - &
BERL BB RNZEME

ARABEFBE RN ZS M REARER - Wit Es

EEFERT RFZEERI AR - RIBRERT S
FEZHRER © WA RIERIZE AR KRR -

G RIERT S & T B N AR SREARE RERR o

A TBARRREZREAAEE SRR TTE
masEHE OF RAGFHERSN - B2 TX) - HE4R
EUBRRPAERSEBNEIATE -

EREERS -EARBEA
AEBEENEBREERSREBITI L ERADR
P o AEBEFEAE BN BIRELELE155RRE
NFHEEREERZEEEBRAEBRHEE - %
BRI E%AR HmEE - B8 EHEEZ AT
BREETE@ED KR  MZSERMAERAE
BT - BEERE  ZEMEW 2 E6 Ty EE
BETZEREE  MZSETERUTRTES
Vi B 75 R A5 2E RN 5 1555 A9 AR B A B A% SR RS
B - At AEBEABE A AR ABERREH
BE UHEEMEHELEAT ST BHRESE
AIZESEEAMMER - RBIEZZT=_F+=A
=+—HLFE  AEEEHZEERHERLHS
EARK67,600,000CHIER(ZE=Z—F : ARK
91,792,0007T) - BRAEEERR ZHNER D BIEE
K18 MM =E27 -
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Critical Accounting Judgement and Key Sources
of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

Impairment assessment of ECL for trade receivables not backed
by bank bills and contract assets

The ECL on trade receivables not backed by bank bills and contract
assets is assessed individually for debtors and contract assets with
significant balances or credit-impaired and/or collectively using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings based primarily on the
debtors’ ageing profiles.

The provision rates applied in the provision matrix are estimated
based on the historical observed default rates of the debtors taking
into consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable,
supportable and available without undue costs or effort. At the end
of each reporting period, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and updated if required after considering the forward-
looking information that is available to the directors of the Company.
The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress have
substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables not
backed by bank bills for the same types of contracts. The Group has
therefore estimated the expected loss rates for the trade receivables
not backed by bank bills and the contract assets on the same basis.

The allowance for credit losses is sensitive to changes in estimates.
Due to eased financial uncertainty triggered by the COVID-19
pandemic, the Group has decreased the expected loss rates in the
current year as the moderated pandemic could led to decreased
credit default rates. The carrying amounts of trade receivables not
backed by bank bills and contract assets are RMB5%0,001,000 (2021:
RMB783,053,000) (net of allowance for credit losses of RMB5,476,000
(2021: RMB7,312,000) and RMB?,377,000 (2021: RMB15,550,000)
(net of allowance for credit losses of nil (2021: nil) respectively. The
information about the ECL and the Group's trade receivables not
backed by bank bills and contract assets are disclosed in note 39.

4.

ARSI HERATTHRARZENTE
R (&)
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5 HRAAREASRIHREERENERRE
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EENEBARREREE D ENBREERRNE
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REBRTEBEARENEZERFTIARSNEEM
5 BRNAEERBERIHREERENERES
WEE  HAHEEFEBRSUEBFAR REAE
EENEBARRERNEE D AN EEEMRRSE
B AETHE - RERSHR - ARRESEE
ERAEBRNATEEERR  EFTERELRIT
MTEFBEMBERENE - NEEERFHEN
FRmAR W HEARBUSONERITRES
RGN E Z B FIE B AR R R RS o
It ARERF-ERGHHERTRER/RENE
HRWFIAREWEENTRHHERE -

FEEEREHETOZCEE X - ARFIER
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ERMERENE EARR Bt AEREREAR
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T(ZZT——4F : AR¥783,053,0007T) (KR EE
BRI A RIS 476,000 (- B = —F 1 ARK
7,312,00070) ) & AR #9,377,000t (= F = —F :
AR¥15,550,00070) (KR EEEEBREES (=
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Critical Accounting Judgement and Key Sources
of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

Deferred tax asset

As at 31 December 2022, a deferred tax asset of RMB335,000 (2021:
RMB11,223,000) in relation to unused tax losses and deductible
temporary difference for certain operating subsidiaries has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised on the tax losses of RMB
314,732,000 due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The
realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether
sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences will be
available in the future, which is a key source of estimation uncertainty
especially the uncertainty on how the volatility or disruptions in
energy, financial, foreign currency or commodity markets may
progress and evolve. In cases where the actual future taxable profits
generated are less or more than expected, or change in facts and
circumstances which result in revision of future taxable profits
estimation, a material reversal or further recognition of deferred tax
assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which such a reversal or further recognition takes place.

4.

ARSI HERATTHRARZENTE
R (&)

EERIEEE

RZEBEZZF+_A=+—H BERPHEHE
ERAKETHBARAIENEREEZEZNET
RIBEEAREIB000T(ZE=—F: AR
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E) ol BT AT AR N B R AR B N o (WA E
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5. Revenue 5. WA
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_ZE__F4+-A=1+—HLFE
Packaging  Paper-based
paper packaging Total
BEE wHRBEHE et
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBT T AR®TT
Types of goods or service ERRRKER
Sales of packaging paper products HEBEKER
Corrugated medium paper AA grade  AAZRELIS AR 1,787,161 - 1,787,161
Corrugated medium paper C grade CHL RIS A 126 - 126
Craft paper R4 493,962 - 493,962
2,281,249 - 2,281,249
Sales of paper-based packaging HEARBEER
products
Craft box RENMEFE - 572,383 572,383
Honeycomb paper EE AR - 66,257 66,257
Color printing box SENARAE - 91,559 91,559
Color box packaging Faek - 2,509 2,509
- 732,708 732,708
Total st 2,281,249 732,708 3,013,957
Timing of revenue recognition AL ON: S
A point in time R—ErfE 2,281,249 - 2,281,249
Over time 8 s e RE AR - 732,708 732,708
2,281,249 732,708 3,013,957

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from

TERIIBHEES A KBRS BRI

contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in the FESFEMEER o
segment information.
Segment
revenue Elimination Consolidated
AEWRA Eiic! wE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TF T AR®T AR®TF T
Sales of packaging paper products HEBRREEM 2,400,368 (119,119) 2,281,249
Sales of paper-based packaging HERHBEEMD
products 732,708 - 732,708
Revenue from contracts with customers 2K 8 & FE & £IB9UA 3,133,076 (119,119) 3,013,957
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HE-_T-_—_F+-A-t+—HLEE

5. Revenue (Continued) 5.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

WA &)

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HLFE

Packaging Paper-based
paper packaging Total
2k T BRBE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETFT ARETTT
Types of goods or service ERRRKER
Sales of packaging paper products SHEBEAMEM
Corrugated medium paper AA grade  AAZRELES AR 2,455,576 - 2,455,576
Corrugated medium paper C grade CHAL RIS AR 1,013 - 1,013
Craft paper HRAK 176,814 = 176,814
2,633,403 - 2,633,403
Sales of paper-based packaging HEARBEER
products
Craft box HRENAEAR - 629,385 629,385
Honeycomb paper BEARm = 149,526 149,526
Color printing box PR o] = 145,695 145,695
- 924,606 924,606
Total #ast 2,633,403 924,606 3,558,009
Timing of revenue recognition AL ON: S
A point in time H—BEREh 2,633,403 - 2,633,403
Over time B s P R - 924,606 924,606
2,633,403 924,606 3,558,009

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from

THRIBRATS A ONBARS HER

contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in the RS LA EEE o
segment information.
Segment
revenue Elimination ~ Consolidated
DEPHA A Ny
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETFT ARBFT
Sales of packaging paper products HEBRERER 2,944,245 (310,842) 2,633,403
Sales of paper-based packaging HEAROEER
products 924,606 - 924,606
Revenue from contracts with customers R E&ZF & ZIHUA 3,868,851 (310,842) 3,558,009
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BEZ-—F+-A=+—HIFE

5. Revenue (Continued) 5.

(1) Sales of packaging paper products (revenue
recognised at a point in time)
For sales of packaging paper products, revenue is
recognised when control of goods has transferred, being
when the goods have been shipped to the customer’s
specific location. The normal credit term is 30-120 days.

The Group requires certain customers to provide
deposits. When the Group receives a deposit before
delivery of goods, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on
the specific contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.

(2) Sales of paper-based packaging products (revenue
recognised over time)
The Group's contracts with customers for the
manufacture and sales of paper-based packaging
products are tailor-made based on customers’
specification with no alternative use to the Group. Taking
into account the contract terms, the legal and regulatory
environment in the PRC, the contracts provide the
Group an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date and revenue is recognised over time
based on the stage of completion of the contract using
input method. The normal credit term is 30-120 days.

Please refer to note 23 for details on recognition of
contract assets.

The performance obligation under the contracts for the sales
of packaging paper and paper-based packaging products
has original expected duration of less than one year and as
permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

(2)

HEAREER(RE - KEHRERK
A)

MHEBRRERMS @ WAREZEE
miZEHER (R EREEERTPHEE
W) R - ERH RN F30E120
X o

REEEXRETEPRHFE - AL
BR RN EmATKERGT 2 HIER T RE
REHNRERELSNEE  BEEAR
BRFTHERBABHFI SR

HERROEER (BRBEIARA)

AEBETPIVMAREREREE
FIHERNTMRER PHRREAMLEE
g AEBEEMAR - ZEA DK
B REEERREERE  H0EK
REAEBZEAERNFIZSERED
BRI BERAREA DK RIR
wALBERRER - FERE-KRNTTF
302120k °

BRARANEENFE - F2HME
23 ©

HEBKREMIARBRERNANET
BHEEHRERRNFRS—FUT  RIE
HEMERELERIEISEAART - DEEZ
FREBHBHNNR ZEBRT THE -
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A B R Y 5

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Bz

B+ A=t+—RALFE

Segment Information
The Group is principally engaged in manufacture and sales of
packaging paper and paper-based packaging products.

The Group is organised into business units based on their products,
based on which information is prepared and reported to the Group's
chief operating decision maker (i.e. the executive directors of the
Company) for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment
of performance. The Group's reportable segments under HKFRS 8
Operating Segments are identified as two main operations:

1. Packaging paper: this segment produces and sells corrugated
medium paper and craft paper.

2. Paper-based packaging products: this segment produces and
sells craft cartons, color-printed cartons, honeycomb paper
products and color box packaging.

During the year, the Group has changed the name of the reportable

segment — Corrugated medium paper to Packaging paper to better
reflect the various product types in the segment.

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results
by reportable and operating segment.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

2 EER
AEBEIBEHERNERBEORERERDRE

[sTu ]

AEBZEEME D XFEN - WHRHFBEELN
AR 2BWAKEIBLEREE (AR BAIT
B%) WMEERIPERKRBRMMEAE $‘$l7fﬁ<
BEEMEImELERIELRLE S AR DT
DEEED B

1. a%‘%ﬁﬁ It 7 BB AE E M BH 6 BB I AR R AR R

MEBREM: WO EERKE ﬁFF
8 IS BERERIYEE

FA - ARBECERAT 2R BB HE - B TR
R BRAIAT LR BRI BB S MEEm

AEEER LSRR EES B
AT -

D A K2 2

BE-B-__F+-A=t—-RLEE

Packaging  Paper-based
paper packaging Total
BEE wRE%E et
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥TT ARBTF T ARBTFT
REVENUE @N
External sales HNEREH & 2,281,249 732,708 3,013,957
Inter-segment sales D EPESHE 119,119 - 119,119
Segment revenue DEBUA 2,400,368 732,708 3,133,076
Eliminations H5H (119,119)
Group revenue SERA 3,013,957
Segment profit panziyinvil 76,176 10,305 86,481
Unallocated other income AN BCE A UA 2,219
Unallocated corporate expenses ROt ERZ (11,833)
Profit before tax BR7E A A 76,867
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HIFE
6. Segment Information (Continued) DEER ()
Other segment information included in the measurement of STEOHEEAMBEEMOHBER
segment results
Packaging  Paper-based
paper packaging Tota
BEE wEEE #at
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTT AR®TT
Depreciation on property, plant and M - BEREETE
88,913 20,903 109,816
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREEENTE 9,571 5,799 15,370
Amortisation of intangible assets B EERE 2,313 - 2,313
Total depreciation and amortisation TEREERT 100,797 26,702 127,499
Less: Amount capitalised in inventories & : EEMEMNEFEE SR (57,955) - (57,955)
Less: Amount capitalised in intangible & : EEAMMEMEFL EESTE
(538) - (538)
42,304 26,702 69,006
Impairment losses reversed on trade WE 5 N H R BCRIAFER
and other receivables VERIEN, St (556) (1,590) (2,146)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-_—F+-A=1+—HILLFE

6. Segment Information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

6.

DEBER (@)

HE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HLFE

Packaging Paper-based

paper packaging Total

BER B “eEt

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARBTFT ARBFIT

REVENUE 'ON

External sales SMNEBSHE 2,633,403 924,606 3,558,009
Inter-segment sales D EBFESHE 310,842 - 310,842
Segment revenue DEBUA 2,944,245 924,606 3,868,851
Eliminations EfE| (310,842)
Group revenue SEIRA 3,558,009
Segment profit 2B 232,566 13,688 246,254
Unallocated other income RO BLEMUA 614
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBBERT (9.552)
Profit before tax BRE A& A 237,316
Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited 114 Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BB R T
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-_—F+-A=1+—HILLFE

Other segment information included in the measurement of

segment results:

D EpE B (4)

AHENREEMBEEMDEHER

Packaging Paper-based
paper packaging Total
2T BREE #Et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETTT
Depreciation on property, plant and M - BE REETE
equipment 75,643 20,462 96,105
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREEENE 7,081 13,250 20,331
Amortisation of intangible assets BV EERE 602 - 602
Total depreciation and amortisation e R AT 83,326 33,712 117,038
Less: Amount capitalised in inventories & : EEANMEMFESHE (58,820) = (58,820)
Less: Amount capitalised in intangible 8l : EEANEMEFL EESRE
assets (105) - (105)
24,401 33,712 58,113
Impairment losses recognised on trade Bt & 5 & H {th fE W R IBHER HY
and other receivables JEEE 482 806 1,288
Impairment losses recognised on B - BB MR TR
property, plant and equipment REEE 22,229 - 22,229

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the

same as the Group's accounting policies described in note

3. Segment results represented the profit earned by each

segment without allocation of corporate income and expenses.

LED B S BR AN 3P AR E S5

BERMER » 7 BRAES

WD B WA R

=} avi
EE D H

BEREXHD A -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_Z-_—_#+-_A=1+—HIFE

6. Segment Information (Continued) 6.

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue from its
major products:

DEBER (@)

AEBERERHNBADHLET

2022 2021
B8 —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TT ARETTT

Corrugated medium paper AA grade AAL FUAB A 1,787,161 2,455,576
Corrugated medium paper C grade CHREES AR 126 1,013
Craft paper R 493,962 176,814
Craft box FRENARAS 572,383 629,385
Honeycomb paper BEAsm 66,257 149,526
Color printing box FEN4R AR 91,559 145,695
Color box packaging Kapk 2,509 =

3,013,957 3,558,009

The Group's operations and customers are all located in the
PRC.

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no customer
contributed over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the
respective year.

Information of the reporting and operating segments of the
Group reported to the chief operating decision maker for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment
does not include any assets and liabilities. Accordingly, no
segment assets and liabilities are presented.

AEBENEBREPHMRPE -

o — —ZE-—F+=-—A=+—
BIEFE @ WELCAZFPFRARFEELHARSE
B ABER10%IA L °

AEREERREZRIMEERDEE KR
HERENASEF2HREEENHERNL
TEREAEEREE - Bt XEZ255
MEEMARE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-_—F+-A=1+—HILLFE

7. Other Income 7. HygA
2022 2021
B8 —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R ARBFIT
Interest income from bank deposits ITIFRFEMA 3,616 4,469
Imputed interest income from rental deposits HERSHER EWA 115 104
Management fee income ERERA 74 27
Net income from sales of scrap materials HE R A3 4,323 2,503
Government grants related to income (note) B A B 128 0 T e B (PR =) 113,771 37,115
Government grants amortised from deferred FT AR RE WA B 85 ) SR8 B (P E34)
income (note 34) 12,110 4,488
Sundry income B 4,328 2,009
Total st 138,337 50,715

Note: Government grants received and receivable by the Group’s PRC subsidiaries
as financial incentives for operation. No conditions are attached to these

financial incentives.

BYRE - NS B A o B 2 ) R e LA ) K Y 8 B /S ZE T
BATNERE) - %5 B I SR Y A B AN E R MR A o

8. Impairment Losses under Expected Credit Loss 8. BEAHGEEBFBEERIREBERE

Model, Net of Reversal HIBREEE

2022 2021
—E- 8 —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFIT

Impairment losses (reversed) recognised on E R (HEE) B 5 & E R KT IER(E R R
trade and other receivables (2,146) 1,288
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-_—F+-A=1+—HILLFE

9. Other Gains and Losses 9. Hfth=mREE
2022 2021
—EC-fF —T-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBFIT
Exchange loss, net b H 18 - FRE 3,526 2,670
Loss on disposals of property, plant and HEWE « BFERREERE - 558

equipment, net 817 1,377

Impairment losses recognised on property, plant  Bt¥I% - B/FE &R TER AR E RS (MsE)
and equipment (note) - 22,229
4,343 26,276

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2021, certain machinery became
idle after the completion of “coal-to-gas” conversion project in two of the
subsidiaries in the Group. As a result, impairment losses were recognised in

profit or loss.

i : 2T =—F+=-A=1+—8 AEEETHRHK
BARTEAIENRIBEEB%. ETHBEREE

R - F IR RERIRE R

10. Finance Costs 10. @ERKZAS
2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREETTT

Interest on: LARIER RALS

Bank and other borrowings HR1T SR ELM S X 51,742 58,017
Lease liabilities HEAaE 2,138 4,016
Amounts due to directors FERTESRIE 5,470 =
Others HAb 250 798
59,600 62,831
Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited 118 Annual Report 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_Z-_—_#+-_A=1+—HIFE

11. Profit before Tax

Profit before tax has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

BRI 2 A

BRECRE M EFER (FEA) TFIRIA -

2022 2021
B8 T4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREET T
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y% - WEREEITE 109,816 96,105
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETS 15,370 20,331
Amortisation of intangible assets B EERH 2,313 602
Total depreciation and amortisation Pree M S A st 127,499 117,038
Less: Amount capitalised in inventories B BEEMENTFEE SR (57,955) (58,820)
Less: Amount capitalised in intangible assets B BEEAMEMEREESTE (538) (105)
69,006 58,113
Auditor’s remuneration =BT N & 1,965 1,950
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense ERBFAZHEENR(BEMBATEEA
(including write-down of inventories amounting R#1,374,000T( — 2= —4F : AR
to RMB1,374,000 (2021: RMB262,000) 262,0007T)) 2,555,821 2,767,047
Staff costs BTAA
— directors’ and chief executive’'s emoluments —EBF RITHBEE S (FI:E13)
(note 13) 5,744 5,504
— salaries and other benefits costs for staff other —EERITBBHAINE THFH S &
than directors and chief executive HiwEH 253,524 296,020
— retirement benefits schemes contributions for —E B RITEBEAINE TH R KRR
staff other than directors and chief executive SHEIHR 22,229 22,053
Total staff costs BT pKA42%E 281,497 323,577
Less: Amount capitalised in inventories B BENMENEE SR (55,633) (54,677)
Less: Amount capitalised in intangible assets B BENMENBELEESR (1,604) (258)
224,260 268,642

Annual Report 2022
i e

119

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXERBFEEARAT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22 /\ 3 23
Are s iR M T
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_Z-_—_#+-_A=1+—HIFE

12. FTBFHMAX

12. Income Tax Expense

2022 2021
—EB-—F —_F——
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
PRC Enterprise Income Tax: FR IS PRASHR -
Current tax BNHEARL TR 131 27,271
Overprovision in prior years BITFERREEE (3,156) (839)
(3,025) 26,432
Withholding tax TBIRFT1SHL 3,050 4,614
Deferred tax (note 31) IRIERIR (M E31) 8,238 (2,008)
8,263 29,038

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group
has no assessable profits for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years. Certain PRC subsidiaries
approved as advanced-technology enterprises or enterprises
applicable to EIT policies for large-scale development in the Western
Region by the relevant government authorities are subject to a
preferential tax rate of 15%. During the year, certain PRC subsidiaries
approved as “small and low-profit enterprises” by the relevant
government authorities are subject to two-tiered preferential tax
rates. The first RMB1 million of taxable profit of the qualifying group
entities will be taxed at 2.5% (2021: 2.5%) and taxable profit above
RMB1 million but less 3 million will be taxed at 5% (2021: 10%).

AEERMEFEHBETBELRRTGHN - &)
WEBBBFE B EH R -

BERECEMREEA((CEMBRZE] R
FRBFEBMIRE - BB A A AR EF
EHE2S% - ETHENBARERFERE R
REBBIBMEE  JZHEEHEIS% - R
AEE  BETHEBRARBRFEBRE BREAI )
BMFCE] IZEMAHERHRR - A EK
EEETEEEEARE1BE TN ERREF
B25% R (ZZE=—F : 25%) * MBBARE

Z—4F 10%) R e
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-_—F+-A=1+—HILLFE

12. Income Tax Expense (Continued) 12.

The tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

Fr8sim= (@)

AEEHBAMTEFEA B R EMEEKRERAR

BTG I E BRI T

2022 2021
B8 —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Profit before tax BR A0 AL A 76,867 237,316
PRC Enterprise Income Tax at 25% R25%TH R B PTE T 19,217 59,329
Tax effect of income tax credit granted to Bt ES 2 RIS B AN R R PTG AR S 1Y
subsidiaries for research and development costs BT E (23,673) (25,638)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose BTSN 5 BAERIMA Z Bige 2
(note a) (MizEa) (78,372) =
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax T S SRR A B s E
purpose 7,095 6,499
Effect of tax exemption on concessionary rates HR IR N R R EE R RS R
granted to the PRC subsidiaries B (10,751) (19,820)
Tax effect of tax deductible temporary differences 7 MR R F0H B B 14 2= R A i 745 7 22
not recognised 13,060 1,631
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RER G E RO L 82,843 2,447
Overprovision in prior years BAFEREREE (3,156) (839)
Withholding tax on profits distribution of the PRC ¥/ B fff B A &l 5 B F) BT 2 Ta iR
subsidiaries (note b) Frfs#i (Fiatb) 2,000 5,429
Tax expense for the year REEHIAMT 8,263 29,038
Annual Report 2022 121 Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
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For the year

ended 31 December 2022

BE_Z-_—_#+-_A=1+—HIFE

12. Income Tax Expense (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

In accordance with the Circular of the Ministry of Finance and the State
Administration of Taxation on Issues Concerning Implementing the
Enterprise Income Tax Incentive Catalogue for Comprehensive Utilization of
Resources Cai Shui [2008] No. 47, and the Enterprise Income Tax Incentive
Catalogue for Comprehensive Utilization of Resources (2021) issued by the
Circular of the Ministry of Finance, the State Administration of Taxation,
National Development and Reform Commission and Ministry of Ecology
and Environment on 16 December 2021, an enterprise, which uses the raw
materials under the catalogue to produce recycled resource products under
the catalogue and the products meet the national or industrial standards,
is entitled to incentive tax arrangement such that only 90% of the sales
revenue of the products is subject to the calculation of the taxable income.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, three of the subsidiaries of the
Group obtained confirmation from their tax administration that their sales of
recycled products qualified for the incentive tax arrangement. Therefore 10%
of the revenue from sales of recycled products of these three subsidiaries

was not taxable for income tax calculation purpose.

In accordance with the PRC tax circular (Guoshuihan [2008] 112) effective
from 1 January 2008, the PRC withholding income tax at the rate of 10%
is applicable to dividends declared to “non-resident” investors who do
not have an establishment or place of business in the PRC. For “resident”
investors with establishment or place of business in the PRC and fulfilling
criteria of “beneficial owner”, the PRC withholding income tax rate is 5%.
The above withholding income tax represents the withholding income tax
provided on the profits arising from the PRC subsidiaries of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2022 which are available for distribution
amounting to RMB40,000,000 (2021: RMB77,500,000). During the year ended
31 December 2022 and 2021, the investor of one subsidiary is a Hong Kong
resident and fulfil the criteria of “beneficial owner”, and the withholding tax

rate applicable to dividends declared was 5%.

12. Fr8

GEE

(a)

BRI (@)

REBCHEAS - BRBBERBENRTEREEMBR
FE S HE S B #:5 BE R RE R B A ) B T [2008]47 5% &
BIERES - EIRRGHERD  BRBERNNEZRERE
RBEBNR T = —F+ A+ BEGHCEREE
FACEMERESER(ZTZ—FR)) - tXIUA
SRR TE WO R B A EE B SRR TE AV B AR B REE fR A A
EERATERENER  ARESEENB R
1290%E 2 3 & AR AR TURA - BEZ=F
T TF+ A=+ RUEE  AREET=MNE
NAERHBHERR  HOWEREETSEEH
BLHGM - Bt - SFAEHATEM S - RAZ=MH
P8 2 ) Y 1 W o 3 65 IR A TSR

RIE A BB @A (B F K ([2008]1125%) - —TFN\F
—A—B8  RPBEARRIHBEIIZMOEER D
FRBHIRR SIHER10%M B R MUBTEIRFTES - )R
ER M EES ST A ESEEAIRENER]
EMTERMEHBER RS% o LRFTFITERMEH
ERE—T-_—F+_A=1+—HILEE YARAA
Fh B /B /A B 2 A B] 9 B FILE A R #640,000,0007T (=
T ——4F : AR¥77,500,0007T) FTaTIRTEIRFT1SHL
BE-ZT_—FR-_FT-_—F+=-A=+—RHLF
B —RWBARMNKREEREAEREFEIEnlE
BANEE - MERRESNREMNTERASHKTEA
#35% ©
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BE_Z_—_F+_A=1+—HILFE
13.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 9 (2021: 7) directors

13. EERTHARMNS
DNRENNEEE (T -—F : +8)RTHE

ZECCFFR

and the chief executive were as follows: ST -
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-ZE-_—_H+-A=+—HLEFE
Retirement
Performance benefits
related schemes
Fee Salary bonus contributions Total
EBARER
e Fe RARE ST et
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥T T AR¥T T AR¥T T AR¥T T
Executive directors HITES
— Hu Zheng —HAIE - 1,004 - 15 1,019
— Hu Hancheng —HAER - 1,004 - 15 1,019
— Hu Hanchao — B - 1,001 - - 1,001
— Hu Jianpeng (appointed  — fAf&ME - 1,084 - 14 1,098
on 8 February 2022) (RZZE-_—%_H
NBEZE)
Non-executive directors JEHITEE
— Chen Riyue (resigned —BRBE A
on 22 July 2022) (R=ZF==FtA
—+—HEHE) 200 - - - 200
— Hu Jianwen (appointed ~ — &A=
on 22 July 2022) (R=ZF==FtA
ZTZHEZRE) 160 - - - 160
Independent non-executive B FEHITEE
directors
— Chung Kwok Mo John  —ERI& 171 - - - 171
— Shin Yick Fabian — %5 154 - - - 154
— Liew Fui Kiang —2IER 154 - - - 154
Chief executive TR E
— Chen Wei (appointed — PRk
on 18 January 2022) (R=ZT==%—A8
TN\BEEE) - 753 1 14 768
839 4,846 1 58 5,744
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HE_Z-_—F+-A=1+—HILLFE

13. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Emoluments
(Continued)

13. EERTHEATZMES @)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE_T_—F+_A=1T—HILFE
Retirement
Performance benefits
related schemes
Fee Salary bonus  contributions Tota
RIRTEA
ik e EE k0 sTEIfR et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT ARETTT ARETTT
Executive directors WITES
—Hu Zheng —tALE - 999 - 15 1,014
- Hu Hancheng —ERR = 999 = 15 1,014
— Hu Hanchao — WEFA - 1,000 - = 1,000
Non-executive director FMTES
— Chen Riyue —PRRA A 360 - - - 360
Independent non-executive B FEHITES
directors
— Chung Kwok Mo John —EBH 166 - - - 166
— Shin Yick Fabian — %5 149 - - - 149
— Liew Fui Kiang —2lizE 149 - - - 149
Chief executive TR
—Hu Jianpeng (resigned — RN =T —F
on 8 February 2022) ZANBEE) - 1,213 420 19 1,652
824 4,211 420 49 5,504

Note: Mr. Hu Zheng and Mr. Hu Hancheng are the co-chairmen of the Company
and their emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered
by them as the co-chairmen. The executive directors’ emoluments and chief
executive's emoluments shown above were for their services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The
emoluments of non-executive director and independent non-executive
directors shown above were for their services as the directors of the
Company.

During both years, no emolument was paid by the Group to the directors
or the chief executive as compensation for loss of office or an inducement
to join the Group. None of the directors or the chief executive waived any
emoluments for both years.

et - BELRERMEREERBSARAARBREESR - £

KA BERENH S EREEHFEERREHRE
MM E o ERATRATESRITRAHME IR SE
EEARARAKREEHRERBOME - ERAR
FATEZRBUIFATEEME IR REEEAR
AESERERBHME -

RRIEFE - 785 B 0 & ol f TR AR NE
e ERBRMESRNAREEFRE - NWESF
B WEERRTREHREEFME o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_T-_—_F+-A-t+—HLEE

14. Five Highest Paid Employees 14. IEBEHEET
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year RAEE - AEBRESKS5HMES 2FETBEE
included four directors (2021: the chief executive), details of (ZZ=—F : (TBEE) - EBSFBER XXM
whose remuneration are set out in note 13 above. Details of the T3 Ep—R(ZZFE=—F : WR)WIHFARRE
remunerations for the year of the remaining one (2021: four) highest FHTBRAIN RS EENFMFENT

paid employee who is neither a director nor chief executive of the
Company are as follows:

2022 2021
B8 —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Salaries e 808 4,518
Performance related bonus FIRFAREIEAT 78 2,487
Retirement benefits schemes contributions BIREFETE 13 49

899 7,054
Their emoluments were within the following bands: FENMENTATEE :

Number of employees

BT A%

2022 2021

B T —F

HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 7T % 1,500,000/ 7T 1 1

HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 22,000,000 7T - 1

HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 2,000,0017% 75 22,500,000/ 7T - 1

HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000 2,500,001 7.2 3,000,000/ 7T - 1

1 4

During the year, no emoluments of the five highest paid individuals RAFETEREMAEGSESTMAL(BREEER

(including directors and other employees) were incurred as Hibg 8) KIS T VER A & B 55 B Bt B
inducement to join the Group or compensation for loss of office. EmEAE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z_—F+-A=+—HALFE

15. Dividend 15.

Dividend for ordinary shareholders of the Company recognised as
distribution during the year:

Hﬁ /%\
AEERRBBAET AL AL BRR 28

2022 2021
— —FF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETTT

2021 Final — RMB9 cents :;:*Erﬂi,ﬁﬁ — ERARKISD
(2021: 2020 Final — RMB3 cents) per share (ZB=——F: T -_FTFERH —
BRARE3D) 45,000 15,000

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 of RMB1.42 cents
(2021: final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December
2021 of RMB9 cents) per ordinary share, in an aggregate amount
of RMB7,100,000 (2021: RMB45,000,000), has been proposed by
the directors of the Company and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming general meeting.

16. Earnings per Share 16.
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to owners
of the Company is based on the following data:

RIFERRE AR ESRENEEZ T =
F+-—A=1+— HJLEF*/E&EEHHHQ lﬂx 3R
AR (2T =_—F  iBE=_T=_—F+=
A=t+—BLFESRAHRES] E.Lﬂﬁ/\ﬁﬁ%
9%0'%%%Aawzmqmwﬂ:::f¢:A
R¥45,000,0007T) + WEFRRNEEREAS
% - TAMEE o

BRAER
AREHER NEEERERBNBATERAE

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBTT

Earnings ZF
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the R EBRERBFNARRHEE AL
Company for the purpose of basic earnings FEREM
per share 47,167 160,841
Number of shares ROEE
Number of ordinary shares for the purpose of PR EFIRERE A8 & RARAR S

basic earnings per share

500,000,000 500,000,000

No diluted earnings per share for both 2022 and 2021 were
presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue for both
2022 and 2021.

HR_F R T - —FHERTEES
B MAYES T _—_FR_FT—— iﬂ’]lﬁx%ﬁ
SHER e
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-_—F+-A=1+—HILLFE

17. Property, Plant and Equipment 17. Y13 - BERRE

ZECCFFR

Leasehold Furniture Motor Plantand  Construction
Buildings improvements  and fixtures vehicles machinery in progress Total
BF HENERE GAREEEE "E R ERBIR &zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT
CosT KA
At 1 January 2021 W=Z-—%-A-H 242,267 10,507 45,699 24471 1,323922 45,384 1,692,250
Additions AE - - 390 3448 33559 200,293 237,690
Disposals HE ©) (438) (1,335 (2,077) (64,126) (672) (68,653)
Transfer from construction ~ FATEETF2E#
in progress 12,035 - 964 - 165,938 (178,937) -
At 31 December 2021 i 3
+-A=+-H 254,297 10,069 45718 25,842 1,459,293 66,068 1,861,287
Acquisition of asubsidiary  WE—FHBAF
(note 35) (FitzE35) 185,961 - - 14 - - 185,975
Additions AE 356 - 235 2,611 1,765 176,789 181,756
Disposals & (8,474) 32 (1,955) (4,703) (84,738) - (99,902)
Transfer from construction in ~ MER TI2ER
progress 55,522 - 6,620 100 130,823 (193,065) -
At 31 December 2022 R-T-CF
+=A=1+-A 487,662 10,037 50,618 23864 1,507,143 49,792 2129116
DEPRECIATION AND FEREE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2021 W=B2=—-f-f-AH 103,897 9,01 21733 19,190 497,996 - 651,827
Provided for the year ENGHR 12,124 742 2315 2123 78,201 - 96,105
Eliminated on disposals TSRS @ (40) (1,144) (1,860) (37.939) = (40,987)
Impairment loss recognised ~ INE&ERRAEEE
in profit or loss = = = = 22,229 = 22,229
At 31 December 2021 g 3
TZA=1-H 116,017 9713 22904 20,053 560,487 - 729,174
Provided for the year ENGHR 20,483 307 2,504 2406 84,116 - 109,816
Eliminated on disposals HEREH (6,665) (12) (1,777) (4,099 (67,774) - (80,327)
At 31 December 2022 R-Z-CF
+=ZA=1+-AR 129,835 10,008 23631 18,360 576,829 - 758,663
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2022 i S
TZA=1-H 357,827 2 26,987 5,504 930,314 49,792 1,370,453
At 31 December 2021 RZZ=—F
+-A=1+-AH 138,280 35 2814 5,789 898,806 66,068 1,132,113
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

Bz

17.

B+ A=t+—RALFE

Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for
construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their
estimated residual values at the following rates per annum:

Over the shorter of the term of
the lease, or 4.50%—-18%

Over the shorter of the term of
the lease, or 20%-50%
11.25%-18%

Motor vehicles 18%
4.50%—-18%

Buildings

Leasehold improvements
Furniture and fixtures
Plant and machinery

Details of property, plant and equipment pledged are set out in note
37.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, certain machinery became
idle after the completion of “coal-to-gas” conversion project in two
of the subsidiaries in the Group. The management concluded that
there was an indication for impairment and conducted impairment
assessment on these machinery with an aggregate carrying amount
of RMB36,388,000. The recoverable amount of the machinery, within
the packaging paper segment, was estimated individually.

The recoverable amount of these machinery had been determined
based on their fair value less costs of disposal. The Group estimated
the fair value less costs of disposal of the machinery by obtaining
direct quotation from the potential buyer. The fair value measurement
was categorised into Level 2 fair value hierarchy. The machinery were
impaired to their recoverable amount of RMB14,159,000, which was
their carrying value at 31 December 2021 and the impairment losses
of RMB22,229,000 had been recognised in profit or loss during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, most of these machinery
has been disposed of and the remaining machinery had been fully
impaired in 2021.

17.

ME - BER&E@)
RERTIRIN - ERASIME  BERREADE

s RAEFHERER - WERER G AIERF AR
TONFERE LR RITE -

B¥ FAAHAMR 554.50% 2 18%

LABRG & A%
THEMZEEE T4 HARR 38 20% = 50%

B E BE
EREEEEE 11.25% % 18%
RE 18%
TR BS B A A 4.50%%=18%

EEMYE BB MREF BN o

BE_T-—F+-A=1—HIFE  A&HHE
TRRME AR ZEKR AR IBCETAR & - & T
WMEREENRRE - ERERRLEBETR @ LY
HERHE B A R 136,388,000 7T 5% S M TTRUE
A o REFRMBER BEESE - HAI KOS EE
fERIfEE

% SRR EY AT I & FRE TYAR IR A A ER H B K

REE ° $EI%#%@E I R B RE M
BHAOAREREERS - RAAEFESBRAR
BE_ER - 3%ﬁﬁﬁ§ﬁ7%@%ﬁAE%

14,159,000t * KR=E=_—F+=—A=+—HKHA
B TREZE-Z-_—F+_A=1+—HILFERN
bt ﬁwM@%EAEmazmpmﬁo

HE-_ZT-—_F+-_A=+—HLFE "
j(l:l Eﬁ%
(ER

&S
BIEMER T - —F 2R
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z_—F+-A=+—HALFE

18. Right-of-use Assets

8. FHAEEE

Leasehold Leased Machinery
lands properties and vehicles Total
HE T MEEE HEERER st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT AREBTT ARBTET

At 31 December 2022 RZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 160,770 10,129 3,111 174,010
At 31 December 2021 R-ZE-_—49+-A=+—H
Carrying amount BEmE{E 166,806 20,486 5,802 193,094
For the year ended HE-ZE-—F
31 December 2022 TZA=t—HILFE
Depreciation charge WEERH 6,035 5,811 3,524 15,370
For the year ended HE_Z_-_—F
31 December 2021 +-A=+—HIEFE
Depreciation charge HEER 5,525 11,815 2,991 20,331
2022 2021
—E-_F T —F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBT T
Expense relating to short-term leases RHTREMREN A 1,292 4,319
Total cash outflow for leases HEZRE R B 13,973 23,726
Additions to right-of-use assets ANEERAEEE 1,853 15,482

For both years, the Group leases various offices, warehouses,
machinery and vehicles for its operations. Lease contracts are
entered into for fixed term of 12 months to 22 years, but may have
extension options as described below. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length
of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition
of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings where its
manufacturing facilities are primarily located and office buildings.
The Group is the registered owner of these property interests,
including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire these property interests. The leasehold land
components of these owned properties are presented separately
only if the payments made can be allocated reliably.

RMEFE  AEEREL2EEARETHAE - &
B W oRE - MELABEAEI128 B 2224 5T
SMAK) - BTN XA AT M AT B R - THE
R T IRE R R LR - W B & EZHTRIER K
i - MEEE B KGN AT REE IR F 2R - R
SEERAHNZEEMEEAITEAKZHRE -

AN - AEBEHEABETI BLERENEL TEE
FEBRAERT - AEEDMEMERER(BEE
MEELH) 2BRFAA - BARZURERR
TR —IRMETAR R - WERBEMENBE LK
B1E P S M FRIRRE P SEM D BCH 15O T 77 2 9852
oo
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HIFE
18. Right-of-use Assets (Continued) 18. EAEEE®)
The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for motor vehicles REBEMRTERYET LEBRHEE - R=F
and properties. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the portfolio of ZCERZFE—F+ZA=+—RH" ﬁﬁﬂfﬁﬁai
short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to S8 FRAABEEEAHEAAROEREEREE
which the short-term lease expense disclosed above. HEEU -
The Group has extension options in a number of leases for AEEGETYEEEZEEREERE - At B
properties. These are used to maximise operational flexibility in ZIKE. SEPMEAEEFMEAERBEL - FIRFHE
terms of managing the assets used in the Group's operations. The REBEET - KNEHEAIHAKERTE - mH
majority of extension options held are exercisable only by the Group ?%Hﬂﬁ%@ﬁ%ﬂ/\ﬁﬁ °
and not by the respective lessors.
The Group assesses at lease commencement date whether it is REBNREERK AT RS EBBETHLER
reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. The potential EEE o TRMARAER TS ERETHLER
exposures to these future lease payments for extension options in BEEM e aENARRBERMRK
which the Group is not reasonably certain to exercise is summarised
below:
Potential future Potential future
lease payments lease payments
Lease not included in Lease notincluded in
liabilities lease liabilities liabilities  lease liabilities
recognised (undiscounted) recognised  (undiscounted)
as at as at as at as at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2022 2022 2021 2021
R=2=Z= R-T——F
t=B=+—-H +-H=+—H
R-B-=F FHAHEEE/ RN_T-_—F TstAHEERE
tTZR=+—-H WEEAREE +-HA=1—H WAEERKHE
BRNEEEE ARCRER) BROEEEE  IRCRER)
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TFT AR¥TFT AREFT AREFT
Properties S - - 6,723 20,819
In addition, the Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain UESh - EEAEEREH SR AE B E RIS
to exercise an extension option upon the occurrence of either a BEBSREE  AEESEHTEES @ﬁﬂﬁ@
significant event or a significant change in circumstances that is TR EERE BE T - —FR T —F
within the control of the lessee. During the year ended 31 December TZA=T—HIEFE  BEFEREZEERLN
2022 and 2021, there is no such triggering event. e
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE—

18.

T _F+-A=t—HIFE

Right-of-use Assets (Continued)

Lease liabilities of RMB31,034,000 (2021: RMB45,315,000) are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of RMB27,082,000 as at 31
December 2022 (2021: RMB37,671,000). The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, there was no
rent concession provided by the lessors.

To better manage the Group's capital structure and financing needs,
the Group sometimes enters into sale and leaseback arrangements
in relation to machinery leases. These legal transfers do not satisfy
the requirements of HKFRS 15 to be accounted for as a sale of the
machinery. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has
raised RMB67,600,000 (2021: RMB91,792,000) borrowings in respect
of such sale and leaseback arrangements.

Details of the leasehold lands pledged are set out in note 37.

Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in
notes 28 and 39.

18.

FHREEE®

R—E-_—_F+_-_A=+—HBH EHEIAHEESE
EAARBE3I03400T(ZTE=—F: AR
® 45315000 ) kBT REEEARARKE
27,082,000 L (=& = —F : AR ¥ 37,671,000
L) c BREAAREREERBERERI - BH
THE R EE TR % - HREETSRER
RPER o

HE-—ZT-_—#R-_ZT-_—F+-A=+—HItHF
B AR AR ARERE S B

AETHERAEENEREBINREST K &
SETERERBAETVERMAB T - 5%
FEEVIFEESMERELERIFISHKOAE
NHEZSERMLE REBEE-_Z=-_=F+=A
=+—HLEEE  FAEECHAXSEAHANTHE
£ ARK67,600,000TER(ZE=—F : ARK
91,792,0007T) °

B RS D IS BN M EE37

EHAEaENHAERHOTAFBEIRNE28 &
FMf5E39 ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-_—F+-A=1+—HILLFE

19. Intangible Assets

19. EFEEE

Development

costs
B2 A A
RMB’000
AREET T
cosT s
At 1 January 2021 R-ZTE-——F—HF—H 12,683
Additions NE 1,898
At 31 December 2021 R-E-_—F+-_A=+—H 14,581
Additions NE 9,513
At 31 December 2022 T —F+-_A=+—H 24,094
AMORTISATION B
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-_—%—HF—H 8,563
Charge for the year FANEHR 602
At 31 December 2021 —ET-—F+=-RA=+—H 9,165
Charge for the year FANEHR 2,313
At 31 December 2022 T —&#+—-F=+—H 11,478
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 December 2022 - —_F+-A=+—H 12,616
At 31 December 2021 =E==fEar= f=—F 5,416

Development costs are internally generated.

The above intangible asset has finite useful lives. Such intangible asset
is amortised on a straight-line basis over 5 years.

FZERAIRERER -

LB EENAERFRER - ZBVEERE
OSSR o

20. Inventories 20. &8
2022 2021
B8 —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETTT
Raw material and consumables R R E 115,140 127,365
Finished goods B 113,213 95,918
228,353 223,283

During the year, the cost of inventories capitalised in intangible assets
amounted to RMB7,371,000 (2021: RMB1,366,000).

Details of inventories pledged are set out in note 37.

RAFE  FEXNAREFEENMLABEREEDN
THEABARKEIIV000TC(ZE=—F : AR
1,366,000) 7T °

B ERF R BEHNMEST -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

BHE-_T-_—_F+-A=1+—HILFE
21. Trade and Other Receivables 21. EGREMEWRTIE

2022 2021

—ECHF —T-—%F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T T AREET T

Trade receivables not backed by bills EEELZENE S ERGIE 428,505 592,568
Less: allowance for credit losses ﬂ EEEERE (5,355) (7,143)
423,150 585,425

Trade receivables backed by other bills NEMZER R RENE 5 RIKIA 166,972 197,797
Less: allowance for credit losses A EEEERE (121) (169)
166,851 197,628

Total trade receivables not backed by bank bills BRITRBEREENE 5 EKEUAETE 595,477 790,365
Less: allowance for credit losses B S EEIERE (5,476) (7,312)
590,001 783,053

Trade receivables backed by bank bills NRITEBRREENE HEIGIAE 157,703 268,533
Less: allowance for credit losses A EEEERE (454) (762)
157,249 267,771

Total trade receivables B 5 e W R IE R 747,250 1,050,824
Advances to suppliers BRI 14,382 11,600
Prepayments TEfTFRIE 4,345 20,434
Other receivables H b fE W 518 39,442 18,763
Less: allowance for credit losses W BB RHE (141) (143)
58,028 50,654

Total trade and other receivables B 5 N E AR GIRERE 805,278 1,101,478

As at 1 January 2021, trade receivables from contracts with customers

amounted to RMB878,999,000.

The Group allows an average credit period of 30 to 120 days from

the invoice date to its trade customers except for the newly accepted

customers for which payment is made when goods are delivered. For

customers with good credit quality, the Group also allows them to
settle with bills before the due date of settlement. Those bank bills
with maturity ranging from 60 to 180 days are guaranteed by banks.

R-ZB-—F—H—R FFANELNEZRK

IR R H878,999,0007T °

ARBEHERMARGRF;E -
¥30E 120K HIE A -
B - HEE

HREEIHBEAAREEE - 255

R BHIB N F60E 180K °

MESEFIRMET

EFEENEPERE R
REFNER  NEBAGT
B ARIRITEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z_—F+-A=+—HALFE

21. Trade and Other Receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, total gross amounts of bills received
amounting to RMB324,675,000 (2021: RMB466,330,000) before ECL
are held by the Group for future settlement of trade receivables, of
which certain bills were further discounted/endorsed by the Group.
The Group continues to recognise their full carrying amounts at the
end of the reporting period and details are disclosed in note 22. All
bills received by the Group are with a maturity period of less than
one year.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables not backed by
bills presented based on dates of delivery of goods at the end of the

reporting period:

21.

BEZRHEHMEWFRIE S
Eé_f——¢+ A=+—8 A£EHENZE
HRENEHETEHI(E B E 18R A A R #324,675,0007T
(_7_ £ . AR#466,330,0007T) + FIER B4
HESRUGIA  EHRETEREEASEEE—
BEIR EE - RBEHR  AEEEEREAREEE
238 BRAFBRKIE2EE - AEEREE
RN —FEAREIE -

AT ERBEHRILEMRTERAZINNEREL
RENE 5 RUHIEREDT -

2022 2021

B —T-—%F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T T AREET T

0-60 days 0260k 331,971 470,595
61-90 days 61E90K 33,527 49,589
91-180 days 912 180K 53,378 55,421
Over 180 days 180K A 4,274 9,820
423,150 585,425

The aged analysis of trade receivables backed by bills based on dates
of delivery of goods at the end of the reporting period is analysed as

AT BRImEHRILE MR BHZINNAFZES

RIENE 5 RUGRIARE DT :

follows:
2022 2021
B8 —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETTT
0-60 days 0& 60K 1,140 48,245
61-90 days 61E290K 28,969 64,798
91-180 days 91E180K 100,574 216,694
Over 180 days 180K LA 193,417 135,662
Total #BEt 324,100 465,399
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z-_—F+-A=1+—HILLFE
21. Trade and Other Receivables (Continued) 21. EZREMEBRRIE®)
As at 31 December 2022, included in the Group's trade R-ZZB__F+_A=+—H AKEENEFHE
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount WHRIBEARBEERSREBHEINBMNERR - 4
of RMB57,792,000 (2021: RMB65,578,000) which are past due as at BRAMEARKS7,79200 T (ZFE=Z—F : AR
the reporting date. Out of the past due balances, RMB4,274,000 M 65,578,000 T) - EFIHIM AR ESF - ARK
(2021: RMB9,820,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is not 4,274,00070( = = —4F : AR¥9,820,0007T) 2 %
considered as in default after taking into account the repayment HAQOR S LA | - MEAS & R AE TS A B A2 SR A0 8% M B 75
histories and financial position of debtors. For trade receivables TASLIE - DRIEER - EPEREERELEENE
in which customers have provided bills for settlement are not ZRWFIBRNRIEBHRAT I RIEELD - BREWE
considered as past due nor in default. Other than bills received, the BN AREBWERZSEHFT A TS -
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
Details of trade receivables backed or not backed by bills pledged BENERERAZENEERREARENES
are set out in note 37. N IE R B E M 537 ©
Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables for EBEEE T -_—F+-_A=1+—HIFEEGK
the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 39. H W B R R E R B B E R M EE39
During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group REBZE_Z_—Fk-_F-_—F+-_H=+—H
discounted bills provided by external customers with recourse to IEFE  AEEGIINIEFPRREMNFERER
banks or other financial institutions for short-term financing. The BALIR T IRITS A A S IR - DUBEVS HARLE
proceeds received from discounting of bills to banks which do not ARIR R T RIS I & BERR FERR B0 161 -
qualify for derecognition have been included under cash inflows WEFAGERERERABEXEBIE NEEM
under financing activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows. HE - AR E P RE T E M & RS S 5Iam
For proceeds received from discounting of bills to other financial T HBHREEERAABEARSREEE LAE
institutions of customers, the relevant cash flows are presented as SERFUWF - BHHARSRERGEHRERERA
operating cash flows in the consolidated statement of cash flows 2 AREHReNE - RHBRZBRZIFHEEM
as the management considers the cash flows are, in substance, = ' B2EMIEE40 -
the receipts from trade debtors. For the non-cash settlement of
discounted bills, please refer to note 40.
During the year, the Group endorsed bills with recourse amounted RAFE  AEEBENTERERTBEARE
to RMB37,734,000 (2021: RMB25,260,000) to suppliers for settlement. 37,734,000t ( —F — —F : AR¥25,260,0007T)
The relevant transactions are non-cash transactions and the effects FETHERERAE - AERXFIRIIERERH  H
are excluded from the consolidated statement of cash flows. HETGTANGERERER °
The Group's trade and other receivables that are denominated in REBLATIEBAREE T EENEEEUIMNME
the following currencies other than the functional currencies of the WEHENE 5 M A EKRIAR ST
relevant group entities are set out below:
2022 2021
—E-CF T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFTT
Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD") B((#ET]) 73 64
United States Dollars (“USD") ZE71( - 234
Great Britain Pound (“GBP") wgE([5eEE]) - 1
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-_Z-__F+-_A=+—HIEFE
22. Transfers of Financial Assets 22. HEESRIEE
The following were the Group's bills as at 31 December 2022 and NIRRT B FR-_F-_—F+-_A=+—H
2021 that were transferred to banks, other financial institutions or AEEHHEEMERENZR SRR EEE
suppliers by discounting or endorsing on a full recourse basis. As the FETIRIT - Efh SRR S ER - EEE’\ZKE@T[
Group has not transferred the significant risks and rewards relating EEEEZEREEN T ZRE R ER - HEERER
to the bills, it continues to recognise the full carrying amount of the B ZEBGRIERE Z BN RIBRNREERRE -
related trade receivables and trade payables and has recognised I B R AR A ERTT S B At & B B ER A IR © 1R
the cash received from banks and other financial institutions on the RAEERER(EMEE27)
transfer as a secured borrowings (see note 27).
The bills from external customers are carried at amortised cost. Bills HNER P BB LA SRR AN AL AR © BEEREE N B
arising from intra-group transactions in which the relevant group %WE@EZF?X%%FEKTFHEEEYL ik
entities discounted or transferred the bills to banks, other financial 7T EeRiE R mE - 25 E HRUGR
institutions or suppliers, such trade receivables and related intra- IE&*EE"@%WE%&ZFEEUTEH%’\IEEE’\\ZS%.%::
group payables have been eliminated in the Group’s consolidated MISARR R L -
statement of financial position.
At 31 December 2022 R-B-=_H+=-H=+-—H
Bills
discounted
to banks/
other financial Bills
institutions  endorsed to
with full suppliers with
recourse  full recourse Total
REBRMEZE
BEERET HEWTEEZE
R1THAt BRERE
SRS FHER st
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
Carrying amount of bills SR EmE 238,196 3,568 241,764
— external customers — NI 232,643 2,561 235,204
— intra-group customers —SEANEERTP 5,553 1,007 6,560
Carrying amount of trade payables & SN FRIEREE - (3,568) (3,568)
Carrying amount of bank and other AT R E M ERAREE
borrowings (238,196) - (238,196)
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HE_Z-_—F+-A=1+—HILLFE

22. Transfers of Financial Assets (Continued)

At 31 December 2021

22. BESRMEE®)

W—ZE-_—F+=-H=+—H

Bills
discounted

to banks/
other financial

Bills

institutions endorsed to
with full  suppliers with
recourse full recourse Total
BEIR I A 2w
BREZRET BSENTZE
$R1T,HAh BRERE
RIS THER 45t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFIT AREFTT AREET T
Carrying amount of bills FRREE 322,749 10,380 333,129
— external customers — NI 305,999 8,756 314,755
— intra-group customers —SEAEBRHERF 16,750 1,624 18,374
Carrying amount of trade payables B SR IEREE = (10,380) (10,380)
Carrying amount of bank and other HRITREMERREE
borrowings (322,749) = (322,749)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_Z-_—_#+-_A=1+—HIFE

23. Contract Assets

BREE

2022 2021

B8 —E-—F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETTT

Made-to-order paper-based packaging products ~ ERMBE BEE MR 9,377 15,550
Current BpER 9,377 15,550

At 1 January 2021, contract assets amounted to RMB18,628,000.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to
consideration for work completed and not billed because the rights
are conditioned on the Group's future performance. The contract
assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract assets
recognised are as follows:

The Group typically does not require a deposit on acceptance of
order. The consideration is payable on the earlier of the delivery
and acceptance of the finished goods by customers or notice from
the customer to cancel the order. If the customer cancels the order
then the Group is entitled to receive payment for work done to
date pursuant to legal and regulatory environment in the PRC. The
Group typically issue bills to customers when the finished goods are
delivered to customers and acknowledged by customers. The credit
term is ranging from 30 to 120 days.

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note 39.

R-ZZFE-_—F—H—HB AHNBEEAARK
18,628,0007T °

BHEEDNTERNAEE S TR B BUERR
BEHRER - ERZEENBHFARERRENT
EMHAFERER - NEERZ SRR SRR
RS EE 5 RIKFUR -

AR A N EESBRBKT 2N — RGN
T

—RME  AREAETER I ERBRATE -
REERRKMRN TR MESPEPRIEER
PEUBRTER (ABREHAESE) AT - fWEFE
HEIE - AIAREEERRETBOAENEETRE
WEGE S BIEPIZER TIERNR - —RME - A&
BN MR T 8P RER P 2R % P A%
= ERENF30E120K -

BRI ERH GRS BRI HTESS

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited 138
IEEBIFIE A R A R

Annual Report 2022
e



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BB R T

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z-_—F+-A=1+—HILLFE
24. Bank Balances and Cash/Pledged Bank Deposits 24, EEARTERRBITEREES
Bank balances include demand deposits and short term deposits for RITEMRBRERMFERNERE R S AEREZANE
the purpose of meeting the Group's short term cash commitments, HEREEBAER - RN FERE0.01EZ0.35E
which carry interest at market rates range from 0.01% to 0.35% (2021: (ZE=Z—%F : 0.01EZZ0.35F)WTHHEETE °
0.01% to 0.35%) per annum.
Pledged bank deposits carry interest rates which range from 0.3% BERFEFIEN T03EE2255E(ZF=—4 :03
to 2.25% (2021: 0.3% to 1.65%) per annum, and represent deposits [EE1.65)MFEFIEFTE - I5HEE TIRITHFRK -
pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group. ERETAEENRITRENER - FRARKE
Deposits amounting to RMB64,016,000 (2021: RMB92,368,000) have 64,016,000t ( =& = —F : AR¥92,368,0007T)
been pledged to secure the short-term bank borrowings and bills EEER - (ERZER=ENMEANEENRERIT
payables repayable within three to six months and are therefore BRERENERNER  WOBRRBEE - 2K
classified as current assets. The pledged bank deposits will be PRI TR PME R AR SR TIE TR ARRR -
released upon the settlement of relevant bank borrowings and bills
payables.
Detail of impairment assessment of pledged bank deposits and bank BRADERRITFRRRITERIRETH R 15
balances are set out in note 39. R HIFEI9
The Group's bank balances that are denominated in the following REEATIHBAEEE T ERBINEEENINGE
currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant group BETERMRITESRETINT
entities are set out below:
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBTT ARBTFTT
HKD BT 8,507 1,654
usb == 438 401
GBP R 6 9
Euro (“EUR") BT([&T)) 286 760
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z_—F+-A=+—HALFE

25. Trade and Other Payables 25. EZRHEMENRIR
2022 2021
B8 —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREETTT
Trade payables Z 5 ENFUE 173,872 114,341
Bills payables — secured ERTS=E— B ER 68,013 83,630
Other tax payables (note) H A 1R (B ) 51,964 51,959
Payroll and welfare payables FETE @N&%ﬂaﬂ,\ 24,639 43,080
Construction payables FEf T2 FRIE 5,192 5,668
Others Hh 33,230 38,669
356,910 337,347

Note: Included in other tax payables is provision for value-added tax amounting to

RMB48,469,000 (2021: RMB44,261,000).

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based
on the dates of receipt of goods at the end of the reporting period.

BisE © EbEMRIIEEIEA R548,469,000c(—ZE=—F :
AE#44,261,0007T ) 3L ER B o

AT R E AR WEE
HRIBERRERDT

BHZIINE S RN

2022 2021

—E-—F T —4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

0-60 days 0Z2 60K 87,452 96,334
61-90 days 61290k 24,816 5,126
91-180 days 91£180K 32,445 5,093
Over 180 days 180K A 29,159 7,788
173,872 114,341

The aged analysis of bills payables based on the dates of receipt of

LAT%EAiﬁiﬁfﬂﬂEHzH&H &

SR ER L AN ES

goods at the end of the reporting period are analysed as follows: BRER DT
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFIT
0-60 days 0£ 60K 23,256 12,326
61-90 days 61E290K 7,215 6,000
91-180 days 912180k 23,303 37,104
Over 180 days 180K E 14,239 28,200
68,013 83,630
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T CFER

BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HIFE
25. Trade and Other Payables (Continued) 25. ESRHEMENRIE®)
The credit period on purchase of materials is 30 to 120 days. The ﬁﬁfﬂﬂmf‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁ)l F30E120K - AEERFH
Group has financial risk management policies in place to monitor the R EIRBRABIZERER -
settlement.
The Group's trade and other payables that are denominated in the MRZZEZ—F+ZA=+—0  AEENUHEHEEE
currency other than the functional currencies of the relevant group ETERBNEEEUIINNEEAENE 5 KHEAM
entities at 31 December 2021 was USD amounted to RMB81,000. FERIE A AREEST,0007THET c RZE ==
At 31 December 2022, no trade and other payables of the Group TZA=+—H8  AEEWEAAASEE T EE
denominated in the currency other than the functional currencies of NeeEE AN BETHENE 5 R E A AFIE -
the relevant group entities.
26. Consideration Payables 26. BRRERIER
2022 2021
—E-F T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT ARETTT
Non-current FERE - 5,681
Current ik 5,809 5818
5,809 11,499
Fixed consideration payables at amortised cost REHA AT 2R E R RN ERIE 1,656 3,282
Contingent consideration payables at FVTPL BRARMERAEBR E’]Xﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁﬁf’imlﬁ 4,153 8,217
5,809 11,499
On 1 March 2020, the Group completed the acquisition of 80% equity N_ZE_ZTF=A—H  AEENEREARYK
interest in Yudu County Zhengyi Paper Products and Paper Industry 47,200,0007T 5 AN sk A (KB U iE T 28R IE B AR am &2
Company Limited (“Zhengyi”) for an aggregate consideration BEBERAF ([EMR])B0%HIARIE - RTKEE
of RMB47,200,000 plus contingent consideration. The aggregate TP e R EARK29,800,0007T © 4 FEERE
amount of cash consideration of RMB29,800,000 was paid upon AR #6,200,0007T © AK#7,860,0007T @ AR
completion of the acquisition. For the remaining cash consideration, 1,670 OOOﬁ&/\E?ﬁgq 670,000TTEAD IR ZF =
RMB6,200,000, RMB7,860,000, RMB1,670,000 and RMB1,670,000 ?Eﬂﬂ R F=ZFR R F=ZARC
should be paid in September 2020, March 2021, March 2022 and =F=ASN c REBARALERY: - WELE
March 2023 respectively. Regarding the contingent consideration 1ﬁEA T-TF T —FN_ZB__FEF
arrangement, the Group is required to pay additional amounts FHRENED %JELAE%&OO0,000T_E AR
of RMBA4,270,000, RMB4,270,000 and RMB4,260,000 as at 30 June #: 4,000,000 7T #1 A < #5,000,0007C © AEEF R
2021, 2022 and 2023 respectively if Zhengyi's profit after tax in each - FRA=TH ZEZ=ZHFNT==F
of the calendar years 2020, 2021 and 2022 exceeds RMB3,000,000, NA=ZTHERRIEZN AR4270,0007T - AR
RMB4,000,000 and RMB5,000,000 respectively. The present value of 4,270,0007C A R #4,260,000 THIRESNE B8 NS
the consideration amounted to RMB27,829,000 was accounted for I 7 7] 25 B 5 S 78 JRE T BRI B R B ER R 5.23% 1%
by the Group with discount rate of 5.23% applied on consideration AR#27,829,000T R BIRELAK o EFERIA
payables at initial recognition. The fixed and contingent ERRERIBER D JIREHEK AT E RIEAAE
considerations are subsequently measured at amortised cost and FFAER o
FVTPL respectively.
During the year, imputed interest amounted to RMB44,000 (2021: RAFE  #HEFEAEARKE440000(ZE =
RMB242,000) and loss from changes in fair value of financial liabilities F 0 ANR¥242,0007T) RIZ A RE d’)\?ﬁfmﬂ'} G
at FVTPL amounted to RMB206,000 (2021: RMB556,000) have been BARENALEZYEERR ARKE206,0007T (=
charged to profit or loss and total consideration amounted to TZ—F : ARM556,0007T) 2 BEEHE - &k
RMB5,940,000 (2021: RMB12,130,000) has been paid. ﬁ' BREARKES5940000T(ZE=—F : ARK
12,130,0007T) 23 f e
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27. Bank and Other Borrowings

27. RITREAMBER

2022 2021
B8 —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Bank and other borrowings
Less: Amount due within one year shown under

RIT R E AL AR 1,054,185 1,191,454
B R —FRBEAIERB B EN SR

current liabilities (870,919) (1,022,356)
Amount shown under non-current liabilities TWEIERE BB 183,266 169,098
2022 2021

—ECCHF T4

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETTT

Bank borrowings
Bank borrowings (discounted bills

RITER 687,949 710,252
RITER(HHEE2EBREMNIRER)

with full recourse) 129,880 180,825
817,829 891,077
Secured A 791,031 873,907
Unsecured it e 26,798 17,170
817,829 891,077
Carrying amount repayable:* AR AT HiE R AR EE :
Within one year —FN 684,680 796,955
Within a period of more than one year —F LA E RAF AT KRR
but not more than two years 55,753 57,376
Within a period of more than two years M LA_E R AF AT #IERRE
but not more than five years 66,496 =
Within a period of more than five years FFA EHEARE 10,900 36,746
817,829 891,077
Less: Amount due within one year shown under B R—FARHESERBBERN SR
current liabilities (684,680) (796,955)
Amount shown under non-current liabilities TWEIERE BB 133,149 94,122
& The amounts are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan o ZE oA GEAENG SRR EEBE
agreement&
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BE-Z_—F+-A=+—HALFE

27. Bank and Other Borrowings (Continued)

The Group's bank borrowings that are denominated in the following
currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant group
entities are set out below:

27.

AEBATHIREEEETERBDREERUIE
EEHERSRITIE RSN T

2022 2021
—EF T —F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETTT

HKD BT
UsD ESyTH

26,798 17,170
- 2,761

Detail of assets pledged for secured bank borrowings are set out in
note 37.

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group's borrowings are as follows:

BRCENEEFAEERMBITEREROFBEH
PRMIEE37 -

REE BT ERFEBER G KF %) 6 E 10
I

2022 2021
—E-C—F —E-—F
Effective interest rate:
i /T\%|J$
Fixed rate borrowings 1.05% to 5.70% per annum 2.66% to 7.20% per annum
B FIEET B AR FR=1.05EFE5.70E FHE2.662Z7.202
Variable rate borrowings 5.44% to 6.48% per annum 3.08% to 3.17% per annum
FEA R EAER FRE544EF6.48E FHE308EE317E

At 31 December 2022, variable-rate bank borrowings amounted to
RMB36,798,000 (2021: RMB17,170,000). The borrowings are charged
at the interest rate based on Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
("HIBOR") plus 3% (2021: HIBOR plus 3%) and loan prime rate
plus 2.8%, and expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
At 31 December 2022, fixed rate bank borrowings amounted to
RMB781,031 (2021: RMB873,907,000).

As at 31 December 2022, secured bank borrowings include the
proceeds received from the discounting of (i) bills from external
customers amounting to RMB124,327,000 (2021: RMB164,075,000),
and (ii) bills issued by group entities amounting to RMB5,553,000
(2021: RMB16,750,000), to banks with recourse.

MN_ZE_—F+-A=+—8 ' ZFHARFEE
RABARYE3679800T(—E=-—F: AR
17,170,0007T) ° 2 EERILBARITRAERE(E
BIRTREFREDIBE(ZZ=_—F : FHERTRA
EFRBIEPE) REFEBFEM28EAFIRTE
FAEEERESAMNERR R-ZT-_—_F+=
A=+—8 ' BEMXFEEHBARET81,031
T(ZZ=—%F : AR¥873,907,0007T) °

R_BE-_—_F+-_A=+—H BRFPRTEX
BIEMRRTE2EEREN(NINEELERBEARE
124,327,000 (=& = —F : AR ¥ 164,075,000
7T) ¢ RG)VEEETEELNAESERARS,553,000
(=T ——4F : AR¥16,750,0007T) FER1T 2 FT

B3R -
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27. Bank and Other Borrowings (Continued)

27. SRITREMER @)

2022 2021
B8 —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFTT
Other borrowings HER 128,040 158,453
Other borrowings (discounted bills HiER (M2 EERENEIRER)
with full recourse) 108,316 141,924
236,356 300,377
Secured (note 1) BHEAR(PHEET) 236,356 298,577
Unsecured (note 2) IR (FRE2) - 1,800
236,356 300,377
Carrying amount repayable: BRAT HARIE R R AREE
Within one year —FR 186,239 225,401
Within a period of more than one year —F LA E R T H HAE
but not more than two years 40,078 57,112
Within a period of more than two years M LA E R A AT H HAE
but not more than five years 10,039 17,864
236,356 300,377
Less: Amount due within one year shown under B R—FARZIEREHIERE B EN SR
current liabilities (186,239) (225,401)
Amount shown under non-current liabilities TIEIEREI BIERN TR 50,117 74,976
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_F__Ft-A=t-BIFE

27. Bank and Other Borrowings (Continued)

Notes:

M

In 2020, the Group entered into agreements (the “Agreements A"”) with
PRC financial institutions (“Financial Institutions A") whereby the Group
drew down RMB137,757,000 from the Financial Institutions A (included in
other borrowings) which are to be repayable within 3 years from the date of
draw down at variable rates based on Benchmark Rate plus a premium. The
effective interest rates of the borrowings as at 31 December 2022 ranged
from 9.60% to 10.24% (2021: 9.60% to 10.24%) per annum.

In 2021, the Group entered into agreements (the “Agreements B") with
PRC financial institutions (“Financial Institutions B") whereby the Group
drew down RMB91,792,000 from the Financial Institutions B (included in
other borrowings) which are to be repayable within 3 years from the date of
draw down at variable rates based on Benchmark Rate plus a premium. The
effective interest rates of the borrowings as at 31 December 2022 ranged
from 9.60% to 10.24% (2021: 9.60% to 10.24%) per annum.

In 2022, the Group entered into agreements (the “Agreements C") with
PRC financial institutions (“Financial Institutions C") whereby the Group
drew down RMB67,600,000 from the Financial Institutions D (included in
other borrowings) which are to be repayable within 3 years from the date of
draw down at variable rates based on Benchmark Rate plus a premium. The
effective interest rates of the borrowings as at 31 December 2022 ranged
from 7.80% to 9.90% per annum.
As collaterals for the above financing, the Group transferred the ownership
title of the related machinery to the Financial Institution A, Financial

Institutions B and Financial Institutions C.

Upon discharging all the Group’s obligations under the Agreements A,
Agreements B and Agreements C, the Financial Institution A, Financial
Institutions B and Financial Institutions C will return the ownership title
of the machinery to the Group for nominal amount of RMB100 for each
agreement. Despite these agreements involve a legal form of a lease, the
Group accounted for the Agreements A, Agreements B and Agreements C as
collateralised borrowings at amortised cost using effective interest method
in accordance with the actual substance of the Agreements A, Agreements B

and Agreements C.

Except for the other borrowings related to Agreements A, Agreements B
and Agreements C, as at 31 December 2022, secured other borrowings also
include the proceeds received from the discounting of bills provided by
external customers amounting to RMB108,316,000 (2021: RMB141,924,000)
to other financial institutions with recourse. Secured other borrowings are at

fixed-rate.

At 31 December 2021, loans of RMB1,800,000 were obtained from two
companies controlled by a non-controlling interest. The loans are arranged as
entrusted loans through banks, which are to be repayable within one year at
fixed interest rate of 3.50% per annum. During the year ended 31 December

2022, the loans have been fully repaid.

27. $B1TR

BiFE

M

H g @)

REZT_TF  AEEE—HPESREE ([ SmE
BRI mE (&R ) - ﬁ%-$$@ﬁ%ﬂ%
BRI A R#137,757,0007C (st AE £ 3R) - 8
PR B IR = FEAREE - RENERE ﬂime

PHEGFE  ZM—FHE - R_FT__F+_H
=t—H  ZEBERZEBEMNENFENEIOEE

1028 (ZF=—%F : NF9.0EZE10.24F) °

RIZTZ—F  AEEHESHPES LS ([ SmE
BZ Dl ((HEZ]) Bt - AEE RS HHE
BZARMARE1,792,0007T (Gt AHABIE ) - BRR
BB SR =FUAEE  REREEFRNZEHTF
EEE  BN—FEEB R-T_—F+=A=1+—
B EZ%E.TAZEIW%U ) T EFIR9.60/E E10.24F

ST —F  NT960EE10.24E) °
R-ZB-—F AKEAZHIESHEE( SR

BRI HR((HBER]) Bt - AEERS R
EAIRIAR67,600,0007T (G AEABE ) » BRE
B EHE A = EUAEE - REREERREFEHF
KB BM—FHEB - R_T_—F+-_A=+—
B ZEBERZEBRMENTEFE7 80EZE.90E -

ER Ll EE 2 ER  AEECRAREREE
HRTZLREET  SRRBIREREER -

RBRAREERET - BAZEBEATHERE
% SEHEET SARBELREREBERMNEER

AR EHZBEARBI00TRHIBRER I IEERET
AEE - BEZEHHSOEERE - ARERER

#F  BRIRBEANBEEARAR - BiHEF - %
2, % 19h 7 7 R B A 158 PR TR B ) RO 8 A A Y A 4R

&K o

BREHZER BRI kBEARBAOEMERTI - B
—E-—F+-A=1+—8  FEBENEGERTE
FEHAMTE2HERENIINBELZER T i &
BT FIEARY108,316,000T(—E=—%F : AR
141,924,0007T) ° BEARE EAbtE IR E EFIEE S o

RZZE=Z—F+=-R=+—8  AE%¥1,800,0007TH
BTSRRI SRR A RIEEL » ZEE K
RBEBRITZHNREER MF FREE  ZE
EFNEIS0ERE - HE_F_—_F+_A=1+—H
LLFE - ZEFERETHEE
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28. Lease Liabilities

28. HHEAE

2022 2021
B8 —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFTT
Lease liabilities payable: ARATHREENEERE
Within one year —&FR 5,119 15,458
Within a period of more than one year —F LA F R THHAE
but not more than two years 3,877 4,678
Within a period of more than two years LA & LA 8 2R
but not more than five years 12,155 14,874
Within a period of more than five years A FRIEIRE 9,883 10,305
31,034 45,315
Less: Amount due within one year shown under B R—EREBTIHERE B B S
current liabilities (5,119) (15,458)
Amount shown under non-current liabilities FIEIERB B BN SR 25,915 29,857

The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range

from 4.9% to 6.12% (2021: from 5.7% to 6.12%).

Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:

(ZE=Z—F :57EF612E) °

S EE T E
ERBEHIINT

HEEABEEANEREREN F49ER612E

BRI ERHENT

2022 2021

—E- 8 —E_—%F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARETTT

HKD BT 485 209
29. Contract Liabilities 29. EHNAE

2022 2021

—EC-CHF T —F

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBTT ARBFT

Packaging paper products BEMNED 7,158 8,025

As at 1 January 2021, contract liabilities amounted to RMB 3,583,000. R-B-_—F—A—B AHABEARARKYK

3,583,0007T °
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BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HIFE
29. Contract Liabilities (Continued) 29. EHNEEW)
The amount of contract liabilities includes the revenue to be SRBESEBER THARASAERIZET
recognised and the related value-added tax. The contract liabilities HBEEREASBRRSHARRARTHRAEOEE ﬁ
balance varies in accordance with the number of contracts £ o Ti‘«%ﬂa’\z&ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁﬁaﬂﬁz)\;ﬂiﬂ*ﬁ%émﬁqé%’]
outstanding at the end of reporting period. The following table BE/ES °
shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current year
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.
Packaging
paper
products
BERER
RMB’000
ARETTT
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-—ZE-_—_F+=-A=t+—HLFE
Revenue recognised that was included FTRERRFEAIFI A G R B BEARN W
in the contract liability balance at the beginning
of the year 7,102
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-Z-—F+=-A=+—HLFE
Revenue recognised that was included ﬁﬁﬁ@uﬂﬁ’\i%ﬂ A B EERINK R
in the contract liability balance at the beginning
of the year 3,272
No revenue relates to performance obligations that were satisfied in HE_ T -_—_FR_FT-_—Ft+_A=+—HILM
prior periods for both years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. E 4 E I A 7 BB 1 B B B A TR B AV = 1548
7 o
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract AR AN B ESERBAT 2N — RGN
liabilities recognised are as follows: T
The Group requires a deposit on acceptance of orders from some ZK%.EK?*H:F%}E‘EﬁuTﬁE%QEIH&HTﬂﬁ o f£
of the customers. When the Group receives a deposit before the REERRMHEDEBERATWRGT2IER T
delivery of packaging paper products, this will give rise to contract H%@F’éé%"]%ﬁﬁﬁ%?im NaE BEEREBSOM
liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on ERAWABETE S5 -
the relevant contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z_—F+-A=+—HALFE

30. Amounts Due to Directors

0. ENESRIE

2022 2021
B8 —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT ARETTT
Consideration payables (note a) FERHRAE (P Ea) 91,140 =
Other amounts due to directors (note b) FEATEE FH A IR (i REb) 246 443
91,386 443
Less: Amount due within one year shown under B R—F AR HIERE A G
current liabilities B RR (46,746) (443)

Amount shown under non-current liabilities FIESERBI B BN T 44,640 -

Notes: iz :

(a) As at 31 December 2022, the consideration payables to four directors of the (a) MRZZEZ—F+-A=+—H stKEPLTEXHE
Company for the acquisition of Zhongshan City Zheng Ye Leasing Company EARAA(IEXBER D ENARAINAERHHK
Limited (“Zheng Ye Leasing"”), are secured by the Group's 51% equity {8 - UARKERERBEHS19%AE MR - fRF AR
interest in Zheng Ye Leasing, bearing interest of 4.65% per annum and 4.65%tBXM—F_=FE-_T - HFHREE - I
repayable from 2023 to 2025. Details of the acquisition are set out in note 35. FERF BRI EESS ©

(b) Other amounts due to directors are unsecured, interest free and repayable (b) FENERHAMFIRR R - B2 RIZEREER

on demand.

31. Deferred Taxation

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of MEEMBIRRKREI T =
EHEBEEE o LT RMEREN S RIETIRARR

financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been

31. ELERIE

offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for T

financial reporting purposes:

 BE

TIRERIAER

2022 2021

—ECCHF —E-—%F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBFIT
Deferred tax assets RIEFRIEE E (335) (11,223)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIB & E 6,087 8,737
5,752 (2,486)
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HE_Z-_—F+-A=1+—HILLFE

31. Deferred Taxation (Continued)

The following are the major deferred tax (assets) liabilities recognised

31. EERHIE (%)

A TEBRAFEMBEFECHEANEZRTNIA

and movements thereon during the current and prior years: (BE)BENMEES) :
Impairment
on
Provision Impairment Undistributed property,
Right-of- lease  Contract for  Deferred on Depreciation  profit of Unused Other plant and
useassets liabilities assets  inventories income  receivables differences subsidiaries  taxlosses  payables equipment Total
Jel WA ABAHE At 9% BER
GREEE HERE GHEE  FERR  EENN  EEE  FEEE  AOWER B ERTE  RERE &3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETR  ARBTT ARETR ARMTR ARETT ARMTR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR AR¥TR ARETR
At 1 January 2021 R=Z=-5-f-A 1215 (7.301) 589 2019) (5,554) (1,029 34719 5190 (920 8] (183) (478)
(Credit) charge for the year SR A (1.443) 1,374 (140) (39 (104) (178) m 815 920 5 (3,339) (2,008)
At 1 January 2022 KZ5ZZ5-F-A 5832 (5927) 49 (2,08) (5,658) (1.207) 35% 6,005 - - (3518) (2486)
(Credit) charge for the year ~ EMI(GTA) AR (3697 3744 (59) 2058 547 99 183 (4,005) - - 3518 8238
At 31 December 2022 RZEZ%
+=A=1-H 2135 (2183) 390 - (161) (208) 3719 2,000 - - - 5752

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of RMB345,715,000 (2021: RMB14,342,000) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of the unused tax losses of RMB345,715,000 (2021: RMB14,342,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The unrecognised
tax losses at the end of reporting period will be expired in the

RBERR  AEEBEADAFTEEBEBARE
345,715,000t (=ZE =—%F : AR¥14,342,0007T)
AR R AR T o AR 5 F R EE LA TR
B N LR A A IE B 18 A R 5 345,715,000 7T

—Z-—F : AR¥14,342,0007T) HERETELE

BBAEE - RWEHRNORDARBBEHRIAT

following years: FEHH
2022 2021
—E- 8 —E_—%F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTFT ARETTT
2024 —T U 2,570 2,570
2025 i S 1,986 1,986
2026 —ERE 9,786 9,786
2027 T F 331,373 -
345,715 14,342
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BE-Z_—F+-A=+—HALFE

31. Deferred Taxation (Continued) 31. EEHE )

RBEMR  AEEFUTHREREZEARE
68,522,0007T (=& = —F : A K % 16,282,000
BN AR BE S B R BL)E A (E2) A A F00R
BRNZREERSE - WERZS AR G Z50E
RIEEEHRIREE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of RMB68,522,000 (2021: RMB16,282,000). No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to such deductible TT) °
temporary differences as it is not probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilised.

RAERIET IE B FER BB A R R 2 K& FI4E
AR = RE AR A AR ¥813,131,0000( & = —

The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
undistributed earnings of the PRC subsidiaries for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised was RMB813,131,000 (2021: F o AR¥T767,171,00070) o BN 5 B BE 148 i) 8
RMB767,171,000). No deferred tax liabilities have been recognised BZEERZENER - BZSE28RN A RiEK
in respect of these differences because the Group is in a position to AIEE N B - I ERZ S EERRE

JERIE S
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and f& o
it is probable that such difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
32. Share Capital 32. gA
Number Nominal
of shares value
REE FEHE
HKD
BT
Ordinary shares of HKD0.10 each BREE0.108E TS ER
Authorised: AR
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, and RN—ZE—_—F—A—H ZZ=_—%
31 December 2022 tT-RA=t—BR=-ZE-—F
+=—A=+—H 1,000,000,000 100,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITREZ
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, and —E—F—A—B ZT=——F
31 December 2022 TZA=tT—HRZZE==F
+=ZA=+—H 500,000,000 50,000,000
RMB'000
ARETTT
Presented as at 31 December 2021 and 2022 R —FR=ZE-__F+-RA=+—HZJ 41,655
There were no changes in the Company’s authorised, issued and fully RRER - RRFEDETE - EBITRARKRAER

paid share capital during both years. & -
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33.

34.

35.

B+ A=t+—RALFE

Retirement Benefits Schemes

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control
of a trustee. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to
the scheme, which contribution is matched by employees but subject
to a maximum amount of HKD1,500 per month (2021: HKD1,500 per
month) for each employee.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the
PRC are members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the PRC government. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement
benefits schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the
specific contributions.

The total cost charged to income of RMB22,287,000 (2021:
RMB22,102,000) represents contributions payable to these schemes
by the Group in respect of the current accounting period.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had
no forfeited contributions under the retirement benefits schemes
utilised to reduce future contributions.

Deferred Income

In 2022, the Group received government subsidies of RMB794,000
(2021: RMB5,105,000) for the cost of constructions of its paper-
based packaging and packaging paper plant and the replacement
of machinery. The amount was treated as deferred income at 31
December 2022 and 2021. The amount is transferred to income
over the useful lives of the relevant assets and the amount
transferred to income during the current year is RMB12,110,000
(2021: RMB4,488,000). As at 31 December 2022, an amount of
RMB26,319,000 (2021: RMB37,635,000) remains to be amortised.

Acquisition of a Subsidiary

On 22 October 2021, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (as supplemented by a supplemental agreement date
13 December 2021) (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”) with
the equity owners of Zheng Ye Leasing, who are also four directors
of the Company, pursuant to which the Group has conditionally
agreed to acquire the entire equity interest in Zheng Ye Leasing at
an aggregate cash consideration of RMB186,000,000, payable by four
instalments from 2022 to 2025.

SHEL

34.

35.

BRI B
AEBAMAEEAAGERRERHIEATSS

Bl ZETEIMEERAEBMEESH  META
THZ EeEE - ALB RIESIREMABR5%
mZAEER BELERASEEES A1,5008 T
(ZZ=—%F : 1,500/7T) °

ARBTEMBARZEEDSTEBAMER L
BREARENAEBIZKE - HBRRIERERHE
T B AR KRBT B KA ETTHREEF) -
ASEIERAERIE 82 T 2 i — R ERRIBZE
SRR IEEHRK

IR AR IO B BRI A R #5 22,287 0007 (—F
——%F : AR#22,102,00070) iR EENA S H
st Lt st 8 RO 5K -

REBE_Z-_—Fr-_FT-_—F+-_A=+—HIt
FE  AEBEWEEMRAEFGEIE T2 20
FRAT AR IR AR PR N o

EZEWA
RZZTZ=—F  ANEEGEKRLOERBERR
5 A9 3 SR A 7N DA B 4 28 B SR B BT 7 B A R S
794,000t (=T =—4 : AR¥5,105,0007T) @ R
R FR R —F+Z A=+ —HREY
AGRER - WIRIARAE EMAIE A FHEREIA -
RAFEEEZRANESEAARE12,110,000 7T
(ZZT=——%F: AR¥4488,0007T) - MN-_T——
F+ZA=+—H " HABHENSHEAARE
26,319,0007T( = =—4%F : AR#37,635,0007T) °

W B M A A
R_EBE-_—F+A-+_—A AEFHRTFERAE
WRERB AL EE G ((BEEHR]) EAB
AT -_—F+-_A+=RAExHENHER)
Bt AEBBGAHREKREBEEREN 2R
1 BIEeNREBARK186,000000T r H=F
T CFE_TE_RAFHNHTA -
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35. Acquisition of a Subsidiary (Continued) 35. BB AR (®)
On 10 February 2022, all conditions precedent to the Sale and RZZEZ—F-_RA+H  ZZEERZZIMBLA
Purchase Agreement were fulfilled and the Group had completed BEHERENX  MASEESTRBEBEREEE - F
the acquisition of Zheng Ye Leasing. Zheng Ye Leasing became an ¥HEXNAALFEEEEHBAR - AREET
indirect owned subsidiary of the Company. The Group determined FriEREE(TEFERE RIReFEY) B A
that substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets (excluding cash DARBEAEFRE—AIBNEE - WRKBMTK
and cash equivalents) acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable BREBERBELT MEK —IHER W5 U
asset and concluded that the acquired set of assets and liabilities do W EECHK -
not constitute a business and the transaction is accounted for as an
asset acquisition.
Zheng Ye Leasing is engaged in real estate leasing and property FEHERTPENEEMERERNMESIE - 2K
management in the PRC. The acquisition can enhance the Group's BRIRAASENEEERR BN EBRER
asset base, help improve business financing and reduce the Group's ARG B BRI AR R B EE YRS ©
reliance on the assets of the controlling shareholders.
RMB'000
ARBFTT
Property, plant and equipment M - BB R 185,975
Other receivables o fEURIE 752
Bank balances and cash IRTTEEER IR ® 412
Other payables o fEATRUE (826)
Tax liabilities BIRRIE (313)
186,000
RMB'000
ARBTFTT
Consideration paid in cash AR e HRE 94,860
Less: bank balances and cash acquired A BEWEBIRITAER KIS (412)
94,448
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36. Capital Commitments 36. EAREE
2022 2021
—EoCF T —F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBTT ARBFTT
Capital expenditure in respect of acquisition of BEATRNEYE - BE KREERR
property, plant and equipment contracted for FE B RATIRBEN B AR
but not provided in the consolidated financial
statements 36,367 26,752
Commitment to acquire Zheng Ye Leasing W 1 370 & ) - 186,000
36,367 212,752
37. Pledge of Assets 37. EEEH

The following assets were pledged to secure certain banking and

other facilities granted to the Group at the end of the reporting

AT RRBEMRAEECEREE - FRETA

SEETRITREMRENER

period:
2022 2021
B8 —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFTT
Buildings and construction in progress BFERERETRE 267,888 95,813
Plant and machinery B R A AR 268,299 148,207
Leasehold lands HE i 101,820 106,428
Trade receivables not backed by bills BEBRRRENESHEKFIA 80,000 80,000
Trade receivables backed by bills NERREENE S I TIE 232,643 305,999
Pledged bank deposits EHEIFRITIFR 64,016 92,368
Inventories FE 140,482 111,262
1,155,148 940,077

In addition to the pledge of assets above, bank borrowings of
RMB5,553,000 (2021: RMB16,750,000) are secured by the bills issued
by group entities as at 31 December 2022. Amounts due to directors
of RMB91,140,000 (2021: nil) are secured by the Group's 51% equity

interest in a subsidiary.

BREXRZEEREEN R-FT__F+_H
=+—H R RITERARKES,553,000L(ZFE=—

1 AR¥16,750,0007T) LAE B E T

EREANR

BIEER - BNESHRIEAR91,140,0007T(==F
——F E)UEBR KBRS % AEE

EIR o
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38. Capital Risk Management 38. EXEBERE
The Group manages its capital to ensure the entities in the Group will REBEFEBERFERERAR 2 BHREFERERE
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return HES® MRAEEETEBEMSELE RN
to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity RRRFIMEAE R o NEBEEERIE T4
balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior BE .
year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which REENERNERBDEER (BENF27 FTHKED
includes bank borrowings and other borrowings as disclosed in IRITEREEMET) KRB RASEEYNU
note 27, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to NARRRIHEA AR (BRERGD kf#E) -
owners of the Company, comprising share capital and reserves.
The directors of the Company review the capital structure RARIEEGTE MR ERNER - ERBETR—
periodically. As part of the review, the directors consider the D BREERERKAREREERR - XEEE
cost of capital and the risks associated with the capital. Based on BEREEHBEER  BRRRNRE - BITHR - X
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall MREBETHEBNEERFEERTEEBEAR
capital structure through payment of dividends, new share issues as 1 o
well as the issue of the new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
39. Financial Instruments 9. €RITH
2022 2021
—EoCF T —F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETTT
Financial assets THEE
Amortised cost H SRR 1,130,407 1,391,393
Financial liabilities SEIE &
Amortised cost B 1,416,335 1,429,036
FVTPL BAnER AR 4,153 8,217
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and ARENIZSRTIABREE S RAMER
o e o N - D= S -
other receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank balances, trade Q{IE[&’E}E’E@E};E%\$§EE% ’fE _;ﬁ%
. FERTSRIE - FEfNESIE -« R
and other payables, amounts due to directors, bank and other AIEIETI AR s AR ﬁ* S
borrowingf, IZase liabilities and consideration payables. Details ﬁ%%}( i Tﬂ%%%%&ﬁ%ﬁﬁ{%;ﬁ%ﬁéﬁ%%
f these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes BT AMRBENEMIERE - RXSD
el Z e o BT ABHNERAETSER(SERRR
eris s associate v.wt t e.se inancia |r1.strumen‘Fs |-ncu e F=EEAR) EARBRESHESER - TX
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and HIMAREZERBHRE -  SEEeS
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are I8 R By e o DURR R - A RUhEE
set out below. The management manages and monitors these BUEE S o
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in
a timely and effective manner.
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39. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Market risk

The Group's activities expose primarily to the market risks of

changes in interest rates and currency rates.

There has been no significant change to the Group's exposure

to market risks or the manner in which it manages and

measures the risk.

(i)

Currency risk
The Group collects most of its revenue and incurs most
of the expenditures in RMB.

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated
in foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange
rate fluctuations arises. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposures
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency
denominated monetary assets (mainly including bank
balances and cash, and trade and other receivables) and
monetary liabilities (mainly including trade and other
payables, lease liabilities and bank borrowings) at the
reporting date are as follows:

. EMTHE®E)

B AR
A B LT EEATHERIMEER S
ETB R -

$%l7¥<xﬁ’]miﬁﬂ 2N HEE N EZE

(i)

BEVTTEBEEREE

EXmE
SEMAF WA R FIGUA RS
o

REEBETE T AINETHER R 5

bk RS2 B SR B R o 7S S [ B PR O A
ﬁl\%%ﬁ*ﬁﬁ A ERESE B
R YEEERUEREEHEAIN
P\

ANEBFRARE B EASMNESHEN EBE
E(ZERERITERRREUARES
REMEWFTIE) REEAE(EZERRE
m%&ﬁ‘rﬁlﬂ?ﬁmlﬁ HEBGEN KR
TEFOMEREENT

2022 2021
T F T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Assets EE
HKD BT 8,580 1,718
usD %7@ 438 635
GBP s 6 10
EUR BroT 286 760
Liabilities =R
HKD BT 27,283 17,379
usD E7T - 2,842
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39. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group mainly exposes to the currency of HKD
relative to RMB.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a
10% (2021: 10%) increase and decrease in RMB against
the relevant foreign currencies. 10% represents the
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end
of the reporting period for a 10% (2021: 10%) change in
foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates
an increase in post-tax profit where the RMB strengthens
10% (2021: 10%) against the relevant currency. For a 10%
weakening of RMB against the relevant currency, they
would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit and
balances below would be negative.

39. 2T A

miBmER (&)

() EEmE(E)
BURE DT
AREBET2ASETALARENERR -

TREFMAE R AR KABBINEE
EEFHRTERIOB(ZZEZ—F : 10%)
MBRRE - 10 KREEEHERNA
BB - MBESINERRE
REEHINEHESBIBE - YRS
Eﬂﬁiﬂz,\)ﬂﬁ‘l«x&@%[?ﬁ’ﬂo%(
T —F 10%) &8 - TNHEEKR
BQ%AEMME%E&%E%iﬂm%(:
T —F 10%) BN TR L& RTF
i‘ﬂu o fig AEREE 5 AR A SN 1 [ =155
10% @ RIS N XA | R A s A R &
MEERE -

2022 2021

—ECHF —T-—%F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T T AREET T
HKD BT

Profit or loss Ak &R 1,836 1,265
usD ETT

Profit or loss i 1) =X s 18 (44) 203
GBP B

Profit or loss Y 1) X s 18 (1 (1
EUR BT

Profit or loss Ak B R (29) (68)
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39. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due
to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate on
bank balances, bank and other borrowings which carry at
prevailing deposit interest rates and variable rate based
on the interest rates from HIBOR and loan prime rate, and
amounts due to directors which carry at loan prime rate.

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates primarily
to its fixed rate pledged bank deposits, bank and other
borrowings and lease liabilities. The Group currently does
not have any interest rate hedging policy to hedge its
exposure to interest rate risk. However, the management
will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note.

As listed in note 27, several of the Group’s HIBOR
bank borrowings have been subject to the interest rate
benchmark reform. The Group is closely monitoring the
market and managing the transition to new benchmark
interest rates, including announcements made by the
relevant IBOR regulators.

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
("HONIA") has been identified as an alternative to
HIBOR, there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The multi-
rate approach has been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby
HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist. The Group's bank
borrowings linked to HIBOR will continue till maturity and
hence, not subject to transition.

. EBMTH

()
B AR ()
() FIEES

R ERIT AR ER DA R SR 1T R E A B R (4R
BITEFN X RRBEBRITRZER S
R ERE BRI PR A T E o2 B 5t
BN RN EEHRIE(REFEEFR =
FTR)MIRITISFERE) - FEAS
EAASXBSREFERER o
REFENAAENEEABREIEFMETE
BEEMRITER - IRITREMETIA
RS EE o A5 B3R R A B (A
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39. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analysis on bank balances is not presented as
the management considers that the Group's exposure to
interest rate fluctuation is insignificant.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for the variable
rate bank and other borrowings at the end of the
reporting period and the stipulated change taking place
at the beginning of the financial year and held constant
throughout the year. A 100 basis points (2021: 100 basis
points) increase or decrease for variable rate bank and
other borrowings are used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel and
represent management'’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates in respect of bank and
other borrowings.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2021: 100
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group's post-tax profit for the year
ended 31 December 2022 would have decreased/
increased by RMB1,620,000 (2021: RMB1,351,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's maximum exposure to

credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due

to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is

arising from the carrying amounts of the respective recognised

financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit

enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its

financial assets except that the credit risks associated with

trade receivables is partially mitigated because settlement

of certain trade receivables are backed by bills issued by
reputable banks.

. ERT R

HBER ()
() FIEER
BEE D

BN ERERRAEEAS N E KR
BIK - RITEBOEREDMAES
5] o

TNINBRE ST TR BT S HIR AT B
SRAT Ne EL A £ RN 2R i A B A B
A R R B A5 E DA I R EE B SR AR
HEMEE - RAARAEEEEABRE
?ﬁﬂ“‘”’ﬂ Bex 5 & LA FHEK 10018 2538 (=
T —%F : 1001BEE) (3UF BR1T R
Eﬁﬁf%?f\ SIREE  NEBRAES
RIFHEIRTT R B A S R R H) & IR A B8
HE -

A= EF TREI0EEL(=F

——F 100EEE) - ﬁﬁﬁﬁ*ﬁﬁ@“
HHEFIE  AAEBHE-T ==
F+-RA=+— EILtEJ}ZE’JBﬁR&/@ﬂ
SR, 1IN A R#1,620,0007( = F
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39. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts
with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits
and credit approvals. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group uses an internal credit assessment system to assess the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed regularly.
The Group may require a deposit to be received from certain
customers of packaging paper products before acceptance of
orders. Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model on trade balances individually or based on provision
matrix. Trade receivables are assessed for ECL by categorising
into receivables fully backed by bank bills and not backed by
bank bills. Debtors with trade receivables backed by bank bills
are assessed individually taking into consideration of the credit
rating and reputation of the banks issuing the bills. The Group
assessed the ECL on trade receivables not backed by bank bills
and contract assets individually for debtors and contract assets
with significant balance or credit-impaired and/or collectively
based on provision matrix with appropriate groupings based
primarily on the debtors’ ageing profiles.

Pledged bank deposits/bank balances

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

Other receivables

Other receivables are assessed individually and not included
in provision matrix. The credit quality of other receivables have
been assessed with reference to the historical information
about the past due information, default rate, the financial
position of counterparties and also supportive forward-looking
information. The directors of the Company consider that
the credit risk of other receivables is low in view of the good
collection history.

. ERT R

FERBRRRERE(E)
BEFEIVAENELNE S EWAERER
BE
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EHEEERERUEBRBEHERET Y
B AESBETRER - BB EWFIAD R
REANRTRBEREENERTER/E
BETRBEEBENE - RRANURITE
BARBENEZEUGIA  IREREAR
BERITHERFRMEBRAB BT ZE
1IaHE - AEEHAFRBEABIEREER
ﬁﬁmﬂﬁ TEBRREBENE S RYGIER
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39. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Other receivables (Continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 37% (2021: 25%)
of total trade receivables represented amounts due from
the Group's largest three (2021: three) trade debtors as at 31
December 2022. The management is of the view that these
trade debtors of the Group have good trade record without
default history and consider that the trade receivable from
these customers is recoverable.

Other than those described above, the Group has no
significant concentration of credit risk.

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

. ERT R

FERBRRRERE(E)

E A JENW B ()
R-B_—_F+-_A=+—H A&EE=XK
BHEBA(CTE_—F: ZR)HAKEE
DIEYRIRMBREIT%(—F ——F : 25%) -
KAEEFESTEERR - ERERR
AEBWEZEE AR RIFNRXHOH -
WEEBHOESL  HbRARERZEREPHE
SIEYGRIAR U E

B btES  AEEWEEAETEERR

AEENATEER
ol

AR R BIEIA T A

Internal Trade receivables/ Other financial assets/

credit rating Description contract assets other items

REEETR it ESRUWHIE ARNEE HtbemEE HiER

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default or Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts credit-impaired

KRR R FERRENORRSOLE EIEE R EEEE - 12{E A B EE B E1E
A BEERE

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
but usually settle in full credit-impaired

BRAE BEREARTEHEIHE 2 REFR - BRFEHEE R EEEE - 128 ARG E R
HEREBERIE BEERE

Doubtful There have been significant increases in L|fet|me ECL - not Lifetime ECL — not
credit risk since initial recognition through credit-impaired credit-impaired
information developed internally or
external resources

RER BN B AR SIMNEE R B V)P R EEEE - HIREEEEE -
RUARIEE R BRAEZEIE N BEERE BEERE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — credit- Lifetime ECL — credit-
credit-impaired impaired impaired

B8 FRERTNEECHBREERE R EEEE - THIREEEEE -

EERE EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor ~ Amount is written off Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery

Hiss FREBETEBACMAREV BN - B WiHE R Wi

AEEWEEREWR@FIANKE
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39. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's
financial assets and contract assets, which are subject to ECL

39. €@ T A

FERBRKRERE(E)
TRAJAERRETEMEREEBFED
ERMEERSNEENEERR

assessment:
Internal
2022 Notes credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
128 A=
—E-CfF Mz ARBEETR EREERMR HEEREE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥BTRT AR¥TR
Pledged bank deposits 24 Low risk (note (i) 12m ECL 64,016 64,016
BRI VEEAGEIO) 1218 A e B E B &1E
Bank balances 24 Low risk (note (i) 12m ECL 279,825 279,825
RITHEER 1R B (B EE() 1218 A B EA R B &1E
Other receivables 21 Low risk (note (ii)) 12m ECL 39,442 39,442
H h fEUGRIE VERAGIE DY) 1218 A e EAE B &8
Trade receivables — contracts 21 Low risk (note (iii)) Lifetime ECL 252,216
with customers (collective assessment)
B ORWRIE-BFPEH VA D) > HTE B B 18 (88T
Low risk Lifetime ECL 499,645
(individual assessment)
{liwE 2 HiTE i B 18 (A RIETE )
Loss Credit-impaired 1,319 753,180
&8 EERE
Contract assets 23 Low risk (note (iii)) Lifetime ECL 9,377 9,377

BREE

B RV (P = Gi))

(individual assessment)

2 HBEMEEER(ERIFE)
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39. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

39. 2T A

FERBRRRERE(E)

Internal
2021 Notes credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
1218 A ﬁ’i%ﬁ
—T-—F MisE  AEMEER TEEEER HERHEE
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTFT AR®TT

Pledged bank deposits 24 Low risk (note (i) 12m ECL 92,368 92,368

EHEARIRITIER R B (P EE()) 12{E ATEEAE B R 1R

Bank balances 24 Low risk (note (i)) 12m ECL 229,540 229,540

RITAEER (L ACERD)) 12 ATEEAE B &R

Other receivables 21 Low risk (note (ii)) 12m ECL 18,763 18,763

HAh i U R IE VERA D) 12 ATEEE SRR

Trade receivables — contracts 21 Low risk (note (iii)) Lifetime ECL 336,045

with customers (collective assessment)
B HRWFIE—KXPai YA D)) > HTRHEE AR (RRATE)
Low risk Lifetime ECL 721,534
(individual assessment)
Ve 2 BRsE A= B & 1R (ME R FTE)
Loss Credit-impaired 1,319 1,058,898
g EERE
Contract assets 23 Low risk (note (iii)) Lifetime ECL 15,550 15,550
(individual assessment)

GRIEE R B (P (i) 2 HFE A E B 1R ([ RIFTE)

Notes B &E

(i) For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group (i) RADEERRERME AEBELXEEE
has made reference to the external credit rating for its major bank ZRITREBMINMEERTAR
balances.

(ii) For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses (i) HRAREERREEMNS - ASEERAHE
past due information to assess whether credit risk has increased BRHME BV BREEERR ST BELN -
significantly since initial recognition. As at 31 December 2022 and R-B_ R F_—F+-_A=+—8"
2021, the Group has no past due other receivables. ZNER [0 38 B L At R W FOE ©

(i)~ For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has applied (i) HMEIERBFERGHEEMNS  AEEER
the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance REBMBHREENESRNE LT AT E R E
at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with significant outstanding RHEEEENEEER - RAESEAKREE
balances, credit-impaired or trade receivables backed by bills, the Ber - HREEREINEBREENESE
Group determines the ECL on these items by using a provision matrix WORIR R BRI - ANEEERA Ll B R AR R FE
as mentioned above. EZEHENEREEES -
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39. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following table provides information about the exposure
to credit risk for trade receivables not backed by bank bills
which are assessed on a collective basis by using provision
matrix within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).

. ERT R

(S R AP ()
TRBHAMRIRT RS ARG E X R
FEIE T R TS BR (R RS R
RIE) R TR SRR ERR A
X o

Gross carrying amount ARIETAEE
2022 2021
ot St - 3 T —F
Average Trade Average Trade
loss rate  receivables loss rate receivables
FHEER BESRWEIE  PEEER EZREHE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETTT
0-60 days 0&60H 0.66% 244,709 0.66% 319,912
61-90 days 61290H 0.82% 3,544 0.95% 10,727
91-180 days 91£180H 1.04% 3,549 2.02% 5,292
Over 180 days HiB180H 100.00% 414 100.00% 114
252,216 336,045

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by the management to ensure relevant information
about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, a reversal of
allowance for credit losses of nil (2021: RMB395,000) was
made on credit-impaired debtors and an allowance for
credit losses of RMB4,036,000 (2021: RMB5,824,000) and a
reversal of allowance for credit losses of RMB 5,824,000 (2021:
RMB4,562,000) were made on the not credit-impaired debtors.

fERTE R R RIBES AR S B RER
BERENEMGG  RRBETCETLERA
HENMARBHAEEERMELAE - &
EEEHEESMA LAEE(%E%EE%@%EE
BAREEER -

REBEE-_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFE "
AREBERT EHREERENRERED (=
T AR¥3950007T) N5 E E18E
& URBYEEERENERIGTHRARE
4,036,000 (=T =—%F : AR¥5824,000

TLREEEIE%EE - WikE AREES,824,000
TT( T = —4F : 4,562,0007C) H{E EEIE%E
& o
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39. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that
has been recognised for trade receivables not backed by bills

39.

EMITE)

FERBRRRERE(E)
TRBEFREBEBCDEHERTREREE
ME SREIRERNEHRBEEER 2

under the simplified approach. EE o
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit- Total
impaired) impaired) amount
AN ZHAH
FEEBR FEEER
(BEERE) (EERE) BEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARBTFT
At 1 January 2021 R-_ZE-_—%F—AF—H 4,562 2,166 6,728
Changes due to financial instruments ~FEHZZT=—F—H—HE®ER
recognised as at 1 January 2021: ST AMmBEAERNE
— Impairment losses reversed — B OREEE (4,562) (395) (4,957)
— Write-offs — s = (452) (452)
New financial assets originated FLRAE S REE 5,824 = 5,824
At 31 December 2021 R-ZE-_—4%+—-A=+—~H 5,824 1,319 7,143
Changes due to financial instruments T _F-A—HE®R
recognised as at 1 January 2022: SR T AMmMEENE
— Impairment losses reversed — B EIREEE (5,824) = (5,824)
New financial assets originated g EA S REE 4,036 = 4,036
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-_—F+-A=+—H 4,036 1,319 5,355
The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is EHAMBERES ARG AREV EE 2RI

EERIEEREIE - gl SEHEACE
TERRDEARERF - HEHEEFR
BHEBME (RFRFHLE)  UAEKE
1% B 5 UGB - REBCDHEBKA
FREUARITE) - DAY B FRIE o

information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade
receivables are over two years past due, whichever occurs
earlier. The Group has taken legal action against the debtors
to recover the amount due.
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39. Financial Instruments (Continued) 39. &I A

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that
has been recognised for trade receivables backed by bank bills
under the simplified approach.

ERRB R AT (H)
TEBRREM LU AR (TR A E
B SRR AN BERE SR
£ -

Lifetime

ECL

(not credit-

impaired)

2HIFEE

FEEE

(BEERE)

RMB’000

AREETTT

At 1 January 2021 RZE=Z—F—H—H 327

Changes due to financial instruments recognised HEZZ=—F—A—HEHEReHTEMEBEAERNE
as at 1 January 2021:

— Impairment losses reversed — B ORESE (327)

New financial assets originated MLRESREE 762

At 31 December 2021 R-FB_—%+_A=t+—H 762
Changes due to financial instruments recognised HAZ=Z=—F—A—HE®HRESRMITAMBAENES

as at 1 January 2022:

— Impairment losses reversed — R EIRERSE (762)

New financial assets originated R SREE 454

At 31 December 2022 R-ZBEZ—F+-A=+—H 454

For trade receivables backed by bank bills, an impairment
allowance of RMB454,000 (2021: RMB762,000) has been
made by the directors of the Company after considering the
probability of default and taking into consideration of the
credit rating and reputation of the banks issuing the bills.

FURITRIBEARENE ZRKFIENS
KABIEBNE RELINA RN KT REBAT
ZEMNBTHEESHREEEZ  EHTA
R #6454 0007 (=T = —4F : AR%762,000
TO) MR B2 -
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39. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that

39. €@ T A

FERBRRRERE(E)
TRETREBEBCIEHARTRIERRE

has been recognised for trade receivables backed by other bills MBS ERRBRERANSHEREESEZ
under the simplified approach. EE o
Lifetime
ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
2HITEH
FEBR
(BEERE)
RMB'000
AREETTT
At 1 January 2021 RZE=Z—F—H—H 145
Changes due to financial instruments recognised B ZZ=—F—A—HE®Rem T AEMBEENZS) :
as at 1 January 2021:
— Impairment losses reversed — B mRERE (145)
New financial assets originated MLRESREE 169
At 31 December 2021 R-F_—F+_HA=+—H 169
Changes due to financial instruments recognised HAZ=Z=—F—A—HE®HRESRMITAMBAENES
as at 1 January 2022:
— Impairment losses reversed — B EIREEE (169)
New financial assets originated R SREE 121
At 31 December 2022 RZZEZ=F+=RA=+—H 121
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39. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The following table shows the movement in 12m ECL that has
been recognised for other receivables under the simplified

. EMTHE®E)

FERBRRRERE(E)
TRBRREBC 77 S H R UGB HERR
12 ATREEE IR 28 -

approach.
12m ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
1218 A
FEBR
(BEERE)
RMB'000
ARETTT
As at 1 January 2021 R-ZZE——F—H—H 181
Changes due to financial instruments recognised :2 —F-A—ABRATERMIAMBENZE) :
as at 1 January 2021:
— Impairment losses reversed — B ORESE (181)
New financial assets originated MLRESREE 143
At 31 December 2021 R-ZB-_—F+-A=+—8 143
Changes due to financial instruments recognised ~HAZ=Z=—F—A—HER T @M ITAMBEAENES
as at 1 January 2022:
— Impairment losses reversed — R EIRERSE (143)
New financial assets originated R SREE 141
At 31 December 2022 R-ZEZ_F+-_H=+—H 141
Liquidity risk REBESREE

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
The management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings.

The following table details the Group's contractual maturity for
its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the year
of the reporting period, taking into consideration interest rate
curve, if available.

EEERDECRRE - NREBEERER
ERERRATNRENBASEEY  UA
AEERNEEREES  WRERSRER
PBHTE - EREEERITEINERER

TRFVNAKESRABNANIHA - &
RIRBAEEAN TN REE A HREES AR
BENRBRBESRERS -

ZERBENERALHERE - WHIEAT
BFE - QRS ERB S NEF TR
HEGHRAIRBR(IE)) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE—T -+ -_A=1T—HIFE
39. Financial Instruments (Continued) . E@MI A
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESER(E)
Liquidity table B E B
Weighted On demand or Total
average less than 6 months Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 6 months to 1 year 1-5 years Syears  cash flows amounts
REXS A~MER KBRS
MELEHE  SRAER B-F it RENE nBER REE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT  ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETR  ARET:
2022 —EC-CE
Trade and other payables B HREAMENFHIE N/ATER 269,108 - - - 269,108 269,108
Amounts due to directors O EES 4.65 46,746 - 44,640 - 91,386 91,386
Bank borrowings RITEHR
—fixed rate —EL 3.89 539,540 122,561 132,109 11,353 805,563 781,031
—variable interest rate —28 5.72 10,947 26,798 - - 37,745 36,798
Lease liabilities HERRE 5.83 3,629 3,096 19,735 15,462 41,922 31,034
Other borrowings EfbfER
- fixed rate -8 4.00 108,512 - - - 108,512 108,316
- variable interest rate —#B 9.40 46,930 39,055 52,661 - 138,646 128,040
Consideration payables B 5.23 1,670 - - - 1,670 1,656
1,027,082 191,510 249,145 26,815 1,494,552 1,447,369
2021 ke S 3
Trade and other payables ELYEY N N/ARGER 233,857 = = = 233,857 233,857
Amounts due to directors EREETE N/ATER 43 - - - 443 43
Bank borrowings RITIRH
~fixed rate -8 425 645,256 151,740 65,520 37,514 900,030 873,907
—variable interest rate —%8 317 274 17,170 - - 17 444 17,170
Lease liabilities HERRE 583 9171 8,511 24,196 16,462 58,340 45315
Other borrowings HifER
- fixed rate -8 420 143,104 1816 - - 144,920 143,724
—variable interest rate -%8 10.56 46,560 46,560 80,068 = 173,188 156,653
Consideration payables EAREE 523 1,670 - 1,670 - 3,340 3,282
1,080,335 225,791 171,454 53,976 1,531,562 1,474,351
The amounts included above for variable interest rate W% BB B) A BRI S BRFTEE R EAT
instruments are subject to change if changes in variable interest Fl= - BIFFAERMZETIANSETES
rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at & o
the end of the reporting period.
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BE_Z-_—_#+-_A=1+—HIFE

39. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group's financial liabilities that are

measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group's financial liabilities are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation

39. €@ T A

BEEEEUNMABEHEZARESHMEE
ZANRE
AEENETEREENRSREHRRURL
EFfE - TREHRBBRUNEELXSEHEA
BENARENER(LERERNBETER
BARIR) - ARBIBAENFEREER

technique(s) and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair AREFEETHIB(E—REEF=F)NA
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are DERBREOER
categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the
fair value is observable.
Valuation Significant
Fair value as at Fair value technique(s) unobservable
31 December 2021 hierarchy & key inputs input(s) Sensitivity
R=B=-£+=8 fRAER AT R BEAFAER
=t+—-HWARE AREEBR EXBARE BARE BRE
Contingent RMB4,153,000 Level 3 (i) Discounted cash  Probability of The higher the probability of
consideration (2021: RMB8,217,000) flow model: payment 100%; payment, the higher the
payables The key input (2021: 100%) fair value of the derivative
are probability discount rate financial instrument; the
of payment for of 5.23% (2021: higher the discount rate,
the contingent 5.23%) the lower the fair value
consideration and of the derivative financial
discount rate instrument
RAENAE AR#4,153,0007T E=R ()ERRemER IAERA100% IABRES  TEeRT
(ZZ=—F: AR¥ A BRBARE (CE_—F: AMRARERR  BERE
8,217,0007T) RXNBARREN  100%) BRXS #F TESBTANA
R R = 58%(=ZFT=—  AEHE
1 5.23%)
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39. Financial Instruments (Continued) 39. &I A

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

Financial

liability at

FVTPL

BRARE

sABEH

SRIEE

RMB’000

AREET T

At 1 January 2021 WZZE—_—%—H—H 11,931
Fair value loss in profit or loss u‘l‘J\TEﬁnE'J//}/ BEE 556
Settlement e (4,270)
At 31 December 2021 RZE_—F+_A=+—H 8,217
Fair value loss in profit or loss Jr)\TEﬁﬁE'J’A/"D@JEETE 206
Settlement wE (4,270)
At 31 December 2022 R_ZE-_—_F+—-_A=+—H 4,153

Except for the contingent consideration payables, the fair value
of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

RENIAREZI  cREELRTREBE
NAREERIEMFREERESTIIRBR
quE*%EQEE °©

ARRIEFRBREE MR T IREIHKA
AENEREENSRABENRAERER
SMERE
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HE-_T-_—_F+-A-t+—HLEE

40. Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from Financing

Activities

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising

from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.

Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash

flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's

consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

40. BMEZBMELREEHK

(= 424

IREANREENRE RS FELRESE

- B

REeMIFREED - RETPMELRERRSR
BIRKASRENAEEGERSRERADR
RBERHIHERE °

activities.
Amount
due to
anon-
Bank Other Lease Interest Dividend  controlling
borrowings  borrowings liabilities payables payable interest Total
BT ER
RITER Hfbfak HELRE BRI EfRE BEHE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT  AR%TE  ARBTr ARETT  ARETR  AR%TR  ARET:
At 1 January 2021 it s Rl 848,076 263,267 45,224 - - - 1,156,567
Financing cash flows HEBRSNE 512,802 17,154 (19,407) (58,017) (15,000 900) 436,632
Foreign exchange translation fpE i i (930) - - - - - (930)
Interest expense MEX S S 4,016 58,017 - - 62,033
Dividend RE - - - - 15,000 900 15,900
Gross amount of bills from external EEFEH K& ERIEL
customers discounted with IBEFEKEEES
recourse - 173470 - - - - 173470
Non-cash settlement of BRRRNEE
discounted bills FRERE (468,871) (153,514) - - - - (622,385)
New lease L = = 15,482 = = = 15,482
At 31 December 2021 RZZEZ-%+-A=1+—-A 891,077 300,377 45315 - - - 1,236,769
Financing cash flows BERSNE 283,526 (30,414) (12,681) (57,212) (45,000) (3,000 135,219
Foreign exchange translation INE 1 (1,928) - - - - = (1,928)
Interest expense FIEXH = = 2138 51,212 = = 59,350
Dividend BRE - - - - 45,000 3,000 48,000
Gross amount of bills from external E B33 R M8 RiE
customers discounted with IEEFPRYFEEE
recourse = 286,858 = = = = 286,858
Non-cash settlement of BERENZEE L
discounted bills FROEE (354,846) (320,465) - - - - (675,311)
New lease GEIE - - 1829 - - - 1829
Derecogpnition on acquisition of B FERRUEERB A 7]
a subsidiary = = (5,567) = = = (5,567)
At 31 December 2022 Sy gy e el = 817,829 236,35 31,034 - - - 1,085,219
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41. Related Parties Transactions 41. BABAERS
Name Relationship
=L 2LES
Zheng Ye Leasing (note) Controlled by the controlling shareholders of the Company
EEME (H5E) AR A B AR A ER 4 il

Note: Zheng Ye Leasing has been acquired by the Group on 10 February
2022 and was no longer a related party of the Group.

During the year, the Group entered into the following
transactions with related parties:

Mz REE-—F-A+A - EXHEEERAEH
Wi BT B AR EENEE T

WA - AREREBHATIATRS

2022 2021
—E-—F T —4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREETIT

Zheng Ye Leasing EXMEE
— Interest on lease liabilities —HESEF B 33 595
— Lease liabilities —HEaRE - 6,795
Directors of the Company RABIES
— Interest on amounts due to directors —ENEERERNE 5,470 =
— Consideration paid —BRRE 94,860 -

Rental deposit of RMB450,000 paid to Zheng Ye Leasing
has been included in trade and other receivables in the

consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December
2021.

Amounts due to directors are disclosed on note 30.

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

BN EEEEMARELS0,000HEREE
HFARZE_—F+-_A=+—RAKRE0UH%
RRRFNE S R EA RIS o

FENEFEFIARHIEI0RKEE ©

EERAMEZEERREK SN FE A B0
T

2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-_—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBETTT

Salaries and other benefits e REMEF 20,745 29,099

Retirement benefits schemes contributions RIRFEFIETBI R 447 377

21,192 29,476

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited 172 Annual Report 2022
TFXBIBRERAMRAR] T HER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

“‘/T\

A B R Y 5

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HIFE
41. Related Parties Transactions (Continued) 41. BEARS 8
The remuneration of directors and key executives is BEENFTETBRAENTHEEHZESK
determined by the remuneration committee having regard to ZEEARBRETISBIAEET
the performance of individuals and market trends.
42. Share-based Payment Transactions 42. B BERNERS
On 23 April 2019, an employees’ share award scheme (“the RAFR-_ZE—HNENA-_+=AEMN—EEER
Scheme”) was adopted by the Company which will remain in force RN EI([ZEHE ) - BIEZETE - KAAFEIR
for 10 years. Pursuant to the Scheme, the Company would subsidise HIHESL  AXTIABETERSIETDRITR
some employees of the Group (the “Selected Participants”) a B EUmAEETAEEES (BESHE]|) - &
portion of funds to purchase issued shares of the Company by a EZ-FE—-NESNA=+/58 BEEBAE4,214,000
trustee through market transactions. Up to 26 June 2019, a total of BARANBIRHOTEEFRERESE - BHE-_T—A
4,214,000 shares of the Company had been purchased and vested to g4+ )E] +—HILEE  AEEGREYZEEN
the Selected Participants. The Group recognised the total expense MR BT H ARK,467,0007T c BE—E=-—
of RMB1,467,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019 in relation ER—F-——F+-—A=+—BHIFE  HERE
to its contribution in the Scheme. For the year ended 31 December 2RI EE R LR - NERRITMER -
2022 and 2021, no employee was awarded under the Scheme and no
expense was recognised.
43. Particulars of Subsidiaries of the Company 43. XD FIMB A T FE
Place of Proportion ownership Proportion of
incorporation/ Paid up issued/ Class of interest held by voting power held
Name of subsidiary registration/operations registered capital shares hold the Company by the Company Principal activities
HRRL/ Bigf/ ARTERN ARIREN
il P i/ e Eh Y A HERRER ite], 130 FERRRILZ IERH
At 31 December At 31 December
Rt=A=t-R Mt=A=1-A
2022 2021 2022 2021
g T IR CBRof
TYAZ International Limited British Virgin Islands Authorised USD50,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
("Zheng Ye (BVI)') ("the BVI") Paid USD20,000*
ZRRNHS EES0000ET R AR
([REELEE)) BH0 0%
Zheng Ye Intemnational Company Hong Kong HKD10,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited
EXERERAT B 10,0007 70 R RERR
Shing Yip (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HKD322,384,575 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Investment Enterprises Limited
R (B RARXERAA Bk 302,304 51587 D BRI
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HE—

E-_F+-RA=+—RHIFE

43. Particulars of Subsidiaries of the Company (Continued)

43. XA TMBABNFER &)

Place of Proportion ownership Proportion of
incorporation/ Paid up issued/ Class of interest held by voting power held
Name of subsidiary registration/operations registered capital shares hold the Company by the Company Principal activities
AV B#Rf/ ARTREN ALNREEN
i) PR it/ e EhY iR SERGES et E fERERLE IERE
At 31 December At 31 December
Rt=A=t+-A RT=A=t-H
2022 2021 2022 201
“E-CE C-E--F CZBCCE -I--F
Zheng Ye Packaging (Zhongshan) ~ The PRC HKD156,211,400 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited operating of paper-
based packaging
products, packaging
related business and
printing of decorative
packaging products
EREE(RIL)ARAR P 156,211 40070 HiEk ﬁ& IRERARER
BREBRERAREE
%i%fﬂﬁ‘h“u
Zhongshan Yong Fa Paper Industry  The PRC HKD106,500,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Manufacturing and sale of
Company Limited paper and paperboard
PULKEARRRAT PE 106,500,000787C HiEk EENHEASR
Zhuhai Zheng Ye Packing Company ~ The PRC RMB52,164,718.50 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Manufacturing and sale of
Limited paper-based packaging
products and related
packaging service
HELEERERAT PE ARBS 147850 EBR EENBEARERERR
R
Shijiazhuang Zheng Ye Packaging ~ The PRC RMB20,000,000 Ordinary N/A 100% N/A 100%  Deregistered during the
Company Limited TER TER year
RFREZBEARAT P ARA20,0000007 Hak FADEH
Wuhan Zheng Ye Alliance Packaging  The PRC RMB35,000,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Manufacturing and sale of
Company Limited paper-based packaging
products and printing
of decorative packaging
products
REFXBARRARAA hE ARH35,000,0007 Eak TENHESRBRERR
DplEEEfm
Zhongshan Rengo Hung Hing Paper  The PRC USD53,660,000 Ordinary 58.7% 58.7% 58.7% 587%  Manufacturing and sale of
Manufacturing Company Limited paper and paperboard
("Hung Hing")
hillaRRESARAR(RR]) P 53,660000%7 TR EENEEANGR
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43. Particulars of Subsidiaries of the Company (Continued) 43. N2 TME LD T HFE @)

Place of Proportion ownership Proportion of
incorporation/ Paid up issued/ Class of interest held by voting power held
Name of subsidiary registration/operations registered capital shares hold the Company by the Company Principal activities
AV B#Rf/ ARTREN ALNREEN
i) PR it/ e EhY iR SERGES et E fERERLE IERE
At 31 December At 31 December

Rt=A=t-8 Rt=A=1-A
2022 2021 2022 2021
“E-CE C-E--F CZBCCE -I--F

Zhengyi The PRC RMB89,000,000 Ordinary 80% 80% 80% 80%  Manufacturing and sale of
paper and paperboard
TR REREERRAR hE AER89,0000007C LAk EENEEANGR
Zhongshan Lianfa Transportation e PRC RIMB5,000,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Transportation
Company Limited
PR ERARAA P ARHS5,0000007C HE &5
Zhongshan Zhengye Transportation  The PRC RMB3,000,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Transportation
Company Limited
B HESEERAA G NRE3 0000007 LR &
Gaoan Guangyong Logistics Company The PRC RMB3,000,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Transportation
Limited
BREXMRARAA hE ARH3,0000007T Eak Eh
Gaoan Guangzheng Transportation  The PRC RMBB50,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Transportation
Company Limited
RXREESARLA P ARRE500007T el L]
Zhongshan Yongfa Zhizao The PRC Registered capital: Ordinary 100%  N/ATER 100% NATNEA  Manufacturing and sale of
Company Limited RIMB45,000,000, paper and paperboard
Paid up capital: RMB nil EENHELNSR
PILAEEERRAT i Afas: LRk
ABRH45,000 0007
E4ER: \RBEL
Zheng Ye Leasing The PRC RMB1,000,000 Ordinary 100%  NATER 51% NANER  Properties leasing and
management
PFTEREEARAT i ABH1,000,0007C LRk MEBEERER
G Except for Zheng Ye (BVI), all other companies are indirectly held by the * %Zheng Ye (BVISI » PRI HA R RIMNE BEITRAHE
Company. R - WAARREERE
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the RE R FREARRE - B QR EEARER
end of the year or at any time during the year. BfEHES -
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44. Details of Non-wholly Owned Subsidiaries that 44. MEERFERESZZFZEMB AT
have Material Non-Controlling Interests 15
Place of registration Proportion of ownership
Name of and principal interests held by Profit allocated to Accumulated
subsidiary place of business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
WERARER AR EEEEGY FRRER TR RARELD) DEFERER 2 RR it REER
31/12/2022 31/12/2001 31/12/2022 31/12/2021 31/12/2022 31/12/2021
—E-CE B —E-CE “E--F —E-CE “E--F
t=A=+-A +ZA=t-B +=A=+-B tZA=t-8B +=A=t-B +zA=1-A
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTR ARBTT ARETT ARBTT
Hung Hing Zhongshan, the PRC
BE R 41.3% 41.3% 19,668 42165 265,157 245489
Zhengyi Yudu, the PRC
Lk T #5% 20.0% 200% 1,769 5272 23,710 24,941
21,437 47437 288,867 270,430
2022 2021
—E-CF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT ARETT
Current assets MEEE 327,726 343,627
Non-current assets ERBEE 399,613 422314
Current liabilities Pk IN=NE (68,045) (147,770)
Non-current liabilities FRERE (17,269) (23,766)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RNABER AL ER 376,868 348,916
Non-controlling interests of Hung Hing REEE 2l g 265,157 245,489
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44. Details of Non-wholly Owned Subsidiaries that 44. MEERFERESZZFZEMB AT
have Material Non-Controlling Interests (Continued) E3E)

Hung Hing (Continued)

TREL ()

2022 2021
B8 —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREETTT
Revenue A 1,105,835 1,173,391
Expenses X (1,058,215) (1,071,296)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 4 i | 2 2 HE Uk es 47,620 102,095
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable 782 B#EA A &L @ ) &
to owners of the Company 2 HEWEERE 27,952 59,930
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable 58 7 FE15 I8 e 2 FE A 4 ) &2
to the non-controlling interests of Hung Hing FHE AR 19,668 42,165
Net cash inflows from operating activities REEBRAR S FHE 16,635 53,271
Net cash (used in) from investing activities REER(FTR)FBE e F5 (11,421) 58,350
Net cash used in financing activities BT AR SR (35,687) (36,343)
Net cash (outflows) inflow ORE)RABR 2T (30,473) 75,278
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44. Details of Non-wholly Owned Subsidiaries that 44. MEERFERESZZFZEMB AT
have Material Non-Controlling Interests (Continued) E3C)
Zhengyi E=
2022 2021
B8 —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥T T AREET T

Current assets MENEEE 91,170 83,203
Non-current assets FERBEE 148,413 138,422
Current liabilities mENRE (85,688) (82,693)
Non-current liabilities ERBALE (35,343) (14,229)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ZN/NEIE7 ZE PN (EE s 2oy 94,842 99,762
Non-controlling interests of Zhengyi Nkl £ 23,710 24,941
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44. Details of Non-wholly Owned Subsidiaries that 44.

BAEERFERESZFZENBAT

have Material Non-Controlling Interests (Continued) E3C)
Zhengyi (Continued) EREE)
2022 2021
B8 —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREETTT
Revenue A 394,473 285,302
Expenses A (385,626) (258,946)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 4 i | 2 2 HE Uk es 8,847 26,356
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable N2 F#EA A &G & F) & 2 =858
to owners of the Company 7,078 21,084
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable TF {82 FEVEARME & FE(G 5 F) 2 2 W 2= 4858
to the non-controlling interests of Zhengyi 1,769 5,272
Net cash inflows from operating activities REEBRAR S FHE 22,268 13,526
Net cash used in investing activities REXBAAR S FHE (18,157) (22,87¢6)
Net cash used in financing activities BT AR SR (2,959) (11,491)
Net cash inflows (outflows) RACRE) IR F5 1,152 (20,841)
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45. Statement of Financial Position of the Company 45. KR [ G BHAMRK

2022 2021
—EC —E-—4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREET T

Non-current Assets FRBEE
Unlisted investment in a subsidiary R—RIELMHBRRIEIEE 230,979 230,979
Amounts due from subsidiaries e N EUNEIE O 18,141 16,546
249,120 247,525

Current Assets REBEE
Other receivables HAtb EUGRIE 339 435
Bank balances and cash IRITEBR LIRS 1,474 160
1,813 595
Current Liabilities REBARE

Other payables o fERTRUE 295 140
Net Current Assets REBEEZRE 1,518 455
Total Assets less Current Liabilities EEABRARBERS 250,638 247,980

Capital and Reserves EXRR B
Share capital fig s 41,655 41,655
Share premium and reserves %17 Ve 1B I b A 195,534 190,666
Total Equity A 237,189 232,321

Non-current Liabilities kRBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN NG E R 13,449 15,659
250,638 247,980
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45. Statement of Financial Position of the Company

(Continued)

KRB BARRE (@)

Share Merger Retained

premium reserves profits Total

RAEE EOHREE A et

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT

At 1 January 2021 RZZE=Z—F—H—H 92,968 97,559 16,085 206,612
Loss and total comprehensive FABEREER B

expense for the year = = (946) (946)

Dividend paid EAIARE = = (15,000) (15,000)

At 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+=ZA=+—H 92,968 97,559 139 190,666
Profit and total comprehensive FABEREERA B

expense for the year - - 49,868 49,868

Dividend paid BEARE = = (45,000) (45,000)

At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+=ZA=+—H 92,968 97,559 5,007 195,534
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Consolidated Results

mERE

For the year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—HLEE

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—F-N\E —FNF —F-FTF T —B--F
RMB‘000 RMB‘000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T AREET T AREET T AREET T AR¥T T
Revenue A 2,848,016 2,367,151 2,493,041 3,558,009 3,013,957
Profit before tax BR A% A& F 154,014 119,180 64,931 237,316 76,867
Income tax expense FRiSHif 2 (23,301) (18,152) (2,371) (29,038) (8,263)
Profit for the year FRFER 130,713 101,028 62,560 208,278 68,604
Attributable to: AT AL -

the owners of the Company Zi/NEIE PN 109,358 82,184 54,772 160,841 47,167
non-controlling interests JEFE AR 2 21,355 18,844 7,788 47,437 21,437
130,713 101,028 62,560 208,278 68,604

Consolidated Assets and Liabilities HeEBEERAEE

At 31 December
R+t=A=+—H

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—T)N\F —T-hFE —T-TFE —T-—F —BI=F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREBTT ARBT T AR¥T T
Total assets EEEE 2,557,823 2,424,551 2,682,775 3,033,928 2,983,663
Total liabilities BEHEE (1,484,444) (1,300,144) (1,493,201) (1,651,976)  (1,581,107)
Net assets EESE 1,073,379 1,124,407 1,189,574 1,381,952 1,402,556
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